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Our Values

One team shared values

We treat people how we would like to be treated 

•	 We listen to our patients and to our colleagues, we always treat them with dignity  
and we respect their views and opinions

•	 We are always polite, honest and friendly 

•	 We are here to help and we make sure that our patients and colleagues feel valued

We do what we say we are going to do 

•	 When we talk to patients and their relatives we are clear about what is happening

•	 When we talk to colleagues we are clear about what is expected.

•	 We make the time to care

•	 If we cannot do something, we will explain why 

We focus on what matters most 
•	 We talk to patients, the public and colleagues about what matters most to them  

and we do not assume that we know best.

•	 We do not put off making difficult decisions if they are the right decisions

•	 We use money and resources responsibly 

We are passionate and creative in our work
•	 We encourage and value other people’s ideas

•	 We seek inventive solutions to problems

•	 We recognise people’s achievements and celebrate success 

We are one team and we are best when we work together 

•	 We are professional at all times 

•	 We set common goals and we take responsibility for our part in achieving them

•	 We give clear feedback and make sure that we communicate with one another effectively

University Hospitals of Leicester
NHS Trust
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Welcome from the Chairman and Chief Executive 

We are delighted to present our Annual Report and Accounts for the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS 
Trust (Leicester’s Hospitals) for 2018/19. 

It is our belief that we are at a pivotal stage in the development of the Trust.  Over recent years, we have 
seen significant improvement in many areas, including harm reduction, mortality rates and patient 
satisfaction, whilst other required improvements have either eluded us entirely or not been sustained.  The 
Trust Board has given this considerable thought and has sought explicitly to learn from similar scale 
organisations which have a stronger overall track record.  The result of this work is our new Quality Strategy 
–“Becoming the Best”.  Becoming the Best will help us to achieve our aim of delivering caring at its best for 
every patient, every time. 

This strategy, which has been contributed to by many people in the organisation and has been heavily 
influenced by improvement resources developed by external bodies such as the Care Quality Commission 
and NHS Improvement, contains the detail of how we will go about sustained, comprehensive quality 
improvement over the coming years, including addressing the key issues of culture and leadership.  Through 
Becoming the Best, we are confident that we will be able to achieve more consistent results and take the 
Trust from “Requires Improvement” to “Outstanding”.  The full strategy is available on our website.   

One of the things that we have already improved is our winter planning.  Following a very difficult winter in 
2017/18, we planned more carefully and opened more capacity for 2018/19.  Despite increases in all 
categories of patient activity, we were able to maintain elective care and achieve the required national 
targets in that regard.  Emergency care performance remained challenged, but even here our relative 
performance improved significantly.   There is more detail on this and other performance measures in the 
Performance Report section, and more detail on our performance against key quality measures in our Quality 
Account. 

During 2018/19 we have seen significant progress against our ‘eHospital’ programme aimed at reducing our 
reliance on paper records and enabling our staff to work more effectively and efficiently with better systems 
and equipment.  We have introduced new systems and begun a process of updating old PCs and laptops with 
new ones; over 2500 devices have so far been replaced.  We expect to see this progress further during the 
coming year, bringing real benefits to our staff and patients. 

We could not write our introduction without mentioning the financial challenge we have faced this year.  In 
our original forecast at the start of the year we predicted that we would end the year with a surplus of 
£0.7m.  Halfway through the year we looked again at our finances and compared them to our original plan 
which resulted in a reforecast, and ultimately a year end deficit of £41.8m.  The lion’s share of that 
deterioration in our finances relates to the cancellation of our original plan to create a wholly owned NHS 
subsidiary company to run our estates and facilities services, which would have delivered £22m of cash 
savings.  In addition, a further £9m relates to the excess cost of delivering emergency services to our 
patients, in what has been an extremely busy year and we were not eligible to receive £12m of sustainability 
funding from central government as a result of not delivering our overall financial target. 

We have ended the year with our senior clinical and management teams working hard to think of additional 
ways of saving money whilst ensuring that we maintain clinical quality and safety for our patients.  This has 
resulted in the successful achievement of our revised forecast, a key requirement of our regulator, but this is 
nonetheless a disappointing performance.  We are pleased to report, however, that changes to the national 
funding and contracting approach for 2019/20 look favourable and as such we are confident that, assisted by 
an improved approach to efficiency and productivity, we will achieve a much better result in 2019/20. 

There have been some changes to our Trust Board this year.  We welcomed Rebecca Brown as our new Chief 
Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Executive, Carolyn Fox our new Chief Nurse.  Hazel Wyton was appointed 
as our Director of Workforce and OD and will be a regular Trust Board attendee.  This year has also seen the 
re-appointment of our Chair and Deputy Chairman and the appointment of a new Non-Executive Director, 
Kiran Jenkins, following the departure of Richard Moore.  The Board has also recently agreed to invite Darryn 
Kerr, Director of Estates and Facilities, and Andy Carruthers, Acting Chief Information Officer to attend all 
future Trust Board meetings (from March 2019). 
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We wanted to make a special mention of the tragic and sudden loss of one of our biggest supporters, Vichai 
Srivaddhanaprabha.  Vichai was a very special individual, not only with his involvement with the football club, 
but he made a real effort to engage with fans and the community of Leicester – which was evident with the 
outpouring of emotion across the city and beyond in the weeks following his death. 

We have a very close relationship with the football club and the chairman was always incredibly supportive.  
We remain extremely grateful for the very generous donation he made towards our new children’s hospital.  
He certainly knew how to make the impossible possible, and has left behind a legacy which we are 
committed to keeping alive through our partnership with the club. 

As referenced in the opening of this introduction, our main focus for 2019/20 will be on implementing 
“Becoming the Best” and the twelve key priorities we have identified for the year. 

The priorities included further development of our estate:  We will progress work on the expansion of our 
Intensive Care Unit at Glenfield Hospital (creating an additional 11 beds) so we can better treat those 
patients who need life-saving care, building three new surgical wards for Hepato-biliary and Transplant 
services and creating a new Interventional Radiology department, all at Glenfield.  At the Royal Infirmary we 
are refurbishing three of our existing wards, creating a new ambulatory and emergency General Surgery Unit 
and colorectal ward which will improve the environment and experience for our patients and staff.  We are 
also expecting NHS Improvement to undertake our first “Use of Resources” inspection, and towards the end 
of the summer we expect the Care Quality Commission to inspect a range of our clinical services and carry 
out a further “Well Led” inspection. 

Finally, we could not end our introduction to this without giving our sincere thanks to the many people and 
organisations that support our work.  To the hundreds of volunteers who give their time freely, every day, to 
help our patients and visitors; to the Patient Partners who act as critical friends to us and offer advice on our 
ideas; and to bodies such as Healthwatch, local Clinical Commissioning Groups, Local Authority partners, and 
GPs for their continued help and support. 

Most of all, our unreserved thanks, on behalf of the whole Trust Board, must go to our staff.  This past year 
has seen many challenges and pressures, but when we walk our wards, departments and corridors we are 
met with smiles and hear stories of people going above and beyond for our patients and their colleagues.  
We really appreciate their dedication to our organisation.  We thank them for their on-going commitment to 
make things better, and we revere them for everything they do day in, day out to provide the best service 
that they can. 

     

Karamjit Singh CBE, Chairman              John Adler, Chief Executive 

 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

4 

About Leicester’s Hospitals 
Our patients are the most important thing to us and we are constantly striving to improve the care they 
receive, through looking at the ways we work, ensuring our staff are highly trained and encouraging 
research which allows us to offer our patients the latest technologies, techniques and medicines – and 
attract and retain our enviable team of more than 16,000 highly skilled staff. 

Based in the heart of Leicester, we are one of the biggest and busiest NHS Trusts in the country, serving the 
one million residents of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland – and our specialist services serve another two 
to three million patients from areas across the rest of the country. 

Our nationally and internationally-renowned specialist treatment and services in cardio-respiratory diseases, 
ECMO, cancer and renal disorders reach a further two to three million patients from the rest of the country. 

We run three city hospitals, the Glenfield, General and Royal Infirmary, which is home to our Children’s 
Hospital.   

Having a role in the development of the next generation of clinical staff is important to us so we work closely 
with partners at the University of Leicester and De Montfort University to provide world-class teaching to 
nurture and develop future doctors, nurses and other healthcare professionals, many of whom go on to 
spend their working lives with us. 

We continue to work with many different organisations across the globe to push the boundaries of research 
and new surgical procedures for the benefit of our patients, with around 1,000 clinical trials taking place 
every year.  We host an NIHR Biomedical Research Centre which supports key research into cardiovascular 
and respiratory disease, lifestyle and diabetes.  We also host an NIHR Clinical Research Facility, which 
supports early phase clinical trials.  Our Research Space has a new dedicated children’s research facility 
catering for our youngest research participants.  We are extremely proud that we have an Experimental 
Cancer Medicine Centre, and our HOPE facility is an instrumental factor in delivering clinical trials of new 
cancer treatments, generously supported by the locally-based charity Hope Against Cancer.  We are helping 
to pave the way for a new era of personalised medicine for our patients by participating in the 100,000 
Genomes Project.  All of this means that thousands of our patients are amongst the first to be offered the 
latest medicines and treatments.  

Our heart centre at the Glenfield hospital continues to lead the way in developing new and innovative 
research and techniques and has become one of the world’s busiest ECMO (extra corporeal membrane 
oxygenation) centres and the only hospital in the UK to provide ECMO therapy for both adults and children.  
Our vascular services are nationally renowned, with more patients surviving longer after following an 
aneurysm repair (to fix a life threatening bulge in a blood vessel).   

Our purpose is to provide ‘Caring at its best’ for every patient every time.  To support this we have a set of 
values, created by our staff, that are ten years old this year.  We believe that these values embody who we 
are and what we are here to do.  They are: 

 We focus on what matters most 

 We treat others how we would like to be treated 

 We are passionate and creative in our work 

 We do what we say we are going to do 

 We are one team and we are best when we work together 

Our patients are at the heart of all we do and we believe that ‘Caring at its Best’ is not just about the 
treatments and services we provide, but about giving our patients the best possible experience. That is why 
we are proud to be part of the NHS and we are proud to be Leicester’s Hospitals.
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Our values and the NHS Constitution 
We created our values with staff over five years ago and made sure that they were in line with, and 
supported, the NHS Constitution, which was put in place by the Government on 1 April 2010.  This diagram 
shows how our values map to the NHS Constitution. 

 
The NHS Constitution establishes the principles and values of the NHS in England. It sets out rights to which 
patients, public and staff are entitled, and pledges which the NHS is committed to achieve, together with 
responsibilities which the public, patients and staff owe to one another to ensure that the NHS operates 
fairly and effectively. All NHS bodies and private and third sector providers supplying NHS services are 
required by law to take account of this Constitution in their decisions and actions. 

The Constitution will be renewed every ten years, with the involvement of the public, patients and staff. It is 
accompanied by the Handbook to the NHS Constitution (www.gov.uk/government/news/nhs-constitution-
and-handbook-updated) that is renewed at least every three years, setting out current guidance on the 
rights, pledges, duties and responsibilities established by the Constitution.  These requirements for renewal 
are legally binding. They guarantee that the principles and values which underpin the NHS are subject to 
regular review and recommitment; and that any government which seeks to alter the principles or values of 
the NHS, or the rights, pledges, duties and responsibilities set out in this Constitution, will have to engage in a 
full and transparent debate with the public, patients and staff. 

There have since been a number of amendments and updates to the constitution.  The latest version can be 
found on the gov.uk website. 

Here at Leicester’s Hospitals we will always endeavour to make sure that we live up to the pledges set out in 
the Constitution.  We will ensure that we ‘live our values’ and create an environment where those who do 
not can be challenged to ensure that we provide better care. 
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The Accountability Report 
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The Directors Report 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

9 

 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

10 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

11 

What is a Non-Executive Director? 

The role of Non-Executive Directors is different to that of an Executive Director.  They do not have 
responsibility for the day to day management of the Trust but share the Board’s corporate responsibility for 
ensuring that the Trust is run efficiently, economically and effectively.  They will scrutinise the executive 
management’s performance in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of 
performance.  They must satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and that financial 
controls and a sound system for the management of risk are in place.  They will seek to establish and 
maintain public confidence in the Trust, and must be independent in judgement and constructively challenge 
and help develop decisions and strategy for which they bear equal responsibility.   

To be effective a Non-Executive Director needs to be well-informed about the Trust and have a good grasp of 
the relevant issues. 

Our Non-Executive Directors bring independence, external perspectives, skills and challenge to strategy 
development and hold our Executive Team to account for the delivery of the strategy.  They actively support 
and promote a healthy culture for the organisation and this reflects in their own behaviour.  It is imperative 
that they provide visible leadership in developing a healthy culture so that staff believe Non-Executive 
Directors provide a safe point of access to the Board for raising their concerns. 

Some of the Non-Executive Directors chair key committees that support accountability.  Individual Non-
Executive Directors are members of specific Board Committees, although papers of all those meetings are 
available to all Non-Executive Directors if they wish to see them.  The Chairman and all Non-Executive 
Directors are members of the Trust’s Remuneration Committee.  

These are the Committee Chairing roles that our Non-Executive Directors carried out over the last 12 
months: 

Board member Chairs 

Karamjit Singh, CBE Trust Board and Remuneration Committee 

Col (Ret’d) Ian Crowe Quality and Outcomes Committee 

Kiran Jenkins Audit Committee (from 1 December 2018) 

Andrew Johnson People, Process and Performance Committee 

Richard Moore Audit Committee (until 30 November 2018) 

Ballu Patel Charitable Funds Committee 

Martin Traynor, OBE Finance and Investment Committee 

 

Trust Board meetings 

Our Trust Board meetings are held in public and details of dates are on our public website.  The meetings 
move between our three hospital sites, and both staff and members of the public are welcome to attend the 
public session of each meeting. 

We held our Annual Public Meeting on Thursday 5 July 2018 at Devonshire Place on London Road in 
Leicester, on the 70th anniversary of the NHS, presenting our 2018/19 annual report and accounts and 
answering questions from the public. 

In addition to the Trust’s formal Annual Public Meeting, the event on 5 July 2018 also included a “Big 7 Tea 
Party” to celebrate the NHS’s 70th Birthday and a special “Big 7 Tea Conversation” giving members of the 
public an opportunity to put questions to a panel of key decision makers from local NHS organisations.  

 

Partners on our Trust Board 

A nominated representative of Leicester and Leicestershire Healthwatch attended and contributed to our 
public Trust Board meetings as a non-voting/co-opted member – Ms Harsha Kotecha took over this role in 
October 2018.   

We hope that by having a representative of Healthwatch at the Board table, it opens up the Board to a 
different perspective – that of the patient/public voice – which serves to enrich the Board’s deliberations and 
decisions. 
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Openness and accountability 

We have adopted the NHS Executive’s code of conduct and accountability, and incorporated them into our 
corporate governance policies (our Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of 
Delegation). 

 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Statement 

The Bribery Act 2010 came into effect on 1 July 2011. Bribery is generally defined as giving someone a 
financial or other advantage to encourage that person to perform their functions or activities improperly or 
to reward that person for having already done so. The maximum penalty for bribery is 10 years 
imprisonment, with an unlimited fine.  

In addition, the Act introduces a corporate offence of failing to prevent bribery by an organisation not having 
adequate preventative procedures in place. The organisation may avoid conviction if it can show that it had 
procedures and protocols in place to prevent bribery. The corporate offence is not a stand-alone offence, but 
always follows from a bribery and/or corruption offence committed by an individual associated with the 
company or organisation in question. 

As a result, we confirm that the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust will commit sufficient time and 
resources to the development and embedding of an appropriate anti-bribery programme to include: 

 A commitment to carry out business fairly, honestly and openly 

 A commitment to zero tolerance towards bribery 

 The consequences of breaching the policies for employees and managers 

 The avoidance of doing business with others who do not commit to doing business without bribery 
as a ‘best practice’ objective 

 The protection and procedures for confidential reporting of bribery (Whistleblowing) 

 To support key individuals and departments involved in the development and implementation of the 
Trust’s bribery prevention procedures 

 

Going Concern 

International Accounting Standard 1 requires the Board to assess, as part of the accounts preparation 
process, the Group and Trust's ability to continue as a going concern.  In preparing the financial statements 
the Board of Directors has carefully considered the principle of ‘going concern’ against the requirements of 
IAS1.  

The Directors concluded that although there are material uncertainties relating to the financial sustainability 
of the Group and Trust, they have made appropriate enquiries and still have reasonable expectations that 
the Trust will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  On 
this basis, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
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Corporate Governance Report 
 

Executive Summary 

The annual governance review confirms that we, the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, have a 
generally sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of our policies, aims and 
objectives.  We recognise that our internal control environment can always be improved and strengthened, 
and this work will continue in 2019/20 as part of our commitment to continuous improvement. 

In 2018/19 we identified a number of significant control issues which have impacted on our overall 
performance.  This Statement gives an account of the remedial actions which have been, and are being, 
taken. 

 

Scope of Responsibility 

As the Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that 
supports adherence to our policies and the achievement of our aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding both 
public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me.  I am also responsible for ensuring that the Trust is administered prudently 
and economically, and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively.  I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in the NHS Trust Accountable Officer Memorandum. 

In undertaking this role I, and my team, have developed strong links with the NHS Trust Development 
Authority (now NHS Improvement), local Clinical Commissioning Groups, and other partner organisations. In 
particular, the Trust plays an important role in the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership, which aims to reshape the provision of health services in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland by integrating the activities of NHS organisations and local authorities to improve 
outcomes for patients, and to deliver care more efficiently.  

 

The purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide a reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to: 

 identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of the Trust; 
and 

 evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to 
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control has been in place at the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust for the 
financial year ended 31st March 2019 and up to the date of the approval of the annual accounts. 

 

The Governance Framework of the Organisation 

Trust Board composition and membership 

Our Trust Board comprises thirteen members: a Chairman, seven Non-Executive Directors, and five Executive 
Directors.   

During 2018/19, there have been a number of changes in the composition of the Board.  In June 2018 
Rebecca Brown joined the Trust as Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Executive; Carolyn Fox joined as 
Chief Nurse in October 2018; and Kiran Jenkins commenced her role as Non-Executive Director (and Chair of 
the Audit Committee) in December 2018, succeeding Richard Moore. 

There were changes, too, amongst those post holders who attend meetings of the Board, but not in a voting 
capacity.  Hazel Wyton joined the Trust as Director of People and Organisational Development in August 
2018; and Andy Carruthers, Acting Chief Information Officer and Darryn Kerr, Director of Estates and 
Facilities were invited by the Board to attend all of its meetings from March 2019 onwards. 
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In summary, although there has been some turnover in Director posts in 2018/19, the process of making 
substantive appointments to the Trust Board is now complete, creating a well-balanced Board to provide 
continuity of leadership going forward. 

Performance Management Reporting Framework 

I report on key issues to each public Board meeting and a Quality and Performance Dashboard forms part of 
this report.  

To ensure that the Board is aware to a sufficient degree of granularity of what is happening in the hospitals, a 
comprehensive quality and performance report is reviewed monthly at a joint meeting of the Board’s People, 
Process and Performance Committee and Quality and Outcomes Committee.  This report is also published as 
part of our Trust Board papers. 

The monthly report: 

 is structured across several domains: ‘safe’, ‘caring’, ‘well-led’, ‘effective’ and ‘responsive’; 

 includes information on our performance against NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework; 

 includes performance indicators rated red, amber or green; 

 is complemented by exception reports and commentaries from the accountable Executive Directors 
identifying key issues to the Board and, where necessary, corrective actions to bring performance 
back on track. 

Our formal Board performance management reporting framework is accompanied by a series of measures to 
achieve a more interactive style of governance, moving beyond paper reporting.   

Examples include: 

 staff and patient stories, which are presented in public at each Board meeting.  These shine a light on 
staff experiences and individual experiences of patient care provided by our organisation, and act as 
a catalyst to our commitment to continuous improvement; and 

 patient safety walkabouts carried out by Board members. 

These arrangements allow Board members to help model our values through direct engagement, as well as 
ensuring that Board members take back to the boardroom an enriched understanding of the lived reality for 
staff, patients, and public. 

Committee Structure 

We operate a committee structure to strengthen our focus on quality governance, finance, people, process 
and performance, and risk management.  The committees carry out detailed work of assurance on behalf of 
the Trust Board. A diagram illustrating the Board committee structure is set out below: 

 

All of our Board committees are chaired by a Non‐Executive Director and comprise a mixture of both Non‐
Executive and Executive Directors within their memberships.  The exceptions to this are the Audit Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee, which (in accordance with NHS guidance) comprise Non‐Executive 
Directors exclusively. 

The Audit Committee is established under powers delegated by the Trust Board, with approved terms of 
reference that are aligned with the NHS Audit Committee Handbook.  The Committee has met on six 
occasions throughout the financial year.  It has discharged its responsibilities for scrutinising the risks and 
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controls which affect all aspects of our organisation’s business.  The Audit Committee receives reports at 
each of its meetings from the External Auditor, Internal Auditor, and the Local Counter-Fraud Specialist, the 
latter providing the Committee with assurance on our work programme to deter fraud. 

The Finance and Investment Committee meets monthly to oversee the effective management of our 
financial resources and financial performance across a range of measures.  The Quality and Outcomes 
Committee also meets monthly, and seeks assurances that there are effective arrangements in place for 
monitoring and continually improving the quality of healthcare provided to patients. 

To strengthen the focus on workforce issues, and on organisational systems, processes and performance 
management, the Trust Board has established a People, Process and Performance Committee.  This 
Committee meets monthly, too, and amongst the standing items which feature on its agenda are (a) 
workforce issues – including regular review of the Workforce Strategy and progress against our equality and 
diversity plan; (b) urgent and emergency care performance; and (c) performance against the cancer waiting 
time standards.  The Committee has also focussed on a number of specific process issues during 2018/19, 
including ‘Red2Green’, winter planning, and the arrangements in place via the Performance Management 
and Accountability Framework. 

The minutes of each meeting of our Board committees are submitted to the next available Trust Board 
meeting for consideration.  Recommendations made by the committees to the Trust Board are clearly 
identified on a cover sheet accompanying the submission of the minutes to the Board.   

The Chair of each Committee personally presents a summary of the Committee’s deliberations, highlighting 
material issues arising from the work of the Committee to the Board. 

Every meeting of the Trust Board and each Board Committee meeting was quorate during 2018/19. 

 

Attendance at Board and committee meetings 

The attendance of the Chairman, individual Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors, and Corporate 
Directors at Board and committee meetings during 2018/19 is set out in appendix 1 to this Statement.  The 
table reflects instances of attendances for either the whole or part of the meeting and applies to formal 
members and/or regular attendees as detailed in the terms of reference for each body. 

 

Board Effectiveness 

On joining the Board, Non-Executive Directors participate in a full induction programme and are given 
background information about the Trust and our activities.   

Our Board recognises the importance of effectively gauging its performance so that it can draw conclusions 
about its own strengths and weaknesses and take necessary steps to improve.  As a Board we are keen to 
ensure that we are: 

 operating at maximum efficiency and effectiveness; 

 adding value; and 

 providing a yardstick by which the Board can both measure its own effectiveness and prioritise its 
activities for the future. 

During 2018/19, the Trust Board underwent an externally-facilitated developmental review, supported by 
the NHS East Midlands Leadership Academy.  The focus of the review was to illuminate the developmental 
journey necessary for the Board to exercise effective leadership of quality set within the context of our 
emerging Quality Strategy, and taking into account the Well-Led Framework. 

The outcomes of the review are summarised below: 

 greater understanding by the Board of what its contribution will be to leading the Trust to an 
‘outstanding’ rating, reflecting the premise that change starts from the top; 

 greater understanding of the need to establish more effective relationships with key stakeholders 
who will implement change activities on the Board’s behalf, principal amongst these stakeholders 
being clinicians; 

 enhanced generative conversations at Board level, achieving an appropriate balance between 
challenge and support, so that Non-Executive Directors carry out the functions of challenge and 
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holding to account effectively, and Executive Directors respond positively to this challenge, leading to 
effective implementation of Board decisions; 

 clarity on the Board’s role in implementation of the Trust’s Quality Strategy, the way this will be 
communicated, the expectations that the Board will have of its staff, and the way in which the Board 
will hold stakeholders to account in achieving quality standards; 

 the transfer of knowledge from the external facilitators to the Board, based on their many years of 
working with Boards and being on Boards themselves. 

Outside of its formal meetings, the Board has held development sessions (‘Thinking Days’) each month 
throughout the year.  Amongst the topics considered were: 

 responses to the Francis report : changes in Board leadership and governance in acute hospitals in 
England since 2013; 

 the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Frailty Programme; 

 NHS Improvement’s Culture and Leadership Programme; 

 the development of our People Strategy; 

 the digital agenda : the role of the Board. 

Our Chairman set objectives for me and for the Non-Executive Directors for the year.  In turn, I set objectives 
for the Executive Directors and Corporate Directors in relation to the delivery of the 2018/19 Annual Plan.  
Performance against objectives is reviewed formally on an annual basis by the Chairman and me, 
respectively, and the results reported to the Remuneration Committee for consideration. 

 

Corporate Governance 

In managing the affairs of the Trust, the Board is committed to achieving high standards of integrity, ethics 
and professionalism across all areas of activity.  As a fundamental part of this commitment, the Board 
supports the highest standards of corporate governance within the statutory framework. 

We have in place a suite of corporate governance policies which are reviewed and updated as required.  
These include standing orders, standing financial instructions, a scheme of delegation, and policies to 
counter fraud, bribery and corruption. 

The Board subscribes to the NHS Code of Conduct and Code of Accountability and has adopted the Nolan 
Principles, ‘the seven principles of public life’.  We have also adopted the Code of Conduct: “Standards for 
NHS Board members and members of Clinical Commissioning Group governing bodies in the NHS in England” 
(Professional Standards Authority: November 2012). 

NHS Trusts are subject to oversight by NHS Improvement which uses the Single Oversight Framework for the 
purpose.  The Single Oversight Framework bases its oversight on the NHS provider licence.  NHS Trusts are 
therefore legally subject to the equivalent of certain provider licence conditions and NHS Improvement has 
directed that NHS Trusts must self-certify compliance with licence conditions G6 and FT4, respectively. 

The Trust Board undertakes a self-assessment of compliance against these conditions annually, having regard 
to guidance issued by NHS Improvement, and where necessary identifies actions to mitigate risks to 
compliance. 

Following review, the Trust Board declared compliance with conditions G6 and FT4 for the 2018/19 financial 
year and confirmed that the Trust took all such precautions as were necessary in order to comply with the 
conditions of the licence, any requirements arising under the NHS Acts and having regard to the NHS 
Constitution.  

We have published an up-to-date register of interests for decision-making staff within the past twelve 
months, as required by the ‘Managing Conflicts of Interest in the NHS’ guidance. 

 

Information Governance 

We recognise the importance of robust information governance.  In May 2018, the Chief Information Officer 
assumed the role of Senior Information Risk Owner; the Medical Director continued as our Caldicott 
Guardian throughout the year.   
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All NHS Trusts are required annually to carry out an information governance self-assessment using the NHS 
Data Security and Protection Toolkit.  This contains 10 standards of good practice, spread across the domains 
of: 

1. robust patient confidential data processes 

2. staff training around patient confidential data 

3. staff training for the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

4. accessing of patient confidential data by appropriate personnel 

5. strategy, policy and process review 

6. cyber-attack prevention 

7. continuity planning 

8. strategy for unsupported software 

9. cyber-attack strategy 

10. contract management 

During the year we reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office two serious untoward incidents 
involving lapses of data security.  These incidents remain under consideration by the Commissioner.   

In respect of other personal data related incidents experienced during the year, we have carried out 
investigations to ensure that the root causes are properly understood and addressed; in addition, where 
necessary, patients have been contacted to inform them of the lapses and to provide them with assurance 
about the actions we have taken to prevent recurrence. 

 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 

Our clinical and non-clinical activities are managed under a devolved management structure, governed by a 
scheme of delegation which is reviewed and updated, where required, on an annual basis. 

For clinical activities, we have in place a clinical management structure to support the effective leadership of 
clinical services and ensure effective care.  This management structure consists of seven Clinical 
Management Groups, with each Clinical Management Group having a leadership team that comprises a 
senior clinician, senior nurse and senior manager. This core team is supported by the human resources team 
and information and performance colleagues, with finance support provided through embedded heads of 
finance and an associated Clinical Management Group-based finance team.  

For non-clinical activities, we have in place a corporate directorate structure to support the organisation and 
to provide corporate services to the Clinical Management Groups.  This management structure consists of 
ten corporate directorates with each directorate being led by a Director, with finance support provided 
through the corporate finance function. 

We maintain a strong focus on performance management, with all CMGs and Directorates bearing 
responsibility for the delivery of quality, financial and other performance targets.  Performance is monitored 
through a system of performance agreements which are agreed and documented as part of the annual 
business planning cycle and reviewed through a series of monthly performance review meetings, chaired by 
a Board-level Executive Director, operating under our Performance Management and Accountability 
Framework. 

We continued to adopt a project-based approach to savings delivery in 2018/19 through an established cost 
improvement programme underpinned by project management office arrangements.  Whilst we have 
enhanced our governance and oversight arrangements in respect of savings delivery during 2018/19, 
emerging cost pressures and operational challenges have resulted in a programme that has not been able 
entirely to deliver recurrent savings within the year.  Non-recurrent benefits have closed this savings gap in-
year, and we are aware that this position creates a further financial challenge heading into the next financial 
year. 

The Finance and Investment Committee provides assurance to the Trust Board as to the achievement of the 
financial plan and priorities and, in addition, acts as the key forum for the scrutiny of the robustness and 
effectiveness of all cost efficiency opportunities.  This Committee interfaces with the other Trust Board 
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Committees and Executive Board meetings, and also reviews the process of business planning, specific 
business case development, and capital programme management.  

We have developed an internal audit programme, based on key business governance themes, with Internal 
Audit provider PWC, designed to enhance focus on business governance and to support improved 
compliance.  

We had a planned deficit in 2018/19 and breached the requirement under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to achieve break-even taking one year against another over a three year rolling 
period.  As such, our External Auditors have made a referral to the Secretary of State for Health.  This referral 
has been made under Section 30 of the 2014 Act. 

We recognise that this position is set within the context of a wider sustainability gap across the local health 
economy.  To address this challenge, work remains ongoing through our longer term reconfiguration 
programme that is inherently linked to the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership that includes local health and social care partners. 

 

Workforce 

In October 2018, NHS Improvement published ‘Developing Workforce Safeguards’ to help Trusts manage 
common workforce problems.  From April 2019, NHS Improvement will assess all providers against their 
compliance with the guidance in order to support a consistent approach to workforce decision-making. 

The Trust Board has approved (July 2018) a five year Strategic Workforce Plan which sets out our short, 
medium and long-term actions to ensure appropriate levels and skills of staff are available to deliver safe, 
high quality care to patients and service users. 

To complement this plan, in March 2019 the Trust Board approved our People Strategy, ‘Becoming the Best 
through our people’, which sets out how we will ensure we have the right people with the right leadership 
capability, behaviours and skills to deliver ‘Caring at its Best’; and how we will prioritise and address our 
critical workforce gaps.  To this end, our Nursing and Midwifery Workforce Plan and Medical Workforce Plan 
form part of the Strategy. 

As part of the Annual Operational Plan 2019/20, approved by the Trust Board in April 2019, we have 
identified: 

 our workforce planning methodology, 

 our current workforce challenges and risks, 

 our long-term vacancies, 

 how our workforce plans align with the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership Plan, and 

 new initiatives to be taken forward in 2019/20 with the benefit of funding provided by Health 
Education East Midlands. 

At Executive level, I chair quarterly meeting of the Executive Workforce Board to oversee the 
implementation of our workforce plans: in 2019/20, this Board will be replaced by the Executive People and 
Culture Board and meet bi-monthly. 

Acting on behalf of the Trust Board, the People, Process and Performance Committee meets monthly and 
provides assurance that our staffing processes are safe, sustainable and effective. 

The Chief Nurse has assessed the requirements set out in ‘Developing Workforce Safeguards’ and has 
concluded that we are compliant with this guidance in respect of the nursing workforce. 

Other professional groups do not currently have in place the same level of evidence-based, national 
benchmarking tools to provide assurance on safe staffing levels, but we use professional judgement to define 
and monitor safe staffing levels and risks are managed in line with our risk management processes and via 
other mechanisms, e.g. the deployment of the electronic rostering system, and review of reports prepared 
quarterly by the Junior Doctors’ Guardian of Safe Working (received by the People, Process and Performance 
Committee and Trust Board). 
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Having regard to the approach described above, I am satisfied that the Trust has in place appropriate 
workforce strategies and staffing systems in compliance with the Developing Workforce Safeguards 
recommendations. 

 

The Risk and Control Framework 

Capacity to handle risk 

Our Board-approved Risk Management Policy describes an organisation-wide approach to risk management, 
supported by effective and efficient systems and processes.  The Policy clearly describes our approach to risk 
management and the roles and responsibilities of the Trust Board, management, and all staff. 

The Medical Director is the lead Director for risk management at the Trust and is supported in this role by the 
Director of Safety and Risk and Risk and Assurance Manager, respectively.  Staff are trained to manage risk in 
a way appropriate to their authority and duties via the risk management awareness training programme. 

The review of risk registers is a standing item on the agenda of each monthly performance review meeting 
held between the Executive Directors and individual Clinical Management Group senior management teams.  
Risks which threaten the achievement of our strategic objectives and which feature on the Board Assurance 
Framework are reviewed at each Executive Board meeting. 

Our major risks in 2018/19 (as featured on the Board Assurance Framework) are set out below: 

 If we are unable to achieve and maintain the required workforce capacity and capability standards, 
then it may result in widespread instances of poor clinical outcomes for patients and increased staff 
workloads, affecting business (finance) and reputation (breach in regulatory duty/adverse publicity); 

 If we are unable to achieve and maintain financial sustainability, then it will result in a failure to 
deliver the financial plan, affecting business (finance) and reputation (breach in regulatory 
duty/adverse publicity); 

 If we are unable to effectively manage the emergency care pathway, then it may result in widespread 
instances of poor clinical outcomes for patients and sustained failure to achieve constitutional 
standards, affecting business (finance) and reputation (breach in regulatory duty/adverse publicity); 

 If we do not adequately develop and maintain its estate, then it may result in an increased risk of 
failure of critical patient, equipment and core critical services leading to compliance issues, risk of 
regulatory intervention, impact upon business and patient critical infrastructure and adverse 
publicity. 

Good risk management encourages organisations to take well-managed risks that allow safe development, 
growth and change.  However, it is impossible to eliminate all risks, and every organisation has to live with a 
degree of risk.  Through its  review of the Board Assurance Framework, the aim is that the Trust Board will be 
able to decide the balance between the cost of mitigating risks, tolerating risks and accepting risk which is 
not mitigated – in other words, to determine the Trust’s risk appetite.  The Trust Board accepts that further 
work is necessary to meet this aim and planned changes to the Framework, to be implemented in 2019/20, 
will assist in meeting this objective. 

All key strategic risks are documented in our Board Assurance Framework.  Each strategic risk is assigned to 
an Executive Director as the risk owner and the Executive Team reviews the Framework on a monthly basis.  
Key risks to the achievement of these objectives, the controls in place and assurance sources, along with any 
gaps in assurance, are identified and reviewed.  As Chief Executive, I highlight the key issues in a monthly 
report to the public meeting of the Trust Board.  A copy of the full Framework is also published monthly with 
the Board papers and scrutinised by the Board. 

Data security risks are managed and controlled under arrangements led by our (Acting) Chief Information 
Officer.  We have employed a Managed Business Partner to support us in our work, and they deploy a 
number of approaches to monitoring our data security infrastructure to manage cyber risks, including 
appropriate risk mitigation strategies.  An information asset register is in place, and data protection impact 
assessments are completed in line with our data security and protection policies. 

Our Annual Operational Plan 2019/20 responds to and addresses the strategic risks we face.  The current 
Board Assurance Framework has been updated to reflect risks in the 2019/20 plan and will continue to be 
reviewed at regular intervals by both the Executive Team and Trust Board. 
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Risk Assessment 

We operate a risk management process which enables the identification and control of risks at both a 
strategic and operational level.  Central to this is our Risk Assessment Policy which sets out details of the risk 
assessment methodology used across the Trust.  This methodology enables suitable, trained and competent 
members of staff to identify and quantify risks in their respective area and to decide what action, if any, 
needs to be taken to reduce or eliminate risks.  All risk assessments must be scored and recorded in line with 
the procedure set out in the Risk Assessment Policy.  Completed risk assessments are held at Clinical 
Management Group and Corporate Directorate level and, when they give rise to a significant residual risk, 
they must be linked to our risk register. 

We use a common risk-scoring matrix to quantify and prioritise risks identified through the risk assessment 
procedure.  It is based on the frequency or likelihood of the harm combined with the possible severity or 
impact of that harm.  The arrangement determines at what level in the organisation a risk should be 
managed and who needs to be assured that appropriate management arrangements are in place. 

Control measures are in place to ensure that our organisation complies with all of our obligations under 
equality, diversity and human rights legislation.  Each of our policies is subject to an equality impact 
assessment and actions are taken as appropriate when an assessment identifies issues which warrant 
attention. 

We have an open and supportive reporting culture, and staff are actively encouraged to report not only 
actual incidents but also ‘near misses’.  Evidence of our good reporting culture is demonstrated by the fact 
that we are placed in the top quartile for reporting incidents to the National Reporting Learning System. 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in place 
to ensure we comply with all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations.  This includes 
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations. 

We have carried out risk assessments and have a sustainable development management plan in place which 
takes account of UK Climate Projections 2018 (UK CP18).  We ensure that its obligations under the Climate 
Change Act and the Adaptation reporting requirements are complied with. 

 

Annual Quality Account 

We are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
2010 (as amended) to prepare a Quality Account for each financial year.  The Department of Health has 
issued guidance to NHS Trusts on the form and content of annual Quality Accounts. 

The Director of Clinical Quality co-ordinates the preparation of our Annual Quality Account, on behalf of our 
Chief Nurse.  This is reviewed in draft form by our Quality and Outcomes Committee, ahead of its eventual 
submission to the Trust Board for final review and adoption.  In reviewing the draft Quality Account 2018/19, 
the Quality and Outcomes Committee noted and endorsed our internal controls and standards which 
underpin the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality Account – the Statement will 
be reviewed and signed by the Chairman and Chief Executive on behalf of the Board on 6th June 2019, 
Including a statement that the Board is satisfied that the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the 
Trust’s performance over the period covered. 

Our quality governance arrangements are set out in detail in our Governance Framework, approved by the 
Trust Board.  Our quality framework includes the following key components: 

 an open and participative culture in which education, research and the sharing of good practice are 
valued and expected; 

 a commitment to quality that is shared by staff and managers, and supported by clearly identified 
local resources, both human and financial; 

 a tradition of active working with patients, users, carers and the public; 

 an ethos of multi-disciplinary teams working at all levels in the organisation; 

 regular Board level discussion of all major quality issues for the organisation and strong leadership 
from the top; 
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 good use of information to plan and to assess progress. 

During 2018/19, each of our Clinical Management Groups undertook a self-assessment against the 
registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission (expressed via the ‘Key Lines of Enquiry’).  The 
results were reported to, and reviewed by, the Executive Quality Board.  Internal Audit reviewed the our 
governance structure for the surgery core services and reviewed the extent to which the Clinical 
Management Groups responsible for overseeing surgery were continually assessing compliance with the Care 
Quality Commission Key Lines of Enquiry.  The review identified opportunities to improve our arrangements 
for carrying out Clinical Management Group CQC self-assessments of compliance, and actions will be taken in 
2019/20 to strengthen our approach. 

We are fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission. 

 

Data quality, including elective waiting time data 

The following arrangements are in place to assure the quality and accuracy of data (including elective waiting 
time data): 

 the Data Quality Forum meets regularly and oversees the process of assuring the quality of data 
reported to the Trust Board, and to external agencies, to ensure by best endeavours that it is of 
suitably high quality,  timely and accurate.  This process uses a locally agreed data quality framework 
to provide scrutiny and challenge on the quality of data presented.  Where such assessments identify 
shortfalls in data quality, the risks are identified together with recommendations for improvements 
to ensure that the quality is raised to the required standards; 

 there are quarterly reports on the quality of commissioning data and clinical coding which are 
presented to the Executive Quality Board.  These review our position compared to peer organisations 
within the NHS Data Quality Maturity Index (produced by NHS Digital) and include the benchmarking 
of coding completeness; 

 a Secondary Uses Service Assurance Group determines the priorities for improving the quality of data 
used for commissioning and other secondary uses.  This includes developing action plans and 
implementing changes mandated for national data and commissioning standards; acting on external 
data quality advice and using external benchmarking to improve the quality of commissioning data. 
Data is analysed over time; trends are monitored and unexpected variation is investigated.  We work 
closely with the local Commissioning Support Unit to ensure that they receive additional data flows 
to support the commissioning process; 

 a Corporate Data Quality meeting takes place each week, where inaccurate and incomplete data 
collections are challenged.  The Data Quality Team act on a daily basis to maximise the coverage of 
NHS Number, accurate GP registration, and ensure singularity of patient records. 

In 2018/19 we commissioned Internal Audit to carry out a review of the quality and accuracy of our data 
quality systems, which included an assessment of two indicators reported monthly in our Quality and 
Performance report; namely 18 week wait referral to treatment – patients on incomplete pathways and long-
term follow-up patients.  Two medium risk actions were identified, and these will be addressed during 
2019/20 and implementation will be followed up by Internal Audit and reported to the Audit Committee.   

 

Review of the Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control 

As Accountable Officer, I have the responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control.  My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 
Internal Auditors, Clinical Audit and the Executive Managers, and our clinical leads who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework.  I have drawn on the content of the 
Quality Account 2018/19, along with other performance information made available to me.   

Recognising that clinical audit is a key component of good governance, we are committed to undertaking 
effective clinical audits across all clinical services and recognise this is a key element of maintaining and 
developing high quality clinical services.  Implementation of the clinical audit programme is reviewed at 
regular intervals by the Executive Quality Board and Quality and Outcomes Committee; and the Audit 
Committee also incorporates a review of the clinical audit system within its annual work programme.   
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My review is also informed by comments made by the External Auditors in their management letter and 
other reports. 

During the year I have also been advised on systems of internal control by the Board, the Audit Committee, 
Finance and Investment Committee, People, Process and Performance Committee and Quality and Outcomes 
Committee.  Each of these bodies has been involved in a series of processes that, individually and 
collectively, has contributed to the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 

In the Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2018/19, the Head of Internal Audit notes that Internal Audit have 
carried out fourteen reviews during the year.  None of the individual assignment reports had an overall 
classification of critical risk. 

The Head of Internal Audit is satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been carried out in 2018/19 to 
allow an opinion to be given as to the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
control.  In giving this opinion, the Head of Internal Audit notes that assurance can never be absolute – the 
most the Internal Audit service can provide is reasonable assurance that there are no major weaknesses in 
the system of internal control. 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion for 2018/19 is that governance, risk management, and control in relation 
to business critical areas are generally satisfactory.  However, there are some areas of weakness in the 
framework of governance, risk management, and control which potentially put the achievement of 
objectives at risk. Some improvements are required in those areas to enhance the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the control framework.  I accept these findings and am committed to strengthening the 
internal control environment, as detailed in this Statement.  

We have taken, and are taking action, to address the findings of all of the Internal Audit reviews carried out 
in 2018/19 and the implementations of the actions in question will be reviewed by the Audit Committee 
during 2019/20. 

High risk findings were identified in the following reviews: 

Post Project Review – Emergency Department Front Door Procurement 

 Internal Audit’s high risk finding from this review was that many elements of an effective Contract 
Management Framework were not in place for non-NHS Commissioned services. There were also a 
number of medium risk findings relating to (a) a number of gaps/ areas for improvement in respect 
of our Procurement policy; (b) the need to clarify and confirm roles and responsibilities as between 
the Procurement and Contract Teams, respectively; and in respect of operational teams; and (c) the 
need for the Trust to improve its contract mobilisation arrangements.  We have addressed these 
findings and subsequently reported to the Audit Committee on a proposed contract management 
approach for future contracts. 

Fraud Risk Assessment Validation and Financial Systems Review Follow-Up 

 The scope of this Internal Audit review was to validate the controls in place for a number of high 
rated risks arising from our financial Risk Assessment, and also carry out a follow-up of cash 
management actions and outstanding purchase to pay actions from previous reviews.  Two high risk 
issues were noted in relation to supplier bank detail changes; and employee leavers.  Actions to 
address these findings have been agreed and they will be followed up in the usual way in conjunction 
with Internal Audit. 

Business continuity and emergency planning 

 Internal Audit’s high risk finding from this review was that an IT disaster recovery test programme 
was not in place.  We will develop a programme that seeks to validate the IT disaster recovery plans, 
and conduct such testing on an annual basis (commencing 2019), with the results being reported to 
the Audit Committee. 

Using our Board Assurance Framework, our Trust Board has also identified actions to mitigate other risks in 
the year in relation to: 

a. inadequate clinical practice and/or ineffective clinical governance; 

b. employment market factors (such as availability and competition to recruit, retain and utilise  a 
workforce with the necessary skills and experience); lack of extensive education; training and 
leadership; and demographic changes; 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

23 

c. delivery of income, the control of costs and the delivery of cost improvement plans; 

d. persistent unprecedented level of demand for services; primary care’s ability to provide services; 
ineffective resources to address patient flow; and fundamental process issues; 

e. an inability to secure appropriate resources (including external capital and workforce); a critical 
infrastructure failure; ineffective system resilience; and preparedness of an external IT supplier or an 
external shut-down attack; 

f. a lack of resources to address the backlog maintenance programme, insufficient clinical decant 
capacity and the sheer volume of technical work to address ageing buildings; 

g. a breakdown of relationships amongst partners and ineffective clinical strategies for the local 
population. 

Any changes in the current or target risk scores are highlighted to the Trust Board, and the Board also 
reviews and seeks assurances on the management actions in place to mitigate the identified risks. 

 

Significant Control Issues 

NHS Trusts are required to identify in their statements significant control issues and outline the action taken, 
or proposed, to deal with such issues. 

The Guidance issued by NHS Improvement offers examples of factors to consider when determining whether 
an internal control issue is significant, whilst not prescribing which issues should be considered to be 
significant. 

I can confirm that, annually, we have regard to the guidance issued by NHS Improvement and I apply that 
guidance in arriving at a consistent view of what constitutes a significant control issue.  I am advised in this 
task by the Audit Committee whom I consult in identifying the specific issues to be included in the Statement 
each year. 

The following significant control issues have been identified in 2018/19. 

 

Never Events 

Never events are serious, largely preventable incidents that should not occur if the available preventative 
measures have been implemented.  

During 2018/19, we reported eight incidents which met the definition of a never event.  These related to the 
unintentional connection of a patient requiring oxygen to an air flow meter; a wrong implant/ prosthesis; 
and six instances of wrong site surgery. 

In each case, we informed the patients and their relatives of the errors and we apologised for our failings. 

A thorough root cause analysis of each incident was carried out to identify key actions to prevent recurrence 
and to share learning across the organisation. Implementation of these actions was tracked by the Quality 
and Outcomes Committee on behalf of the Trust Board.  The actions included the implementation of a 
comprehensive programme entitled “Stop the Line” which has sought to reinforce the importance of 
observing the Trust’s Safer Surgery policy and encourage staff to speak up if they feel that patient safety is 
being, or is about to be, compromised by a failure to follow procedure. In addition, we have taken action to 
ensure that non-theatre areas which carry out invasive procedures have in place suitable standard operating 
procedures, ‘Local Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures’ (LocSSIP).  Some of the issues involved in never 
events are cultural and will continue to be addressed through our new comprehensive Quality Strategy. 

 

Key Financial Duties 

In respect of performance in 2018/19, against the key financial duties, we have: 

a. not delivered the planned surplus of £0.7m including £21.9m of Provider Sustainability Funding 
offsetting a deficit of £21.2m.  This was due to (i) the cessation of our planned estates and facilities 
management subsidiary, and (ii) a reduction in Provider Sustainability Fund amounts received. Our 
actual deficit was £44.9m including Provider Sustainability Fund of £9.9m;  

b. achieved the External Financing Limit (the limit placed on net borrowing) of £50.6m; 
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c. achieved the Capital Resource Limit (the limit placed on net capital expenditure) of £25.9m. 

Our financial plan for 2018/19 forecast the need for £49.5m of cash to continue to support revenue.  At year 
end, we had accessed £49.5m of an ‘Uncommitted Interim Revenue Support Facility’.  Further cash support 
of £10.7m is projected as part of our 2019/20 financial plan and an application has been submitted to NHS 
Improvement as part of the annual planning process.  

The level of loans to support our deficit position increased from £198.0m to £245.3m in 2018/19, with this 
amount expected to rise to £253.8m in 2019/20, representing over 20 per cent of our projected turnover. 

£34.1m of loans are due to mature over the next 12 months and although the mechanism for repaying these 
through the availability of renewed working capital or longer term loan facilities has yet to be defined, we 
are planning that these facilities will be made available.  These loans first matured in 2018/19, and their 
terms were extended to 2019/20 so we can reasonably expect the same thing to happen when the loans 
mature for a second time.  

The net increase in loans will be £8.5m. 

Our net assets have increased from £215.4m (2017/18) to £218.4m (2018/19). This is a net impact of the 
increased cash borrowing, offset by the increase in asset valuations and receipt of Public Dividend Capital 
funding. 

The Board has agreed plans to deliver the agreed 2019/20 financial plan – a £10.7m deficit – which includes 
the delivery of a £26.6m Efficiency Programme.  Acting on behalf of the Trust Board, the Finance and 
Investment Committee receives a report at each of its monthly meetings tracking performance against the 
annual financial plan, as well as the Efficiency Programme. 

 

Going Concern 

At its meeting in May 2018, the Audit Committee assessed the ‘going concern’ position of the Trust.  The 
Committee’s deliberations were aided by consideration of a 2018/19 going concern statement, prepared by 
the Chief Financial Officer. 

The Audit Committee endorsed the going concern statement, underpinned by a working capital strategy, the 
key objectives of which were to: 

a) maintain the cash balance as planned during 2018/19, including drawing down temporary and 
permanent borrowing, and managing our other working capital balances; 

b) improve performance against the ‘Better Payment Practice Code’; 

c) achieve the External Financing Limit and Capital Resource Limit; and  

d) further develop monitoring and reporting processes to ensure that there were robust linkages 
between cash balances; revenue income and expenditure; and capital expenditure. 

The Trust Board accepted the 2018/19 ‘going concern’ position statement at its meeting in May 2018, on the 
recommendation of the Audit Committee; adopted the recommendation that we should prepare our 
financial statements on a going concern basis; and has taken steps to ensure that this has remained the case 
for at least 12 months from the date of the approval of the Annual Accounts.  

Throughout the 2018/19 financial year, we have failed to meet our obligations under the Better Payment 
Practice Code and have experienced considerable pressures in managing the day to day cash position.  This 
situation has arisen as a result of historic financial deficits; delays in accessing cash within year; and sub-
optimal cash management and forecasting processes. In response to these pressures, in 2017/18 we 
commissioned PricewaterhouseCoopers to review our approach to cash management, cash forecasting, and 
the associated reporting of the cash position to the Finance and Investment Committee.  We accepted 
PricewaterhouseCoopers final report and recommendations.  Cash performance continues to be reviewed at 
each meeting of the Finance and Investment Committee and scrutinised further, on a periodic basis, by the 
Audit Committee.  However, we will not be able to meet the Better Payment Practice Code without a 
significant cash injection. 
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Emergency Care 

Unfortunately, we failed to meet the 4-hour standard in 2018/19, achieving a performance of 77.3 per cent 
(77.6 per cent 2017/18) against a target of 95 per cent.  Emergency Department attendances increased by 
6.2 per cent in 2018/19, placing considerable pressure on us.   

As a member of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland A&E Delivery Board, we are fully committed to 
working with our partners across the health and social care sectors to improve emergency care performance 
in 2019/20.  In particular, this will focus on reducing the substantial gap between current demand and 
capacity, which is the root cause of our on-going poor performance.  It is anticipated that this will be 
achieved by reducing patient flows to us, dealing with (particularly frail) patients more effectively at the front 
door, expanding medical bed capacity, improving internal processes to reduce avoidable delays and 
expediting discharges (especially those requiring multi-agency input).   

In parallel, we will continue to implement our internal action plan with a continued focus on (a) reducing 
demand; (b) improving ambulance handover performance; (c) improving patient flow through the Emergency 
Department; and (d) improving patient flow in and out of our hospitals.  Progress will continue to be the 
subject of monthly reporting to, and monitoring by, the People, Process and Performance Committee, acting 
on behalf of the Trust Board, as well as at the monthly meeting of the A&E Delivery Board. 

Our assessment is that the combined impact of the actions described above will enable us to improve our 
performance against the 4-hour standard in 2019/20, and we have set out our anticipated performance 
trajectory in our 2019/20 Annual Operational Plan. 

 

Cancer waiting time standards 

Our performance in 2018/19 against the cancer waiting time targets is set out below: 

Performance Indicator Target 2018/19 

Two week wait for an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer to 

date first seen for all suspected cancers 
93% or above 

91.9% 

Two week wait for Symptomatic Breast Patients (Cancer Not Initially 

Suspected) 
93% or above 

77.1% 

31-Day (Diagnosis To Treatment) Wait For First Treatment: All 

Cancers  
96% or above 

95.71% 

31-Day Wait For Second Or Subsequent Treatment: Anti-Cancer 

Drug Treatments  
98% or above 

99.5% 

31-Day Wait For Second Or Subsequent Treatment: Surgery  94% or above 85.9% 

31-Day Wait For Second Or Subsequent Treatment: Radiotherapy 

Treatments  
94% or above 

98.1% 

62-Day (Urgent GP Referral To Treatment) Wait For First Treatment: 

All Cancers  
85% or above 

75.8% 

62-Day Wait For First Treatment From Consultant Screening Service 

Referral: All Cancers  
90% or above 

83.5% 

Cancer waiting 104 days  0 27 

 

We are fully committed to improving our performance in this area in 2019/20 and, specifically, to ensure that 
at least 85 per cent of cancer patients begin their first treatment within 62 days of an urgent GP referral.  A 
comprehensive action plan is in place, with a series of targeted dates, to achieve this objective, with specific 
actions for each tumour site/cancer specialty.  We also continue to work with colleagues in primary care to 
both reduce demand and reduce late referrals, and in 2019/20 tertiary referral centres will carry out a root 
cause analysis if any patient is referred to the Trust after day 39.  Performance against the cancer waiting 
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time standards will continue to be the subject of monthly reporting to the People, Process and Performance 
Committee, acting on behalf of the Trust Board. 

 

Conclusion 

My review confirms that we, the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, have a generally sound system 
of internal control that supports the achievement of our policies, aims and objectives.  We recognise that the 
internal control environment can always be improved and strengthened, and a plan to address weaknesses 
and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

In 2018/19, we identified the following significant control issues which have impacted on our overall 
performance: 

 the incidence of never events; 

 non-delivery of the requirement to achieve financial break-even taking one year with another over a 
three year rolling period; 

 non-delivery of the national 4-hour standard; and 

 non-delivery of a number of the national cancer waiting time standards. 

In addition to the actions taken/ to be taken to address the specific significant control issues identified 
above, further work will also be carried out in the coming year to review and strengthen our governance, risk 
management, and internal control systems, policies and procedures as part of our commitment to 
continuous improvement.  During 2019/20 we will start to implement our Quality Strategy, “Becoming the 
Best”, which will provide a more comprehensive approach to quality improvement than has hitherto been 
the case, with a particular focus on consistent methodology and implementation as well as cultural and 
leadership issues.  I am confident that this new approach will help us to continue our journey to become an 
‘Outstanding’ organisation. 

 

Signed:  

 

Chief Executive (on behalf of the Trust Board) 

Date: 6 June 2019 
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Trust Board and Committee attendance 2018/19 
Name Trust Board 

maximum – 
18 

Audit 
Committee 
maximum – 6 

Finance and 
Investment 
Committee 
maximum - 12 

Quality and 
Outcomes 
Committee 
maximum  - 12 

People, Process and 
Performance 
Committee 
maximum  - 12 

Remuneration 
Committee 
maximum – 5 

Charitable 
Funds 
Committee 
maximum – 6 

Karamjit Singh – Chairman  16/18 N/A 10/12 
Ex-officio 

9/12 
Ex-officio 

10/12 
Ex-officio 

4/5 5/6 
Ex-officio 

Vicky Bailey – Non-Executive Director 14/18 N/A N/A 11/12 11/12 5/5 N/A 

Professor Philip Baker – Non-Executive 
Director  

13/18 N/A N/A 7/12 7/12 3/5 N/A 

Ian Crowe – Non-Executive Director   17/18 6/6 N/A 12/12 12/12 5/5 5/6 

Kiran Jenkins – Non-Executive Director 
(1) 

4/5 2/2 4/4 N/A 4/4 2/3 N/A 

Andrew Johnson – Non-Executive 
Director  

17/18 6/6 11/12 N/A 11/12 5/5 6/6 

Richard Moore – Non-Executive 
Director (2) 

10/13 4/4 5/8 N/A 2/8 3/5 N/A 

Ballu Patel – Non-Executive Director  17/18 N/A N/A 11/12 11/12 5/5 5/6 

Martin Traynor – Non-Executive 
Director 

17/18 5/6 12/12 N/A 12/12 5/5 N/A 

John Adler – Chief Executive  16/18 1/1 9/12 6/12 8/12 5/5 N/A 

Rebecca Brown – Chief Operating 
Officer (3) 

12/13 N/A 9/10 N/A 9/10 N/A N/A 

Andy Carruthers – Acting Chief 
Information Officer (4) 

1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Eileen Doyle – Interim Chief Operating 
Officer (5) 

5/5 N/A 2/2 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A 

Carolyn Fox – Chief Nurse (6) 7/7 N/A N/A 6/6 6/6 N/A 2/3 

Mr Andrew Furlong – Medical Director  16/18 N/A N/A 9/12 9/12 N/A N/A 

Darryn Kerr – Director of Estates and 
Facilities (7) 

1/1 N/A 9/12 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Bina Kotecha and Joanne Tyler-Fantom 
– Joint Acting Directors of Workforce 
and OD (8) 

6/6 N/A N/A N/A 4/4 2/2 N/A 

Eleanor Meldrum – Acting Chief Nurse 
(9) 

9/10 N/A N/A 5/6 4/6 N/A 0/2 

Julie Smith – Chief Nurse (10) 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
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Name Trust Board 
maximum – 
18 

Audit 
Committee 
maximum – 6 

Finance and 
Investment 
Committee 
maximum - 12 

Quality and 
Outcomes 
Committee 
maximum  - 12 

People, Process and 
Performance 
Committee 
maximum  - 12 

Remuneration 
Committee 
maximum – 5 

Charitable 
Funds 
Committee 
maximum – 6 

Louise Tibbert – Director of Workforce 
and OD (11) 

1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Paul Traynor – Chief Financial Officer 17/18 6/6 11/12 N/A 10/12 N/A 6/6 

Stephen Ward – Director of Corporate 
and Legal Affairs  

17/18 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 5/5 6/6 

Mark Wightman – Director of Strategy 
and Communications 

17/18 N/A 11/12 N/A N/A N/A 6/6 

Hazel Wyton – Director of People and 
OD (12) 

9/11 N/A N/A N/A 7/8 3/3 N/A 

 

Notes: 

(1) Non-Executive Director from 1 December 2018 

(2) Non-Executive Director until 30 November 2018 

(3) Chief Operating Officer from 25 June 2018 

(4) Acting Chief Information Officer from 5 March 2019 and invited to attend Trust Board meetings from March 2019 

(5) Interim Chief Operating Officer to 24 June 2018 

(6) Chief Nurse from 1 October 2018 

(7) Invited to attend Trust Board meetings from March 2019 

(8) Joint Acting Directors of Workforce and OD from 23 April 2018 to 31 July 2018 

(9) Acting Chief Nurse from 23 April 2018 to 30 September 2018 

(10) Chief Nurse until 20 April 2018 

(11) Director of Workforce and OD until 20 April 2018 

(12) Director of People and OD from 1 August 2018 
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Remuneration Report  
 
Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers – Salary 2018/19 (subject to audit)   

 

 

Name and Title

Salary Expense payments 

(taxable) 

Performance pay and 

bonuses

Long term 

performance pay and 

bonuses

All pension-related 

benefits

TOTAL 

(bands of £5,000)

£000

(to the nearest £100)

£

(bands of £5,000)

£000

(bands of £5,000)

£000

(bands of £2,500)

£000

(bands of £5,000)

£000

BOARD MEMBERS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

J Adler, Chief Executive 205-210 16,300* 0 0 82.5-85.0 300-305

E Doyle, Interim Chief Operating Officer (left 24th June 2018) 75-80 0 0 0 10.0-12.5 85-90

R Brown, Chief Operating Officer (from 25th June 2018) 130-135 0 0 0 187.5-190.0 320-325

P Traynor, Chief Finance Officer 185-190 0 0 0 0 185-190

J Smith, Chief Nurse (left 20th April 2018) 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

E Meldrum, Acting Chief Nurse (from 21st April to 30th September 2018) 95-100 0 0 0 102.5-105.0 200-205

C Fox, Chief Nurse (from 1st October 2018) 70-75 0 0 0 67.5-70.0 140-145

A Furlong, Medical Director 180-185 0 0 0 17.5-20.0 200-205

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

K Singh, Chairman 35-40 0 0 0 0 35-40

M Traynor, Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Colonel (retired) I Crowe, Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

A Johnson, Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Professor P Baker, Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

B Patel, Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

V Bailey, Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

R Moore, Non-Executive Director (left 30th November 2018) 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5

K Jenkins, Non-Executive Director (from 1st December 2018) 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5

SENIOR MANAGERS

S Ward, Director of Corporate & Legal Affairs 105-110 0 0 0 0 105-110

M Wightman, Director of Marketing and Communications 125-130 0 0 0 125.0-127.5 255-260

D Kerr, Director of Estates and Facilities (Salary is disclosed for full year. Individual became a Board member from 1st March 2019) 125-130 0 0 0 0 125-130

A Carruthers, Acting Chief Information Officer (Salary is disclosed for full year. Individual has acted up into Board Member post from 5th March 2019) 65-70 0 0 0 0 65-70

H Wyton, Director of People and Organisational Development (from 1st August 2018) 90-95 0 0 0 17.5-20.0 110-115

L Tibbert, Director of Workforce and Organisational Development (left 20th April 2018) 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

B Kotecha, Joint Acting Director of Workforce and Organisational Development (from 23rd April to 31 July 2018) 85-90 0 0 0 0.0-2.5 90-95

J Tyler-Fantom, Joint Acting Director of Workforce and Organisational Development (from 23rd April to 31 July 2018) 85-90 0 0 0 0.0-2.5 90-95

* The taxable benefits relate to train, car parking, council tax and rental payments
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Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers – Salary 2017/18 (subject to audit) 

 

 

The Trust has determined that the senior managers shown in the above table are the regular attendees at the Trust Board meetings. The Executive Medical 
Director – Andrew Furlong receives remuneration in his other capacity as a Consultant Trauma and Children’s Orthopaedic Surgeon banding (in £000) of 60-65 
included in the figure above.  There are no benefits in kind, performance related pay, nor severance payments (2017/18 - £nil) paid to any board member. 
  

Name and Title

Salary Expense payments 

(taxable) 

Performance pay and 

bonuses

Long term 

performance pay and 

bonuses

All pension-related 

benefits

TOTAL 

(bands of £5,000)

£000

(to the nearest £100)

£

(bands of £5,000)

£000

(bands of £5,000)

£000

(bands of £2,500)

£000

(bands of £5,000)

£000

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

J Adler, Chief Executive 205-210. 14,400* 0 0 12.5-15.0 230-235.

R Mitchell, Chief Operating Officer (left 30th June) 35-40. 0 0 0 82.5-85.0 120-125.

T Lynch, Interim Chief Operating Officer (from 3rd July 2017 left 31st Dec 2017 ) 100-105. 0 0 0 0 100-105.

E Doyle, Interim Chief Operating Officer (from 29th Nov 2017) 45-50. 0 0 0 20.0-22.5 65-70.

P Traynor, Chief Finance Officer 185-190. 0 0 0 0 185-190.

J Smith, Chief Nurse 140-145. 0 0 0 0 140-145.

A Furlong, Medical Director 180-185. 0 0 0 32.5-35.0 215-220.

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

K Singh, Chairman 35-40. 0 0 0 0 35-40.

M Traynor, Non-Executive Director 5-10. 0 0 0 0 5-10.

Colonel (retired) I Crowe, Non-Executive Director 5-10. 0 0 0 0 5-10.

R Moore, Non-Executive Director 5-10. 0 0 0 0 5-10.

A Johnson, Non-Executive Director 5-10. 0 0 0 0 5-10.

Professor P Baker, Non-Executive Director 5-10. 0 0 0 0 5-10.

B Patel, Non Executive Director 5-10. 0 0 0 0 5-10.

Dr S Crawshaw, Non-Executive Director (left 16th June) 0-5. 0 0 0 0 0-5.

V Bailey, Non- Executive Director (from 1st Feb) 0-5. 0 0 0 0 0-5.

SENIOR MANAGERS

S Ward, Director of Corporate & Legal Affairs 105-110. 0 0 0 5.0-7.5 115-120.

M Wightman, Director of Marketing and Communications 125-130. 0 0 0 17.5-20.0 145-150.

L Tibbert, Director of Workforce and Organisational Development 125-130. 0 0 0 0 110-115.

* The taxable benefits relate to train, car parking, council tax and rental payments
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Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers - Pension Benefits 2018/19 (subject to audit) 

  

J Smith, L Tibbert, and P Traynor are not members of the NHS Pension Scheme. 

As Non-Executive members, including the Chairman, do not receive pensionable remuneration there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive 
members. 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in 
time.  The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a 
pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their 
total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.  The CETV figures the other pension details, 
include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include 
any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs 
are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  CETVs are calculated in accordance with the 

Real Increase in 

accrued pension 

at pension age

Real Increase in 

lump sum at 

pension age

Accrued pension 

at pension age as 

at 31/03/19

Lump Sum at 

pension age as at 

31/03/19

CETV AS AT 

31/03/19

CETV AS AT 

31/03/18

Real increase in 

CETV

(bands of £2500)

£'000

(bands of £2500)

£'000

(bands of £5000)

£'000

(bands of £5000)

£'000
£'000 £'000 £'000

J Adler, Chief Executive 2.5-5.0 12.5-15.0 85-90 255-260 2,019 1,689 279

A Furlong, Medical Director 0-2.5 0 45-50 120.0-125.0 997 851 120

E Doyle, Interim Chief Operating Officer (left 24th June 2018) 0-2.5 0 10-15 20-25 194 122 16

S Ward, Director of Corporate & Legal Affairs 0 0 45-50 145-150 1,157 1,027 98

M Wightman, Director of Marketing and Communications 5.0-7.5 10.0-12.5 35-40 90-95 727 526 185

H Wyton, Director of People and Organisational Development (from 1st August 

2018)
0-2.5 2.5-5.0 15-20 55-60 434 342 55

R Brown, Chief Operating Officer (from 25th June 2018) 7.5-10.0 20.0-22.5 55-60 135-140 1,070 726 247

C Fox, Chief Nurse (from 1st October 2018) 2.5-5.0 5.0-7.5 40-45 120-125 841 618 102

E Meldrum, Acting Chief Nurse (from 23rd April to 30th September 2018) 5.0-7.5 15.0-17.5 40-45 125-130 957 616 142

D Kerr, Director of Estates and Facilities (Salary is disclosed for full year. Individual 

became a Board member from 1st March 2019).
0 0 55-60 150-155 1,177 1,065 7

A Carruthers, Acting Chief Information Officer (Salary is disclosed for full year. 

Individual has acted up into Board Member post from 5th March 2019)
0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 30-35 224 160 4

B Kotecha, Joint Acting Director of Workforce and Organisational Development 

(from 23rd April to 31 July 2018) 
0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 35-40 324 252 18

J Tyler-Fantom, Joint Acting Director of Workforce and Organisational Development 

(from 23rd April to 31 July 2018) 
0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 20-25 219 159 15

Name and Title
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Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfers Values) Regulation 2008.  Real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It 
takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from 
another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.  The factors used to calculate a CETV increased 
on 20 October 2018 which will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV. 

 

Directors and Senior Managers Remuneration  

We classify our Directors and Senior Managers as Very Senior Managers (VSM) these members of staff are deemed to be on a VSM payscale which is non agenda 
for change.  The remuneration of these individuals is set by our remuneration committee and each case is considered on an individual basis.  On an annual basis 
the remuneration committee decides on any pay uplift or pay award for VSM for the forthcoming year.  

 

Average number of employees (WTE basis) (subject to audit) 

 
  

2018/19 2017/18

Permanent Other Total Total

Number Number Number Number

Medical and dental 358 1,637 1,995 1,695 

Administration and estates 2,252 320 2,572 2,370 

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 1,254 53 1,307 1,330 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 3,403 339 3,742 3,592 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 2,027 - 2,027 1,851 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 1,884 91 1,975 1,847 

Other - 3 3 3 

Total average numbers 11,179 2,442 13,621 12,696 

Of which:

Number of employees (WTE) engaged on capital projects 25 2 27 27 
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Analysis of staff numbers  

The table below shows the staff (wte) composition by group.  

 

Staff Group 

Gender 

Female 
Number 

Male 
Number 

Total 
Number 

Scientific and Technic 324 100 424 

Clinical 2,057 331 2,388 

Administrative and Clerical 2,101 516 2,617 

Allied Health Professionals 472 165 638 

Estates and Ancillary 885 555 1,439 

Healthcare Scientists 265 178 443 

Medical and Dental 753 1071 1,824 

Nursing and Midwifery Registered 3,320 355 3,675 

Board Members 2 2 4 

Non-Executive Directors 2 6 8 

Senior Managers 1 4 5 

Students 1 0 1 

Grand Total 10,183 3,283 13,466 
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Exit Packages (subject to audit) 

 

 

 

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Scheme.  Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in 

the year of departure.  Where the NHS Trust has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the Trust and not by the NHS pension’s scheme. Ill-

health retirement costs are met by the NHS pension scheme and are not included in the table. This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages 

taken by staff leaving in the year. 
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Staff Report 
This chart shows the number of whole time equivalent (wte) staff employed by our organisation: 

 

2018/ 
19 

2017/ 
2018 

2016/ 
2017 

2015/ 
2016 

2014/ 
2015 

2013/ 
2014 

2012/ 
2013 

2011/ 
2012 

2010/ 
2011 

2009/ 
2010 

Medical and Dental 1,824 1,709 1,753 1,680 1,645 1,570 1,551 1,496 1,477 1,496 

Administration and 
Estates 

4,073 3,976 3,806 2,500 2,383 2,095 2,066 2,417 2,534 2,624 

Healthcare 
Assistants and other 
support staff 

2,389 2,291 2,224 2,042 2,044 1,955 1,811 1,710 1,781 1,882 

Registered Nursing 
and Midwifery 

3,675 3,567 3,548 3,547 3,531 3,345 3,230 3,195 3,168 3,091 

Scientific, 
Therapeutic and 
Technical 

1,504 1,455 1,378 1,306 1,272 1,201 1,202 1,210 1,210 1,328 

TOTAL 13,466 12,709 12,709 11,075 10,874 10,167 9,860 10,029 10,171 10,421 

 

Staff group by composition 

 
31st March 2019 31st March 2018 31st March 2017 

Gender Heads wte Heads wte Heads wte 

Female 12,345 10,183 11,892 9,807 11,533 9,566 
Male 3,666 3,283 3,537 3,191 3,450 3,143 

Grand Total 16,011 13,466 15,429 12,998 14983 12709 

 

Staff Costs (subject to audit) 

The table below shows an analysis of staff costs.  Employee charges are included in the social security costs 
and pension contributions. 

 
 

Off payroll engagements 

We had 40 relevant off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, for more than £220 per day and that last 
longer than six months.  

All off-payroll engagements have been subject to a risk based assessment and assurance has been sought as 
to whether the individual is paying the right amount of tax. 

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six 
months: 

Staff costs

2018/19 2017/18

Permanent Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Salaries and wages 517,156 - 517,156 492,251 

Social security costs 48,307 - 48,307 45,870 

Apprenticeship levy 2,500 - 2,500 461 

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 58,117 - 58,117 54,568 

Pension cost - other 69 - 69 36 

Termination benefits 104 - 104 151 

Temporary staff - 18,870 18,870 21,076 

Total gross staff costs 626,253 18,870 645,123 614,413 

Of which

Costs capitalised as part of assets 763 - 763 1,875 

Group
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    Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019 180 

Of which, the number that have existed: 
 

  for less than one year at the time of reporting 53 

  for between one and two years at the time of reporting 41 

  for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 19 

 for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 24 

 over 4 years at the time of reporting 43 

 

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £220 per day 
and that last longer than six months: 

    Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019; of which the number for whom: 

 

 
assurance has been requested 53 

 
assurance has been received 53 

 

Off-payroll engagements of board members and/ or senior officials with significant financial responsibility, 
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019.  

    Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year. 

0 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed “board 
members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial responsibility”, during 
the financial year. This figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll 
engagements.  

16 

 

Expenditure on consultancy 

We spent £0.8m on consultancy services. 

 

Pay multiples  

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid 
director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.  

The banded remuneration of our highest paid director in the financial year 2018/2019 was £205k-£210k 
(2017/18 £205k-£210k). This was 8.7 times (8.7 times in 2017/18) the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £23,591 (2017/18 £23,597).        

In 2018/19, three employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director (three employees 
in 2017/18). Remuneration across the Trust ranged from £7k-£294k (2017/18 £7k-£244k). 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind but not 
severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer 
value of pensions. For the purposes of this disclosure the remuneration of each employee is stated on an 
annualised, full time equivalent basis. 

Policy in relation to disabled employees  

It is our intention to value all staff, treating them fairly and equitably, providing real opportunities for people 
with a disability to join our organisation, be retained and to have equal access to training and development 
opportunities.  It is also our intention to support employees with disabilities and to ensure their retention in 
work, thereby enabling us to retain their skills and experience. 

We are committed to the ‘Positive about Disabled People’ initiative, this will include using the Disability ‘two 
ticks’ symbol on all job advertisements.  We guarantee an interview to anyone declaring a disability providing 
that they satisfy the minimum essential criteria for the post. 
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All staff have responsibilities to undertake all mandatory training and comply with this policy by: 

 Being aware of this policy and treating all individuals’ that have a disability with respect. 

 Attending training and awareness sessions offered and familiarising themselves with the contents of 
our Equality and Diversity web page. 

 

Modern Slavery Act 

We are committed to ensuring the absence of slavery in our organisation and supply chain. 

In line with the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act (MSA) which came into force in 2015; we continue 
to take the following actions: 

 On-going assessment of our contracts which have the highest risk of modern slavery; 

 Use of national MSA compliant supplier Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ); to support assurance 
that our suppliers comply with the MSA; 

 Inclusion of MSA clause in our standard terms and conditions. 

 

Reducing staff absence 

We recognise that staff are our most valuable resource.  The approach we took over the last year to reduce 
sickness absence goes hand in hand with promoting staff health and wellbeing.   

Managers are supported by Human Resources, Staff Engagement/ Health and Wellbeing Service, 
Occupational Health and AMICA (our confidential staff counselling and psychological support service) to 
manage sickness absence in line with our revised Trust policy and we support staff to attend work regularly 
or sustain a return to work following a period of absence.   

We recognise that there are many positives benefits from improving employee health and wellbeing; these 
include increased staff productivity, better morale and improved communication between teams.  This, in 
turn leads to better quality services, improved patient satisfaction and a decrease in staff turnover. 

Our sickness absence target is 3 per cent.  Absence rates have continued to be proactively managed 
throughout 2018/19 and these are reported retrospectively and an overall Trust sickness absence rate of 
3.42 per cent (excluding Estates and Facilities in view of under-reporting until systems are fully implemented) 
was reported for February 2019 against a 3 per cent Trust target; this is down by 0.24% in comparison to 
February 2018.  

Most days are lost due to Stress / Anxiety / Depression / other psychiatric illness (20.15 per cent) and 
Musculo Skeletal problems (9.90 per cent).   
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To support our staffs mental health, we committed to, and signed in September 2017, the ‘Time to Change’ 
pledge which is a national initiative run by the charities Mind and Rethink Mental Illness.  Its aim is to change 
how we think and act about mental health.  

Our pledge is “We pledge to create a culture where our staff feel they can openly discuss and manage their 
mental health and wellbeing.  We will raise awareness of the importance of mental health and wellbeing 
at work, encourage staff to share their experience to break down stigma”.  

We have recruited 89 Time to Change champions across our services and with the champions have agreed a 
programme of work that was endorsed by the Trust Board in February 2019, including line managers training, 
senior leadership champions, use of Wellness Action Plans, Mental Health First Aid training at all levels, 
sharing experiences/ case studies and promoting best practice.  

We have also improved access to fast track physiotherapy for our staff through a self-referral process, in 
order for them to receive early intervention to avoid or reduce sickness absence.   

The highest sickness rates are in ‘Other clinical support and qualified nursing’ staff groups.  Admin and 
clerical staff are also above our target of 3 per cent.  

 
 

We have planned the following actions to reduce sickness absence and improve Staff Health and Wellbeing: 

 Absences recorded using the in-house ‘SMART Absence’ tool which facilitates reporting of absences 
and ensures structured Return to Work discussions are held, prompts Occupational Health referrals , 
Stress Risk Assessments and further support;  

 Embedding Time to Change through line managers training to ‘manage’ mental health, Wellness 
Action Plans, Mental Health First Aid training, learning from staff stories, sharing good practice and 
materials from Time to Change website; 

 Implementation of the health and well-being strategy with a focus on a different area each month.  

 

Signed:  

Chief Executive (on behalf of the Trust Board) 

Date: 6 June 2019 
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Overview 

This section of the report provides an overview of our performance against key national standards, as well as 
our annual priorities and Quality Commitment for 2018/19. 

Emergency care and winter: Overall, our winter plan worked better than in recent years, with good attention 
to detail and more capacity.  This was despite very significant increases in demand, e.g. a 10.6 per cent 
increase in emergency attendances in February 2019 compared to February 2018.  Our performance on 
ambulance handovers was also much improved but not always where we would want it to be. 

Part of our winter plan was to open some additional capacity to help with bed pressures.  We opened two 
wards at the Royal infirmary and a ward at the Glenfield, and whilst we plan to decrease the additional bed 
capacity over the summer months we will be keeping one ward open for medicine at the Royal Infirmary 
throughout the year and then flexing up additional capacity for winter again.  

Despite these improvements, our performance against the 4-hour standard was well below target; having 
said that, our relative performance compared to other Trusts improved significantly. 

Cancer care: We clearly have more to do to improve the care for cancer patients, and we know the services 
where we see the most challenge and are working with them to decrease the number of steps in patients 
pathways to ensure that patients are diagnosed and treated as quickly as possible.  We have also seen great 
progress in the ‘Living with and beyond Cancer’ team who play such an essential role to our patients and 
their families in providing support and education.  We remain proud of our increased focus and 
achievements in cancer care and are committed to doing more in 2019/20. 

Electives – We have made positive strides throughout the year for patients waiting for planned treatment.  
The central target was to meet national planning guidance and have a waiting list size at the end of March 
2019 that was less than March 2018.  Subject to final validation, we have managed to achieve this with 200 
fewer patients on the waiting list for planned care.  

Key to achieving this were positive changes to the cancellations policy, including a more robust escalation 
process and protecting planned operations for long waiting patients.  Over the course of the year, 147 fewer 
patients were cancelled on the day for non-clinical reasons and 1,371 fewer patients cancelled prior to the 
day of their operation.  This allowed us to reduce the number of patients waiting more than 18 weeks for 
planned treatment by 541 in 12 months - working with the independent sector this year has helped with that 
progress.  As demand rises, the challenge for us remains to have the available capacity to treat these 
patients.  

Over the winter of 2018/19 we maintained more elective care than in 2017/18.  As a result we were able to 
avoid any patients waiting over 52 weeks since July 2018.  This remains a key quality standard nationally, and 
will remain priority for us throughout 2019/20. 

We saw an increase in 2 week wait referrals for Endoscopy this year, and an increased demand for MRI and 
CT – all of which presented us with a challenging start to the year for our diagnostic services.  Positive 
changes to the way we manage capacity within the services has led to us being able to deliver the diagnostic 
DM01 standard from September 2018 onwards and we expect to continue it through to the end of the 
2018/19 financial year.  

Infection prevention: Whilst we should be aiming to have zero cases of MRSA, we have had fewer cases in 
this financial year than in previous years (only 2) and we were under our target for CDiff – 57 cases/ target no 
more than 61.  This was a very considerable achievement given service pressures and increasing patient 
numbers.   

A clear challenge this year was the identification of carbapenem resistant organisms (CROs) in a number of 
Leicester patients.  CROs are bacteria that are typically resistant to a wide range of antibiotics, especially 
carbapenem’s, an antibiotic class that is often relied on for treatment of infections when other antibiotics are 
ineffective.  We have a very stringent approach to infection prevention and the Infection Prevention team 
took swift measures to ensure that this organism did not spread any further and as patients were treated 
and discharged we began a thorough process of deep cleaning and disinfection of the wards with hydrogen 
peroxide vapour to eliminate any trace of the bacteria. 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

41 

Never Events: NHS Improvement defines Never Events as serious, largely preventable patient safety 
incidents that should not occur if the available preventative measures have been implemented, although a 
recent CQC report suggests that system issues and human factors are the principle reasons for their 
occurrence.  In 2018/19, we reported eight incidents (less than 2017/18) which met the definition of a Never 
Event.  

We thoroughly investigate each event to understand exactly what happened and we review national 
Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch reports to understand the wider system issues.  Every Never Event is 
discussed at our monthly Chief Executive’s Briefings and we provide an action plan and learning bulletin for 
each event.  Patients and/ or their families were informed of the subsequent investigations and involved 
throughout the process and learning is shared with staff.  We share the learning from these incidents locally, 
regionally and nationally and have also heard the patient’s story of such an event at the public Trust Board 
meeting. 

We continue to see a good track record of staff reporting incidents and pleasingly the trend of serious 
incidents is down. 

SHMI: In March the latest published SHMI mortality data (from November 2017 to October 2018) was 
published.  The SHMI is the ratio between the actual number of patients who die following hospitalisation at 
the Trust and the number that would be expected to die on the basis of average England figures, given the 
characteristics of the patients treated there. 

Our SHMI is currently at 99, which is within the expected threshold.  We have continued to review pathways 
of care for any patient or diagnostic groups with a SHMI above 100 in order to identify any areas for learning 
or improvement as part of our Quality Commitment programme.  We have also made excellent progress with 
implementing our Learning from Deaths programme and specifically our Medical Examiner process which will 
become a national requirement from 1st April 2019. 

Success for patients with a broken hip: A clear success this year, and marked improvement for our patients 
is the work around improving the speed in which we treat patients with a broken hip - Fractured Neck of 
Femur, or also called #NOF.   

In June 2018 our #NOF service was labelled as failing due to inconsistency in the way we treated that group 
of patients and our inability to get more than 72 per cent of these patients operated on within the first 36 
hours.  There is national evidence that the sooner a patient is treated the better the outcome and the 
greater the delay, the greater the mortality and morbidity. 

We knew we needed a different approach so brought together key clinical leads from all of the specialties 
involved in the care of these patients and between them they developed a new approach to care.  
Fundamental to this was the message that these patients should be treated as emergencies moving 
concentration away from the ‘36 hour target’. The team reorganised existing resources and developed 
capacity. 

The outcome is that in the seven months from August 2018 to February 2019 we have consistently been 
above 72 per cent - with a year to date average of 74 per cent (target 72 per cent).  We have assured our 
regulators that we have a grip on this standard and a contract ban placed on us over two years ago and 
earlier this year that was lifted.  More importantly this group of patients are being operated on in a more 
timely way which means they can mobilise more quickly and go home sooner. 

 

 

John Adler 
Chief Executive 
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Key Performance Measures  

For the Trust Board to assure itself that key performance measures are being met they review monthly at 
Trust Board meetings a performance report and the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) – both are accessible 
on our website in our monthly Trust Board papers.   

CQUINS, national performance standards, annual priorities incorporating our Quality Commitment are also 
key performance measures monitored by the Trust Board, and detail on achievements in year can be found 
throughout this report: national performance standards pages 42-32; CQUINS (below) page 44; annual 
priorities from pages 55 and our Quality Commitment pages 57-59.  The Corporate Governance Report, 
pages 13-26, identifies risks and uncertainty and how these are mitigated. 

 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework (CQUINS) 

The CQUIN payment framework aims to support a cultural shift towards making quality the organising 
principle of the Trust, by embedding quality at the heart of commissioner–provider discussions.  It is an 
important lever, supplementing Quality Accounts to ensure that local quality improvement priorities are 
discussed and agreed at board level within, and between organisations.  

A proportion of our income in 2018/19 was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation 
goals through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework (CQUINS).  The current 
CQUIN scheme ran for two years (2017-19) with aim to improve quality of outcomes for patients.  

For 2018/19 we had five mandated national CQUINS which each had a minimum weighting of £1,110,865; 
ten NHS England Specialised CQUINS with a total value of £5,651,842 and four locally agreed CQUINS, to 
support the development of Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STPs), each with weighting of 
£1,376,082.  

The combined 2018/19 CQUIN schemes were worth 2.5 per cent of our contract value, which equates to 
£16,660,494. 

Further details of the agreed goals for 2017/18 and for the following 12 month period are available 
electronically via the NHS England website. 

We did not fully meet the targets set for three of the national CQUINS: Improving staff health and wellbeing, 
reducing the impact of serious infection and preventing ill health through risky behaviours.  Similarly two of 
the NHS England Specialised CQUINS were only partially met: Hepatitis C Network and Haemophilia 
Haemtrack.  We expect to fully meet the local STP CQUINS. 

 

Organisational Structure 

In 2013 our organisation changed its internal structure to seven Clinical Management Groups that are 
supported by a number of corporate directorates. 

The Clinical Management Groups are: 

• Cancer, Haematology, GI Medicine and Surgery (CHUGGS) 
• Emergency and Specialist Medicine (ESM) 
• Musculoskeletal and Specialist Surgery (MSS) 
• Clinical Support and Imaging (CSI) 
• Renal, Respiratory and Cardiovascular, (RRCV) 
• Theatres, Anaesthesia, Pain and Sleep, (ITAPS) 
• Women’s and Children’s (W&C) 

The corporate directorates are: 

• Corporate Medical 
• Corporate Nursing 
• Corporate Operations 
• Finance 
• People and Organisational Development 
• Estates and Facilities 
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• Strategy and Communications 
• Information Management and Technology 
• Corporate and Legal Affairs 

Each Clinical Management Group has the support of finance, human resource lead, patient safety, medical 
education, research, and transformation leads to support the running of their “business”. 

Each Clinical Management Group is led by a Clinical Director, a Head of Nursing (senior nurse) and Head of 
Operations (manager).  They all report monthly to the Chief Operating Officer and the Clinical Directors are 
members of the Executive Boards that meet weekly under the leadership of the Chief Executive. 

 

Sustainability Report 

Our Estates and Facilities Teams are committed to implementing sustainability across a diverse range of 
services including procurement.  This direction is reinforced within the revised Estates and Facilities 5-Year 
Strategy, and Development Control Plans 2019.  The plans outline the project designs and associated 
deliverables, to implement an effective sustainable environment.  This will give the foundation for our future, 
ensuring our commitment to “providing a sustainable, safe and welcoming environment, where clinical care 
of the highest standard can be delivered”.  

We have chair representation of the Energy and Sustainability Group; a forum that will provide technical and 
statutory guidance in support of our Sustainability Development Management Plan.  

The Technical Compliance Team have advised and promoted elements of sustainability. This has ensured new 
projects; new works and refurbishments incorporate the most effective, “Low Carbon Technology” available 
within limited resources.  

We completed and submitted the various statutory annual reports as listed below.   

a) Estates Return Information Collection (ERIC)  

b) Property Assurance Model Report (PAM)  

c) European Union Emissions Trading Scheme (EUETS)  

d) Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC)  

e) Combined Heat and Power Quality Assurance (CHPQA)  

Energy and Sustainability Projects  

During 2018/19 the Estates and Facilities have successfully built/refurbished and commissioned the following  

a)  Mortuary reconfiguration upgrade (Royal Infirmary)  

b) Commissioned a replacement heating boiler (Glenfield)   

c) Built and commissioned 28 bed winter pressure ward (Glenfield) 

d) Installed and commissioned a new Water treatment plant for the Renal Dialysis Unit (General) 

All the above included the use of “Low Carbon Technology” and the incorporation energy efficient 
management strategies.  They included LED lighting (currently additional external funding is being sourced), 
Variable Speed Drives, High Efficiency Pumps and Motors, Building Management Systems, insulation and 
boilers.  The adoption of good working practices and housekeeping is actively promoted.  Resources have 
concentrated on planning the delivery of the three additional roof top wards, Interventional Radiology unit 
and the Adult Intensive Care Unit at the Glenfield. Also the development of the relocation plans for the 
Congenital Heart Unit to the Royal Infirmary.  The enabling works have started with an expected beneficial 
clinical use during 2020.  
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Heating and Power  

This period the CHP units have improved their availability as they have been fine tuned to the sites demand. 

1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019 Royal Infirmary Glenfield Hospital Total 

CHP gas used 34,298,744 14,979,576 49,278,320 

CHP Elec Generated 13,199,304 5,684,845 18,884,149 

CHP Heat Generated 7,996,000 5,664,000 13,660,000 

Est. CO2 Saving 1,985 1,329 3,314 

Hours run 8,048 7,500 15,548 

Est. Cost Saving £479,611 £263,901 £743,513 

Est. Cost Saving/hr £59.59 £35.19 £47.82 

 

The table and graphs below indicate that our fuel mix has changed to be more efficient.  Grid electricity has 
reduced; gas has increased as the CHP units have performed to a higher level.  This has reduced our overall 
emissions.  The data takes account of an increase in patient activity/ demand for your services, poor winter 
conditions, and the increase cost in utilities from our suppliers.   

One of the objectives within our Sustainable Management Development Plan (SDMP) is a 28 per cent 
reduction in direct CO2 emissions to our 2012/13 baseline by 2020.  This is deemed to be achievable with a 3 
per cent reduction target of our 2018/19 emissions.  

Description Gas Grid Electricity Totals Cost 
CO2 

Emissions 
CO2 

Emissions 

Year Usage (KWh) Usage (KWh) (KWh) Costs (£) (Tonnes) (CRC Cost) 

2006/07 116,873,611 29,357,222 146,230,833 £5,252,319 37,531 N/A 

2007/08 99,831,667 30,681,111 130,512,778 £4,403,428 35,090 N/A 

2008/09 109,781,944 33,822,222 143,604,167 £7,320,137 38,633 N/A 

2009/10 93,697,272 36,426,819 130,124,091 £5,136,734 36,910 N/A 

2010/11 96,694,476 39,489,130 136,183,606 £5,282,765 39,236 N/A 

2011/12 85,673,210 42,535,080 128,208,289 £6,479,603 38,881 £376,571 

2012/13 86,601,762 46,390,022 132,991,784 £7,223,638 41,334 £404,539 

2013/14 83,164,032 48,522,097 131,686,129 £7,995,022 40,724 £400,777 

2014/15 92,086,201 38,205,678 130,291,879 £7,072,683 36,950 £281,979 

2015/16 101,496,587 32,832,008 134,328,594 £6,390,731 36,138 £291,598 

2016/17 110,655,067 29,972,229 140,627,296 £5,485,501 33,707 £281,694 

2017/18 111,562,261 31,665,782 143,228,042 £6,344,521 32,567 £313,497 

2018/19 113,912,142 31,596,864 145,509,006 £7,063,903 30,548 £287,704 

2019/20 
3% 

110,494,778 30,648,958 141,143,736 £7,487,737 29,631 N/A 

2020/21 
2% 

107,179,935 29,729,489 136,909,424 £7,937,001 28,743 N/A 

2021/22 
2% 

103,964,537 28,837,605 132,802,141 £8,413,222 27,880 N/A 

Annual 
Change 

-2,349,882 68,918 -2,280,964 -£719,382 2,019 £25,793 

% age 
change 

-2.11% 0.22% -1.59% -11.34% 6.20% 8.23% 

2012/13 
Change 

-27,310,380 14,793,158 -12,517,222 £159,735 10,786 N/A 

% age 
change 

-32% 31.89% -9% 2.21% 26.09% N/A 

Note: TBA is for future data which have a large reliance on many variables, but predominantly 
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1. Consumption of power and or gas depends on activity, weather and the availability of the CHP units 
– just for volume. 

2. Cost of the utilities as commodity and non-commodity which is made up of several components plus 
the activity on the site and the CHP unit’s availability.  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Travel Management 

Our approach to transport is to provide a mixture of sustainable travel options along with parking facilities 
for those that need.  The following list provides some of the main initiatives: 

 At the end of 2018 we appointed an outside consultant to work with us on an updated Travel Plan.  
The Travel Plan will set out our strategy for reducing dependency on the private car while facilitating 
and encouraging travel by healthier more sustainable modes.  In tandem with promoting alternative 
modes of transport the plan will aim look at car park provision; 

 The Travel Plan will also look at footfall changes over the next five to seven years and the associated 
transport/travel impact of these changes; 

 All alternative travel modes are promoted throughout the Trust including Park and Ride Services; 

 The new patient and visitor multi-storey car park which opened on 1 February 2016 includes over 430 
additional spaces which incorporate 21 disabled bays; 

 The main surface level car park at the Royal Infirmary has a dedicated drop off and pick up area; 

 We offer a variety of saver tickets for patients and prime carers; 

April May June July August September October November December January February March

2017/18 2,851,640 3,084,528 2,958,286 2,938,402 2,515,834 2,481,744 2,539,951 2,403,722 2,455,758 2,528,783 2,347,905 2,536,803

2018/19 2,540,950 2,519,825 2,611,810 3,062,659 2,654,082 2,379,491 2,874,178 2,667,567 2,541,331 2,794,624 2,293,366 2,656,981

CHP + Grid 18/19 4,026,608 4,183,528 4,249,537 4,550,561 4,235,009 3,799,051 4,400,790 4,380,540 4,172,795 4,283,937 3,899,514 4,299,143
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UHL Electricity Consumption April 18 - March 2019 

Apr May June July August September October November December January February March

2017/18 8,257,417 7,318,771 5,897,925 6,042,802 6,773,683 7,639,521 8,832,595 10,203,326 13,024,590 12,998,109 12,554,480 12,019,041

2018/19 10,722,546 8,979,580 6,561,068 5,484,767 6,561,990 7,360,605 9,422,148 10,794,520 11,185,818 14,232,095 11,090,924 11,516,081

less CHP gas 18/19 6,883,969 4,576,936 2,480,101 1,769,149 2,606,750 3,778,347 5,598,302 6,478,752 5,951,947 10,193,928 6,979,442 7,336,199
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UHL Gas Consumption -   April 2018 -  March 2019 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2017/18 2,605 2,521 2,212 2,231 2,204 2,350 2,592 2,791 3,329 3,352 3,202 3,176

2018/19 2,743 2,417 2,001 1,941 2,014 2,077 2,606 2,795 2,829 3,465 2,736 2,924

CHP saving removed 18/19 3,020 2,682 2,281 2,165 2,261 2,352 2,887 3,126 3,048 3,746 3,047 3,247

CHP EST CO2 Saving 277 265 280 224 247 275 281 330 220 281 311 322
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Comparative Emissions - UHL NHS Trust - April 2018 - March 2019 
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 We are working with the police to promote security of cycles; 

 We are working with the city council and Sustrans to promote with cycle surgeries across all three 
sites; 

 We continue to promote the Cycle to Work scheme i.e. purchasing a bike through salary sacrifice; 

 We have reviewed staff parking arrangements reissuing permits based upon a new criteria that 
focuses on work related travel; 

 We continue to audit car parks and the use of the car parks using access data as and when available; 

 We continually review the issuing of parking permits; 

 Our Hospital Hopper service continues to carry over 12,000 people a week across Leicester and 
between the three hospital sites. 
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Complaints 

Complaints are a vital source of information about the views of our patients, families and carers about the quality of our services and standards of our care. 
Leicester’s Hospitals Patient Information and Liaison service (PILS) administer all formal complaints and concerns.  General Practitioner (GP) concerns received 
from the Clinical Commissioning Groups are now managed by our GP Services team. 

Leicester’s Hospitals Patient Information and Liaison Service (PILS) administer all formal complaints and concerns.  Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 we 
received 2,270 formal complaints and 1,167 concerns. 
The table below shows the top five themes of formal complaints received by the Clinical Management Groups from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019; 

The top five subjects account for 1,721 (76 per cent) of the 2,270 formal complaints we received 

Table showing top 5 subjects of formal complaints by CMG for 2018/19 

Top 5 Primary Subjects of Formal 
Complaints by CMG 

2018/19 Financial year 

CMG 1 
(CHUGGS) 

CMG 2 
(RRCV) 

CMG 3 
(ESM) 

CMG 4 
(ITAPS) 

CMG 5 
(MSK & SS) 

CMG 6 
(CSI) 

CMG 7 
(W&C) 

The 
Alliance 

Corporate 
Directorates 

Total 

Medical Care 137 53 113 19 149 13 81 18 0 583 

Waiting times 50 28 63 11 138 35 10 14 3 352 

Appointments including delays & 
cancellations 22 24 48 15 121 17 28 32 2 309 

Staff attitude 31 18 72 6 47 35 39 11 14 273 

Communication 43 26 56 7 23 12 28 3 6 204 

Top 5 total:  283 149 352 58 478 112 186 78 25 1,721 

Overall total: 370 194 540 69 541 168 238 83 67 2,270 

Top 5 total as % of overall total: 76% 77% 65% 84% 88% 67% 78% 94% 37% 76% 

Note: The top five subjects account for 1,642 (75 per cent) of the 2,175 formal complaints we received. 

Leicester’s Hospitals has achieved 90 per cent, 92 per cent and 90 per cent for the 10, 25 and 45 day formal complaints performance respectively.  

 

IMPROVED COMPLAINT HANDLING 

Throughout the year we have continued to participate in the Independent Complaints Review Panel process.  This panel reviews a sample of complaints and 
reports back on what was handled well and what could have been done better. This feedback which is used for reflection and learning included:  

 Improved PILS call handling and drafting of responses using plain English.  The PILS team now receive monthly one to one coaching sessions to include a 
review of a telephone call. 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

50 

 Better, and more timely, local management and resolution of complaints.  Staff training and education has been included in the patient safety training 
programme packages. 

 The need to reduce the amount of medical jargon used.  The PILS team are encouraged to mirror the language and terminology used by the complainant to 
provide the most appropriately worded responses. 

This year to improve our complaints process and handling of cases we have: 

 Changed from a paper to an electronic triage process; 

 Updated our PILS patient information leaflet; 

 Ensured consent within the complaints process is in line with best practice and national guidance. 

In 2019/20, our plan is to carry out the following work in relation to complaints handling: 

 Develop an electronic complaint satisfaction survey; 

 Launch our complaints intermediate training programme; 

 Assist the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman with their development of a good practice framework with regard to complaints. 

 

RE-OPENED COMPLAINTS 

Number of formal complaints received and number reopened by quarter from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2019 

 

Formal complaints 
received 

Formal complaints 
reopened 

% resolved at first 
response 

2017/18 Q1 381 46 88% 

2017/18 Q2 475 51 89% 

2017/18 Q3 487 32 93% 

2017/18 Q4 522 68 87% 

Totals: 1,865 197  

2018/19 Q1 534 42 92% 

2018/19 Q2 592 45 92% 

2018/19 Q3 550 59 89% 

2018/19 Q4 594 57 90% 

Totals: 2,270 203  

The number and rate of formal complaints that are resolved at first response are both subject to change at any time.  This is due to a complainant being able to 

reopen the same complaint at any time even if it is a year after closure if they feel that their complaint has not been resolved by the initial response.  This data is 

accurate at the time of reporting (20/05/19). 
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Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman 

This year we have again had less upheld cases by the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman, further details are provided below. 

Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman complaints - April 2016 to March 2019 

 
2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 Total 

Enquiry only - no investigation 6 1 4 11 

Investigated - not upheld 3 7 12 22 

Investigated - fully upheld   1 1 

Investigated - partially upheld 2 3 3 8 

Complaint withdrawn   1 1 

No decision made yet 4   4 

Total 15 11 21 47 

 

Patient Information and Liaison Service (PILS) 

Feedback from our patients, their families and carers gives us a valuable opportunity to review our services and make improvements.  Our Patient Information and 
Liaison Service is an integral part of the corporate patient safety team and acts as a single point of contact for members of the public who wish to raise complaints, 
concerns, and compliments or have a request for information.  

The service is responsible for co-ordinating the process and managing the responses once the investigations and updates are received from relevant services or 
individuals.  They are contactable by a free phone telephone number, email, website, in writing or in person. 

 

PILS activity (formal complaints, verbal complaints, requests for information and concerns)  

by financial year - April 2012 to March 2019 

 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 

Formal complaints 2,270 1,865 1,445 1,558 

Verbal complaints 493 840 1,152 1,449 

Requests for information 113 140 318 439 

Concern (excludes CCG & GP) 1,167 1,139 1,284 757 

Total 4,043 3,984 4,199 4,203 

% change of Total against previous year 
1% 

decrease 

5% 

decrease 

0.1% 

increase 

10% 

increase 
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Freedom of information 

The Freedom of Information (FOI) Act was passed on 30 November 2000, and the full Act came into force on 1 January 2005.  The Act applies to all public 
authorities including us.  

The purpose of the Act is to allow anyone, no matter who they are, to ask whether information on a particular subject is held by us and to ask to see that 
information.  The Act sets out exemptions from that right, covering any information that may not have to be released. 

In 2018/19, we received 715 Freedom of Information requests and/ or requests for environmental information, an increase of 5 per cent compared to 682 in 
2017/18.  We responded to 96.9 per cent of these requests within the statutory 20 working-day deadline. 

Many of these requests contained multiple individual questions, with information needing to be obtained from more than one clinical or corporate area of our 
organisation – this amounted to 1,183 instances where areas had to provide information (compared to 1,093 instances in 2017/18).  

The table overleaf shows the number of times that different areas had to provide information during the year to respond to those 715 FOI requests.  

Some information (such as Trust Board papers, and policies and guidelines) is already publicly available on our FOI publication scheme – you can find this on our 
website in the Freedom of Information section. 
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Freedom of Information/Environmental Information Regulation requests received between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 
split by Clinical Management Group (CMG)/ Corporate Directorate 

Area Number of times asked to 
provide FOI data in 2018-19 

Approx % of overall 2018-19 FOI activity (in 
terms of times needing to provide 
information)  

Finance and Procurement 155 13.1% 

Operations 133 11.2% 

Clinical Support and Imaging CMG 123 10.3% 

Human Resources 117 9.8% 

Corporate Nursing 92 7.7% 

Women’s and Children’s CMG 91 7.7% 

IM&T 83 7% 

Corporate Medical 66 5.6% 

Cancer, Haematology, Urology, Gastroenterology and General Surgery CMG 65 5.5% 

Musculoskeletal and Specialist Surgery CMG 50 4.2% 

Emergency and Specialist Medicine CMG 48 4.1% 

Facilities & Estates 44 3.7% 

Corporate & Legal 39 3.3% 

Renal, Respiratory,  CardioVascular CMG 29 2.5% 

Critical Care, Theatres, Anaesthesia, Pain and Sleep CMG 22 1.9% 

Strategy 17 1.4% 

Marketing and Communications 4 0.3% 

Research and Innovation 4 0.3% 

The Alliance 1 0.1% 

Total  1183  

Please note that some requests required a response from all/multiple clinical and corporate areas, which is why the numbers shown above (which add up to 1183 times that areas 
had to provide information) are higher than the total of 715 requests received.  

 

Signed:  

Chief Executive (on behalf of the Trust Board)      Date: 6 June 2019
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Achievements against our Annual 

Priorities, including  

our Quality Commitment 
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Our priorities for 2018/19 

 

 

 

This is what we were focusing on during 2018/19: 

 

 

 

 
Safe, High Quality, Patient-Centred, Efficient Care 

• To improve clinical effectiveness 
• To improve patient safety 
• To improve patient experience 

Improve Emergency Care and Cancer Performance: 
• We will eliminate all but clinical 4-hour breaches for non-admitted patients in ED 
• We will resolve the problem of evening and overnight deterioration in ED 

performance 
• We will ensure timely 7 days a week availability of medical beds for emergency 

admissions 
• We will deliver the 62-day standard for cancer during 2018/19. 

 

 Our People  

We will have the right people with the right skills in the right numbers in order to deliver 
the most effective care in 2018/19… 
• We will develop a sustainable 5-year workforce plan by the end of Q1 2018/19, with 

a delivery plan to reduce our nursing and medical vacancy rates and reduce time to 
hire 

• We will launch our People Strategy in Q1 2018/19 to attract, recruit and retain a 
workforce that reflects our local communities across all levels of the Trust, with a 
specific focus on meeting the Workforce Race Equality Standards 

 

 Education and Research  

To deliver high quality, relevant education and research in 2018/19… 
• We will improve the experience of our medical students and address specialty-

specific shortcomings in postgraduate medical education, improving our local 
retention rate and our medical student satisfaction score 

• We will explore the model  for an Academic Health Sciences Partnership as part of 
our 5-year Research Strategy and align priorities with our local universities 

 

 

 

 

 

Partnerships and Integration  

To develop more integrated care in partnership with others in 2018/19… 
• We will integrate the new model of care for frail people with partners in other parts 

of health and social care in order to deliver an end to end pathway by the end of 
2018/19 

• We will increase the support, education and specialist advice we offer to our patients 
and our partners to help them receive/deliver care in the community in order to 
reduce demand on our hospitals 

• We will lead the development of a 5 year regional Specialist Services Strategy which 
will place us at the heart of a regional network and supporting local District General 
Hospital services  
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Key Strategic Enablers 

To progress our key strategic enablers in 2018/19… 

• We will progress our hospital reconfiguration plans by developing our plans for PACH 
and the maternity hospital and finalising plans to relocate Level 3 ICU and dependant 
services at the Royal and Glenfield 

• We will make progress towards a paperless hospital with user-friendly systems by 
replacing all computers over 5 years old, computerising services to outpatient clinics, 
using technology to support Quality Commitment objectives and implementing an in-
house digital imaging solution in 2018/19 

• We will deliver the Year 3 implementation plan for the ‘UHL Way’ to support and 
develop staff, (medical and non-medical) and offer tailored education programmes 
focussing on key areas  

• We will implement Year 2 of our Commercial Strategy in order to exploit commercial 
opportunities available to the Trust 

• We will improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our key services and our 
operating theatres and implement our Carter-based LLR corporate consolidation 
programme 

• We will continue on our journey towards financial stability as a consequence of the 
priorities described here, aiming to deliver our financial target in 2018/19. 
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Safe, High Quality, Patient-Centred, Efficient Care 
 

Quality: our 2018/19 Quality Commitment 
For 2018/19 we set the following three priorities as a part of our Quality Commitment 
and to deliver our annual priority Safe, High Quality, Patient-Centred, Efficient Care: 

 To improve patient outcomes by greater use of key clinical systems and care pathways; 

 To reduce harm by embedding a ‘safe culture’; 

 To use patient feedback to drive improvement to services and care. 

 

Review of our performance against last year’s clinical quality priorities: 

We said we would:  

Improve patient outcomes by greater use of key clinical systems and care pathways 
 

In 2018/19 we: 

 Continued to embed the use of our electronic clinical information system Nervecentre for clinical 
handovers, in board rounds and ward rounds and in the escalation of clinical care 

 Ensured that senior clinician led daily rounds (board rounds and ward rounds) take place daily in all 
clinical areas 

 Embedded our Red2Green processes (Red2Green is a process for minimising both internal and 
external delays for patients) 

 Ensured that our frail patients have a Clinical Frailty Score (a score which can identify whether a 
person in likely to be fit or living with mild, moderate or severe frailty) 

 

Results: (as at quarter 3) 

 Clinical Management Groups (CMGs) report that: 
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o Red2Green processes are followed in 90% of applicable clinical areas across Leicester’s Hospitals 

o Senior clinician led daily rounds take place in 80% of clinical areas across Leicester’s Hospitals 

 We have embedded the use of a Clinical Frailty Score in our Emergency Department 
 

Further improvements we need to make are: 

 Rolling out the use of the Clinical Frailty Score throughout the rest of Leicester’s Hospitals  

 Continuing to embed senior clinical daily rounds across Leicester’s Hospitals 
 

We said we would:  

Reduce harm by embedding a ‘Safety Culture’ 
 

In 2018/19 we: 

 Developed our electronic patient information systems to enable clinical staff to view and act on 
patient diagnostic results in a timely way 

 Provided training and education to empower our staff to ‘Stop the Line’ in  clinical areas (an 
approach that allows staff to “Stop the Line” if they see something unsafe) 

 Improved the management of diabetic patients who are being treated with insulin, through better 
staff education and training, systems and process and information management technology 

 

Results: (as at quarter 3) 

 8 Never Events (compared to 8 Never Events in 2017/18) 

 581 staff trained in ‘Stop the Line’  

 82 % of nursing and midwifery staff and 61% of medical staff have undertaken insulin safety training 

 Reduced the number of patients experiencing an insulin error (prescribing or management) from 
25.6% in quarter 1 to 22.8% in quarter 3 

 

Further improvements we need to make are: 

 Rolling out the mobile version of ICE (an electronic requesting and ordering communications 
system) across Leicester’s Hospitals 

 Continuing to reduce the number of Never Events (serious incidents that are largely preventable) 

 Ensuring that 95% of both our nursing and midwifery staff and our medical staff have undertaken 
insulin safety training 

 Continuing to reduce the number of patients experiencing an insulin error (prescribing or 
management) 

 Continuing with ‘Stop the Line’ training and develop ‘Stop the Line’ videos 

 Continuing to adapt and implement safer surgery checklists across our clinical specialities 
 

We said we would:  

Use patient feedback to drive improvements to services and care 
 

In 2018/19 we: 

 Improved patient experience in our outpatient service and transformed outpatient models of care 
in ENT & Cardiology 

 Actively involved end of life care patients and their families in decision making about their care  
 

Results: (as at quarter 3) 

 Consistently achieved 95% positive Friends and Family test results in outpatients 

 Reduced the number of outpatient follow ups by 1%  

 Reduced the number of hospital cancellations in ENT outpatients clinics by 24% 

 The number of end of life care patients who have moved wards three or more times during their 
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last hospital stay remained static between 2018/19 and 2018/19 

 Developed a GREAT discharge podcast and lanyards for junior doctors 
 

Further improvements we need to make are: 

 Continuing to reduce the number of end of life  patients who move wards three or more times 
during their last inpatient spell prior to death 

 Continuing to implement GREAT discharges (improving end of life care discharge communication 
between Leicester’s Hospitals and GPs) 

 Continue to make improvements to patient experience in our outpatients services 
 

Improve Emergency Care and Cancer Performance: 

 We will eliminate all but clinical 4-hour breaches for non-admitted patients in ED 

 We will resolve the problem of evening and overnight deterioration in ED performance 

 We will ensure timely 7 days a week availability of medical beds for emergency admissions 

 We will deliver the 62-day standard for cancer during 2018/19. 

 

We will eliminate all but clinical 4-hour breaches for non-admitted patients in ED 

We remain committed to resolving the areas that cause under performance across the system to support a 
reduction in attendances and admissions alongside returning patients to their home more quickly. 

Unfortunately we did not achieve the 4-hour standard in 2018/19, achieving a performance of 77 per cent 
(UHL) and 82.9 per cent (Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland total).  This performance is set against an 
increase in demand in our Emergency Department of 6.2 per cent compared to 2018/19. 

Despite the significant growth in demand, progress has been made in non-admitted performance.  Through 
the year we have seen, treated and discharged (within 4 hours) 82.3 per cent of patients that need to be 
seen but not admitted and 91 per cent of patients treated in our Injuries area of the Emergency Department 
were seen and treated within 4 hours. 

The performance in the last three months has improved as changes have been embedded.  This has been 
achieved by putting into place the following: 

 a floor manager, with a specific remit to manage flow; 

 productivity review and change plan of our Injuries stream; 

 DHU (our primary care provider) improving their performance by changing our streaming model in 
the third quarter of the year.  This enabled patients to be streamed to the right place and 
strengthened our redirection approach; 

 a review of the space in Majors and a change to the pathway to improve flow and maximise 
ambulatory care pathways; 

 an increase in clinical triage of green ambulances; 

 an increase in deflection to places other than the Royal Infirmary, through extension of clinical 
navigation, increase in extended primary care access and increase in direct booking to other sites; 

 Alternative frailty response (in community with EMAS and Home Visiting Services/Clinical Navigation 
Hub); 

 Out of hospital ambulatory pathways; 

 Mental Health triage with EMAS (which also has an impact on overnight breaches). 

 

We will resolve the problem of evening and overnight deterioration in ED performance 

We continue to tackle the problem of evening and overnight deterioration in Emergency Department 
performance by implementing: 

 increased medical staffing overnight; 
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 pathway changes to the Emergency Floor assessment units which has resulted in less admissions to 
our base wards; 

 processes to minimise variation and decrease deterioration overnight; 

 EMAS ‘urgent’ crews reducing surge in GP referrals in the late afternoon/ evening; 

 an increase in triage of green ambulances, reducing attendances; 

 Pass-porting scheme with primary care and clinical navigation/ home visiting; 

 Out of hospital ambulatory pathways. 

 

We will ensure timely 7 days a week availability of medical beds for emergency admissions 

Despite increasing our availability of medical beds for emergency admissions, we have been unable to fully 
keep pace with the growth in demand.  Our emergency care improvement programme continues and 
schemes include: 

 full implementation of Red to Green; 

 the reduction in stranded and super stranded patients; 

 changes to the pathways in the Emergency Floor assessment units; 

 an improvement to the function of our GP Assessment Unit; 

 a review of, and changes to the pathway at the Glenfield including community respiratory pathways; 

 the achievement of efficiencies in our medical step down ward; 

 the introduction of care home telemedicine and transfer schemes – this has reduced attendances 
and admissions for care home residents; 

 improved support to primary care to prevent admission; 

 the implementation of End to End Continuing Health Care process – more timely Decision Support 
Tool in hospital 

 and improvement to Integrated Community Support model which has led to rapid admission or 
turnaround from the Emergency Department/ Emergency Floor assessment units; 

 the implementation of re-procured Discharge to Assess model; 

 increases in the hospital discharge team; 

 the implementation of trusted assessment; 

 an improvement to the pick-up of packages of care for County patients; 

 increased medical ward capacity; 

 improvements to length of stay in community hospital though discharge initiatives (Discharge to 
Assess, choice, interim beds, Continuing Health Care funding agreement risk share etc) 

Over the coming year we will continue to work with partners as part of the A&E Delivery Board to improve 
emergency care performance and we will report our progress monthly to both our internal People, Process 
and Performance Committee and the system wide A&E Delivery Board. 

 

 

 

We will deliver the 62-day standard for cancer during 2018/19. 

In December we achieved 82.3 per cent against the 85 per cent target this is the best performance we have 
seen since 2017.  Disappointingly we will not achieve the standard for the year and we will have seen a slight 
deterioration.  We have however maintained performance against a significant increase in demand across all 
tumour sites.  

This year we have been successful in transformational bids which will allow us to make changes to pathways 
to ensure improved delivery next year.  
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Stop the Line 

In 2018/19 we launched a campaign called 'Stop the Line' to support the introduction of the new Safer 
Surgery policy across all three of our hospitals and the community hospitals across Leicestershire. 

Stop the Line is an approach that allows staff to “Stop the Line” if they see something unsafe and to keep our 
patients safe and do the right thing.   

A training programme has been implemented ensuring that all staff are trained and able to Stop the Line” 
when they see or hear anything that is a safety concern.  

Stop the Line training has been embedded into all staff inductions so we can ensure that our staff understand 
the importance of keeping our patients safe.  So far, we have trained 2,684 staff this year.   

An evaluation in theatres revealed that all staff questioned knew about Stop the Line and it is embedded as a 
way to raise concerns. 

 

 

 

 

 

Improving the experience of our patients 

We actively seek feedback from patients, family members and carers, using the following methods: 

 Patient Experience feedback forms; paper and electronic 

 Family, carers and friends feedback forms; paper and electronic 

 SMS/text which are sent to patients who attend outpatient appointments 

 Recorded patient stories 

 Community conversations conducted by the hospital Engagement team 

 Volunteer surveys 

 Message to Matron Cards 

 NHS Choices/ Patient Opinion 

“The Trust encourages, and will always support any member of staff, who speaks up to STOP the 

Line when they have concerns - we are one team and we are best when we work together.” 

W&C 
 186 

 

Alliance  
106 

CHUGGS  
430 

Other 
 56 

 

RRCV 
 637 

MSK & SS  
122 

CSI  
 103 

ITAPPS 
 180 

 

ESM  
864 Number of staff trained by CMG 
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 Compliments and complaints provided to the Patient Information and Liaison Service (PILS) 

 Our website 

Currently the clinical teams display their response to the 
feedback received on “You Said, We Did” boards.  These 
have been reviewed and for 2019/20 these boards will be 
replaced with new “Patient Feedback Driving Excellence” 
boards, an example is shown below.  These boards will 
clearly show how the clinical areas respond to patient 
feedback to make improvements. 

In April 2018 the Quality Commitment Bulletin was launched 
to highlight outpatient areas that had listened and 
responded to patient, family and carer feedback resulting in 
a better experience of care. 

Following the success of this bulletin, the Patient Feedback 
Driving Excellence Bulletin was developed and first published 
in November 2018, featuring both outpatient and inpatient teams who have made positive changes in their 
clinical area following patient feedback. The bulletin is distributed throughout the Trust and was recently 
recognised in the Patient Experience Network National Awards 2018 as a finalist in two categories.  

 

Care of older people and dementia care, including our Meaningful Activity Service 

Improving care and experience for people living with dementia in our hospitals is part of our Dementia 
Strategy.   

The Forget ME Not scheme supports national recommendations for hospitals to have a system in place to 
support all staff to be able to recognise patients with dementia, ensuring the delivery of person centred care.   

This initiative is now in place on all adult wards to support people living with dementia.  Patients with a 
known diagnosis of dementia are placed on the scheme during their admission to hospital.  A blue forget me 
not flower is placed in the bed space and a small forget me not flower sticker is attached to the patient’s 
medical notes.  Both identify the patient to all staff, supporting good communication, allowing more time for 
each interaction, encouraging additional drinks and snacks to be offered and reminds staff to find out about 
the patient by reading the Know Me Better Patient Summary.  

We took part in the 4th round of the National Audit of Dementia in General Hospitals at the Royal Infirmary.  
Staff and families and carers were encouraged to complete surveys.  Work from the last audit in 2016 
included improving nutritional intake for people with dementia and since then we have introduced of Energy 
Dense Smaller Meals to the standard menu, as feedback told us the meals were too big and off putting.  We 
have also introduced supplementary snack finger foods for those patients who prefer to graze throughout 
the day.  

The Meaningful Activity Service supports patients with dementia on the 
older people’s wards at the Royal Infirmary and on some wards at the 
Glenfield Hospital.  The Meaningful Activity Facilitators provide therapeutic 
activities to help patients with dementia in hospital.  Examples of activities 
include arts and crafts, games, puzzles, reminiscence, and music and the 
team host special events on the wards to celebrate cultural and religious 
festivals. Families, friends and carers of patients are encouraged to be 
involved in all activities with their loved one from the ward areas.  

This year the Meaningful Activity Service expanded to provide a seven day 
service across the Emergency floor, to enable people living with dementia 
to be supported through this person centred care approach, supporting 
their well-being, their transition into hospital and providing individually 
tailored activity to enhance their experience.  Within the newly opened 
Emergency Floor a bespoke safe space was designed and developed, 
‘Memory Lane’ and the ‘Happy Time Café’ are custom made areas for 
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people with dementia to be able to walk, be involved in activity and 
socialise over tea and cake in a quiet environment with support from 
the Meaningful Activity Facilitators away from the clinical ward spaces.  

We continue to increase the number of staff that volunteers to be older 
people and dementia champions and over 100 staff have taken on this 
role throughout the year.  Champions have a passion and commitment 
to improving the experience for our patients.  The Champion 
Celebration event was held in September, providing our champions with 
the opportunity to further develop their knowledge and share ideas 
with each other.  

Older people’s feedback highlighted how important the small 
fundamental things are to improve their experience in hospital.  Six of 
our wards completed the work they have been involved in through 
‘Fixing the Fundamentals’ to improve older people’s experience of care 
in our hospitals.  As part of this work some of the things they introduced 
included: Freezers for patients to have ice-cream on the ward, therapy 
dog visit, teams worked with hearing service to better care and 
support patients with hearing loss, they refurbished day rooms to 
make sociable spaces away from the bedded areas on the wards.  A 
market place event to celebrate their achievements and promote the 
teams they worked with was held at Glenfield in July and we were 
delighted to welcome the Lord Mayor of Leicester who joined the 
teams in this celebration and presented certificates to each of the 
wards involved.  The work of ‘Fixing the Fundamentals’ to improve 
the experience for older people in our hospitals was shortlisted as a 
finalist for The Patient Experience Network National Awards (PENNA)   

 

Friends and Family Test 

The Friends and Family Test is a question that is offered to patients, family members and carers who have 
been cared for in NHS Hospitals. The question asks: 

“How likely are you to recommend our ward to friends and family if they needed similar care or 
treatment?” 

The question has a range of six responses, from ‘extremely likely’ to ‘extremely unlikely’, including ‘don’t 
know’.  The respondent is then given the option to give any comments which detail why they have given 
their chosen response. 

‘Extremely likely’ and ‘likely’ are calculated as recommended responses and the ‘extremely unlikely’ and 
‘unlikely’ are calculated as non-recommended responses. The tables below show the Trust results for the last 
two years in inpatient and day case areas. 

 
Apr-
17 

May-
17 

Jun-
17 

Jul- 
17 

Aug-
17 

Sep-
17 

Oct-
17 

Nov-
17 

Dec-
17 

Jan-
18 

Feb-
18 

Mar-
18 

% 
Recommend 

97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 

% Not 
recommend 

1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 

 
Apr-
18 

May-
18 

Jun-
18 

Jul- 
18 

Aug-
18 

Sep-
18 

Oct-
18 

Nov-
18 

Dec-
18 

Jan-
19 

Feb-
19 

Mar-
19 

% 
Recommend 

97% 98% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 

% Not 
recommend 

1% 1% 0% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 

We aspire to achieve a high recommended and a low non-recommended score in the Friends and Family 
Test.  
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For 2018/19 97 per cent of patients cared for in our hospitals told us they would recommend us to their 
friends and family; and this score has been consistent over the last two years with the only exception being 
May 2018 where that rose to 98 per cent.  The non-recommend score is also consistent with just 1 per cent 
of patients telling us they would not recommend us, with the exception of July 2018 when that dropped to 
0% or no patients saying they wouldn’t recommend us to their family and friends. 

The Friends and Family Test feedback is collected using a variety of methods; paper forms in in-patient and 
day case areas, electronic survey devices in some clinical areas and out-patients, kiosks available in the 
receptions of all three of our hospitals, and we ask the questions via SMS/text in out-patients.  There is 
further opportunity for feedback to be given via our website when the patient has left the hospital. 

To ensure that patients who do not speak English as their first language are able to give feedback, the 
Friends and Family Test is available on paper and electronically in the top three spoken languages in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland; Gujarati, Punjabi and Polish.  

Easy read versions of the feedback form are available both on paper and electronically, allowing patients 
who have learning disabilities, literacy issues, visual disturbances or where English is not their first language 
to give their feedback.  This version uses illustrations of faces which range from happy to sad, for the patient 
to choose from.  Children have a rocket feedback form which also uses the illustrations of faces and there is a 
section for the child to draw a picture. 

We are keen to gather feedback from family members, carers and friends who attend the hospital with a 
loved one.  There is a designated form for them to complete and give their views of their experience.  

NHS England has conducted a review of the Friends and Family Test and plan to offer new guidance to NHS 
hospitals during April 2019. 

Frequently staff are mentioned by name in the Friends and Family Test feedback comments, detailing how 
they have made a difference to the patients experience while in hospital.  During the year it was decided that 
this positive feedback should be recognised and acted upon, so we created the Patient Recognition Awards 
which we launched during Experience of Care week in April 2018. Currently feedback from in-patient, day 
case, maternity and the Emergency Department are included, and there are plans to expand this to 
outpatient areas during 2019/20.  

Any member of staff mentioned five or more times in 
a three month period in a positive light by name 
receives a Patient Recognition Award.  The staff 
member is visited in their clinical area by the 
Assistant Chief Nurse and the comments relating to 
them are read out, they are then presented with a 
certificate thanking them for their hard work and 
commitment.  They are also presented with a 
certificate which shows the comments that they have 
received in both a formal and an illustrated version, 
an example is shown below: 

So far there nine members of staff have received this 
prestigious award.  This award was entered into the 
Patient Experience Network National Awards 2018 
and achieved the position of finalist. 

 

Specialist Palliative Care and Care at the End of Life  

Palliative care is the holistic care provided to patients with an illness which cannot be cured.  Palliative care is 
provided alongside other treatments and might be needed early on in a disease when patients may be 
receiving life-prolonging treatment or towards the end of life and into bereavement.  Palliative care involves 
managing physical symptoms such as pain, but also the psychological, spiritual and social needs of patients 
and families.  Palliative care is something all health and social care professionals provide as part of their role 
with patients, supported by the Specialist Palliative Care Team. 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

66 

The Specialist Palliative Care Team at Leicester’s Hospitals consists of specialist nurses, consultants and 
specialist registrars.  They provide direct support to our patients, both as inpatients and outpatients, as well 
as providing education and support to staff, which is essential to staff who will need to provide both 
palliative and end of life care. 

Patients are described by the General Medical Council as approaching the end of life when they are likely to 
die within the next twelve months.  This group therefore includes: 

1. Patients who are imminently dying (in the next few days or hours); 

2. Patients with advanced, progressive, incurable conditions (such as cancer which has spread to 
different organs in the body); 

3. Patients with frailty and multiple illnesses which mean that they are expected to die within twelve 
months; 

4. Patients with a condition which puts them at risk of a sudden acute crisis (e.g. a large inoperable 
abdominal aortic aneurysm); or 

5. Life threatening acute conditions caused by a catastrophic event (e.g. an intracranial bleed in a patient 
who is not well enough for treatment or a patient with major trauma). 

At Leicester’s Hospitals we play an important role in supporting and managing patients at the end of life 
because patients will often have repeated contact with hospital services in their final months of life and for 
many people (over two fifths) hospital may be where they die.  For some, hospital is not where they want to 
be looked after in their last days or hours, but for others this may be a place where they and their families 
can feel safe.  Whatever the situation, we need to make sure that the care provided is right for that person 
and as good as it can be as the experience of care makes such a big difference both to the dying and to the 
bereaved. 

The End of Life and Palliative Care Committee and Specialist Palliative Care Team have continued to drive 
improvements across the Trust in the last twelve months and to work with our partner organisations to 
ensure that we move forward together with the interests of our local community at the core of what we do. 

Work across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 

Our team is looking forward to working as part of a local taskforce to support system wide improvement in 
the delivery of care towards the end of life.  Initial meetings are planned for the near future.  Key priorities 
will be identified soon but are likely to include the introduction of a new document to record decisions about 
emergency treatment called ReSPECT (Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care and Treatment) 
and exploring how this and other developments can support patients across the healthcare economy. 

Our End of Life Care Strategy 

Our draft end of life care strategy has been shared widely with stakeholders inside and outside of our 
organisation and adapted following feedback.  The latest version is now ready to be launched in May 2019 as 
part of Dying Matters Awareness Week. 

Data collection and dashboards 

Collecting quantitative and qualitative data and developing ways we can benchmark our services and 
outcomes will help us to understand how we can get the best experiences for our patients.  Improved data 
collection and draft dashboards are under development for the Specialist Palliative Care Service and End of 
Life and Palliative Care Committee.  

Specialist Palliative Care Team development 

Our Specialist Palliative Care Team currently receives around 270 referrals per month from across the Trust, 
an almost 30 per cent increase on the previous year, with around 11,000 inpatient contacts made by the 
team in the last financial year.   

To support the growing work of the team, a business case is in development to increase the specialist 
palliative care resource, particularly medical staff, supporting work in end of life care, providing clinical 
leadership, education and specialist support in palliative care.  

A bid submitted to Macmillan to support a pilot project within the Emergency Floor has now been formally 
approved and the posts advertised.  This bid will provide two additional full time Band 7 Clinical Nurse 
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Specialist posts in palliative care to support the emergency floor, providing an opportunity to deliver earlier 
palliative care assessment and input as well as support and education to the team.  The roles will be in place 
for two years and the plan will be to build a business case for ongoing funding. 

Education and Engagement with staff and public 

Dying Matters Awareness Week:  Talking about dying, death and bereavement is a challenge for patients, 
families and staff. Dying Matters is a national organisation which promotes conversations about these 
important topics. Every year, during Dying Matters Awareness Week, hundreds of events take place across 
the country to encourage all of us to think about planning for what we want to happen towards the end of 
our lives including how we might want to be remembered; to consider registering as an organ donor; writing 
a will or planning a funeral.  

A team from across hospital and community services in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is now planning 
the 2019 event around the theme of “thinking ahead” (advance care planning).  This supports the findings 
from Medical Examiner Reviews/ Learning from Adult Deaths in Our Care, the Mazars Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland Audit and End of Life Care Hospital Improvement Programme and supports plans 
to roll out ReSPECT and GREAT discharges.  Public engagement events are planned across Leicester’s 
Hospitals, Beaumont Leys and Haymarket shopping centres with our colleagues from Leicestershire 
Partnership NHS Trust, the Clinical Commissioning Groups and LOROS.  To support this, Macmillan Cancer 
Support has funded a Leicestershire Dying Matters Conference allowing more than 200 staff from across 
local health organisations to learn and share together. 

Staff Education 

Ward based education -The Specialist Palliative Care Team have continued to provide ward-based education 
including use of the McKinley T34 syringe driver, symptom management, recognition of dying and the use of 
the Individualised Plan of Care for the Dying Patient. 

Throughout the year we have continued to run Palliative and End of Life Care Champions Days and Priorities 
for Care for the Dying Person Study Days which are open to all healthcare professionals.   

The team has also been part of other education events at LOROS, including study days and Foundation Year 1 
(FY1) teaching, regular Oncology Specialist Registrar Communication skills training, Geriatrician and 
Emergency department teaching.  They continue to offer opportunities for individuals to work shadow, 
including medical and nursing students, foundation doctors, geriatrics Specialist Registrar’s, pharmacists, 
physiotherapists and occupational therapists. 

We have developed an education programme for LOROS nurses, both Healthcare Assistants and trained staff, 
which allows them to shadow the team to learn more about hospital specialist palliative care. 

We have developed Lightning Learning for staff in the Emergency Department around GREAT discharges, 
Uncertain Recovery and Palliative/End of Life Care.  The Palliative Care and Emergency Department teams 
have come together to develop SimPall, Simulation training in the Emergency Department around Palliative 
Care Emergencies and communication skills. 

The SPCT teach regularly on the Healthcare Assistants induction programme and preceptor programmes as 
well as working with DeMontfort University to offer a ten week nursing student placement with the first 
student starting in November 2018. 

Care of the Dying Patient and their family  

Symptom management 

The Mazars Audit (Learning Lessons to Improve Care, published I August 2018) identified some issues around 
diabetes management in the last days of life and further findings from the National Audit of Care at the End 
of Life (NACEL) have prompted changes to the policy and paperwork supporting the delivery of care for dying 
patients in our hospitals.  Working with the diabetes team, we have developed additional symptom 
management advice to support staff looking after people who have diabetes and are dying.  NACEL will be 
repeated later this year and will include more feedback from families after a death, which is essential.  We 
continue to receive feedback from families as part of the Medical Examiner process and from our Specialist 
Bereavement Nurses and use this to recognise good practice and to identify how we could improve. 
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Volunteers At Life’s End (VALE) 

VALE is a project co- ordinated by members of the Specialist Palliative Care Team, which engages volunteers 
within the hospital to spend quality time with patients who are dying.  They provide support to ward staff by 
assisting with meals, offering company to patients, and in some cases a hand massage.  Volunteers also offer 
a respite period for families who need some time to care for themselves, but would like to know their loved 
one is not alone.  Use of this service is growing and feedback has been very positive. 

Rapid discharge in the last days of life 

When we recognise someone as likely to die in the coming days or hours, it is important that we understand 
what their priorities are at this time.  For some patients, being at home for the last phase of their life feels 
really important and so working with our partners in Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust, we have been 
making changes to the way we manage rapid discharge, increasing the numbers of families we can support 
and learning how to be able to make this feel as seamless as it can to the patient.   

GREAT Discharges 

Each letter of GREAT is a prompt: 

G is for GP Supportive and Palliative Care Register 

R is resuscitation decision 

E for End of Life Care prescribing 

A for Advance Care Planning 

T for Treatment Escalation decision. 

Through audits we have revealed that for the 1,991 patients who died following an emergency admission in 
the 12 months we looked at over 60 per cent had contact with our organisation in the preceding 90 days - 
many having attended outpatients or having had an emergency admission.  This suggested missed 
opportunities to identify patients at risk of dying in the coming months and to support them to plan how 
they might want to be cared for when that time arrives.   

Further audit work around discharge paperwork for patients with a high frailty score has revealed 
opportunities to improve the information provided to our community colleagues.  A GREAT discharge for 
palliative care patients is an acronym which prompts thinking and documentation about key conversations 
and decision making.  Funding has been secured to print lanyard cards for junior doctors and we are in the 
process of developing a podcast.  Quality Improvement work has started on one of our geriatric wards and 
we will continue to work on embedding good practice. 

Resources to support patients and families 

Resources for supporting care in the last days of life for adult patients 

One of the ways hospitals have helped to support grieving parents after the loss of a baby is to provide 
keepsakes and memories such as hand prints and photographs.   

When an adult dies we are often less equipped to make this experience special or individualised.  Trusts 
around the UK have been introducing ways of making the experience for families a more positive one by 
providing resources such as jewellery bags, comfort kits, battery operated candles and the offer of a lock of 
hair or a handprint.  We have already introduced some of these ideas around our “butterfly” symbol and 
many ward areas already make special efforts to provide exceptional care in individual cases. 

Through a successful application to the Masons charity, we have secured £2,000 to purchase some resources 
to trial on the emergency floor to provide our staff with the ability to approach supporting a dying family 
differently.  We are currently buying these resources and identifying a way to educate staff and to evaluate 
the experience for staff and families to allow us to seek further funding and to roll out this idea to other 
clinical areas. 

Resources for supporting care in the last days of life - children of adult patients 

We have begun some work to develop some resources designed to support younger family members when 
an adult who is close to them is dying.  These resources are being trialled at the Royal Infirmary with support 
of charitable funds. 
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Macmillan Funded iPads 

Macmillan has provided funding for the Specialist Palliative Care Team to support reminiscence therapy using 
iPads, which can be particularly helpful with patients living with dementia. 

 

Providing spiritual and religious care 

When someone is in hospital we also care for their pastoral, spiritual and religious needs.  We are here to 
support those who face emotional distress arising from questions concerning life, death, meaning and 
purpose - questions that can be acutely highlighted by illness and suffering. 

Our diverse team includes Christian, Hindu, Muslim, Non-religious and Sikh chaplains - ensuring that patients 
can ask to speak to someone “like minded” as they grapple with the questions they face.  We offer a 24/7 
availability to support patients or families in urgent situations, especially around the time of a death.   

Our work is supported by 72 volunteers who have together given 3,200 hours to the hospitals.  In all our 
chaplains and chaplaincy volunteers made about 12,500 patient contacts - an invaluable part of our 
commitment to delivering "Caring at its Best".  

We provide multi-faith chapels and prayer facilities on each site, for the use of patients, visitors and 
staff.  These provide a place for prayer or quiet contemplation and are in constant use. 

We also continue to provide the chaplaincy service to the patients and families across the Mental Health 
Units and Community Hospitals run by the Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust. 
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Our People 
We will have the right people with the right skills in the right numbers in order to deliver 
the most effective care in 2018/19… 

 We will develop a sustainable 5-year workforce plan by the end of Q1 2018/19, 
with a delivery plan to reduce our nursing and medical vacancy rates and reduce 
time to hire 

 We will launch our People Strategy in Q1 2018/19 to attract, recruit and retain a workforce that 
reflects our local communities across all levels of the Trust, with a specific focus on meeting the 
Workforce Race Equality Standards. 

 
We will develop a sustainable 5-year workforce plan by the end of Q1 2018/19, with a delivery 
plan to reduce our nursing and medical vacancy rates and reduce time to hire 

In July 2018 our Trust Board approved a Five Year Strategic Workforce Plan 2018-2023 which explored the 
current context of workforce planning including critical risks to the supply of our workforce.  This document 
describes the short, medium and long term changes to our workforce.  It describes how we intend to reduce 
our dependency on the non-contracted workforce through to proposed plans to address the future 
workforce demands for our transformation programmes, including intensive care and the East Midlands 
Congenital Heart Centre.  The plan includes our current progress and future plans for new roles such as 
Physician Associates, Nursing Associates and Advanced Clinical Practitioners and places particular emphasis 
on addressing gaps in nursing and medical staff supply.  

The plan is iterative, responding to wider local and system wide changes and is currently being refreshed to 
fully align with the NHS Ten Year Plan, Developing Workforce Safeguards standards and our own People 
Strategy. 

Our People Strategy is appended by two comprehensive plans for the Nursing and Midwifery and Medical 
workforces.  These are fully aligned with the principles of our Quality Strategy and describe an improved use 
of workforce analytics to inform our plans for improvement which include recruitment and retention 
interventions and reshaping of our workforce.  These plans also describe actions proposed in respect of 
improving education, leadership, engagement and innovation with further details provided in the sections 
below. 

 

We will launch our People Strategy in Q1 2018/19 to attract, recruit and retain a workforce that 
reflects our local communities across all levels of the Trust, with a specific focus on meeting the 
Workforce Race Equality Standards 

Our People Strategy was agreed at Trust Board in March 2019 and has been aligned with our new Quality 
Strategy, ‘Becoming the Best’, as an enabler to achieving outstanding in the context of the care we provide. 

The People Strategy seeks to meet the significant workforce challenges arising from the NHS Ten Year Plan 
and regional and local context.  The People Strategy has looked to capture clearly defined deliverables, over 
the next five years and success measures, which will create the right conditions, specifically to: 

 Draw and retain the highest quality staff from home and overseas; 

 Create the right leadership and culture to drive organisational change, improvement and innovation; 

 Create improvement skills at all levels to implement change and maximise learning; 

 Ensure we are an engaging and great place to work with Caring at its Best in our workplace. 

There are six key priority areas and it incorporates workforce plans for Nursing and Midwifery and Medical 
and Dental staff groups, further work is being done to finalise other staff groups.   
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There are a number of defined deliverables which include; 

 Develop, and apply, high quality workforce analytics to inform our People Strategy and workforce 
planning; 

 Design, and develop, a flexible, multi-skilled workforce operating effectively across our organisation 
and the wider health system; 

 Develop quality Human Resource services which are streamlined, responsive and cost efficient; 

 Embed a healthy, diverse and inclusive workforce to better represent the communities we serve; 

 Develop the right behaviours to continuously improve quality; 

 Develop the right leadership skills, competencies and behaviours; 

 Specifically develop improvement skills; 

 Lead and contribute to the wider Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland workforce. 

Additionally, we have sought to align the work programme and deliverables to the recently agreed Trust 
annual priorities for 2019/20. 

 

Workforce Equality - Developing a more inclusive and diverse workforce to better represent the 
communities we serve and to provide services that meet the needs of all patients  

2018/19 was a watershed year in respect of the equality and diversity agenda within our organisation.  A 
number of nationally driven standards, such as the Workforce Race Equality Standard, have informed our 
direction of travel and re-prioritisation of equality issues.  Other factors have also played their part in helping 
to re-evaluate the way in which the Trust approaches equality and diversity in terms of its employment and 
service delivery.  

Strengthened Governance Arrangements  

Equality and Diversity Governance Arrangements have been strengthened as we set up our first Equality and 
Diversity Board chaired by the Chief Executive in June 2018.  This followed comprehensive Learning Needs 
Assessments of all Executive Directors and some Non-Executive Directors.  The Equality and Diversity Board 
has agreed a robust and comprehensive Equality and Diversity Strategic Integrated Action Plan.  The plan sets 
out a very ambitious programme of activities in order to address the under-representation within our 
workforce and improvements to service delivery for patients. 

Staff Networks  

Our BAME Voice Staff Network was set up in May 2018, launched by our Chairman and Chief Executive.  It 
has grown and has regular attendance of 40 members with 150 members on the email distribution list.  The 
group have elected Dr Biju Simon as Chair and have met four times during the year.  

We held our first, extremely successful, BAME Voice conference in collaboration with NTT, one of its largest 
providers in the private sector, who are doing significant work around the diversity agenda. 

Equality and Diversity System Wide Training and Development  

We jointly chair a system wide Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Steering 
Group who have been awarded £30,000 of Health Education funding to deliver Equality Diversity and 
Inclusion (EDI) training and development activities.  A series of master classes, which build upon the 
successful workshops run at the EDI conference on 15 May 2018, have been organised for 2019/20.  

In December we launched a reverse mentoring scheme and a local highly reputable Stepping Up programme 
for BAME staff is planned for September 2019.  

Workforce Race Equality Standard progress  

The comparative data for 2017/18 showed improvements in the numbers of employees at leadership level 
(13.6 per cent from 12 per cent in the previous year) with further improvements to 15.6 per cent to date.  
There were significant improvements in the success rates of candidates from a BAME background applying 
for, and being appointed to, jobs (2.2 times less likely in 2016/17 to 1.6 times likely in 2017/18). 

Disciplinary rates for BAME employees were no longer disproportionate and access to non-mandatory 
training appears equitable.  However, the staff survey results demonstrated less positivity across all ethnic 
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groups with a notable difference in experience of BAME staff when it came to their perception of 
discrimination by their managers and perceptions of the Trust as an equal opportunities organisation.  

As stated above, we have been focusing on the area of race equality for the past 12 months.  It has now been 
recognised as an exemplar of best practice.  We were asked to show case our work and progress as part of a 
series of NHS Improvement Master Classes on Inclusive BME Leadership during June and September 2018. 

Service delivery  

Interpretation and Translation Service and Policy  

In February 2018 we launched the new Interpretation and Translation service, led by DA Languages.  The 
Equality Team has supported over 3,000 staff accessing the new service and we saw a substantial increase in 
use of the service month on month across Clinical Management Groups.  In February 2018 there were 116 
interpretation sessions, which increased to 1,040 in October.  The request to delivery rate is 99.3 per cent 
with only 0.7 per cent of unfulfilled requests.  

British Sign Language provision is delivered through local provider’s iNet and Action Deafness.  Service Level 
Agreements have now been signed with both providers formalising the arrangements. 

Equality Advisory Group Outcomes  

The Equality Advisory Group is our external consultative group chaired by Mark Burley, Head of Chaplaincy. 
The group advises the Trust on improvements it can make to improve patient care and job opportunities.  

The group, via one of the group members from the Federation of Muslim Organisations campaigned for 
dignity gowns to be piloted in radiology.  Dignity gowns provide more coverage above the knee for patients 
who require more privacy for religious or other reasons.  The Federation of Muslim Organisations 
representative worked with the Muslim community and acquired funding from Pak Food Stores and Rahma 
Mercy for the purchase of 305 dignity gowns.  The gowns have now been purchased, labelled and are in use 
at the Glenfield and General Hospitals.  

The Equality Advisory Group have also contributed towards the modifying of the patient experience survey 
form to include appropriate wording for the capture of trans-gender in the equalities monitoring section, 
assisted with feedback on the Carers Charter and continue to work positively to provide the Trust with useful 
feedback on policies such as the Interpretation and Translation Policy. 

 

Our medical workforce 

During the past year we have produced an overall Strategic Workforce Plan which highlights the need to 
focus on our medical workforce to deliver both immediate and transformational objectives.  

These range from understanding the demand for medical workforce through to transformation of the way 
the workforce responds to different models of care particularly in respect of frailty and the changes arising 
from reconfigured services such as East Midlands Congenital Heart and the potential introduction of a 
Treatment Centre at the Glenfield Hospital.  This requires a focus on recruitment, retention, reshaping, 
engaging and development and education of our workforce.  Our specific plans and actions are captured in 
the Medical Workforce Plan, which is an appendix to the People Strategy. 

Throughout the year we have been using Model Hospital and Getting it Right First Time (GIRFT) 
benchmarking data to right size our medical workforce to deliver changes in patient demand.  This work will 
continue as part of workforce planning and electronic rostering of medical staff and the multidisciplinary 
team in order that we can be assured that we are providing safe levels of resources.  To date Electronic 
Rostering has been implemented in a number of specialties as part of a two year roll out programme. 

We have been working with a number of specialties to make improvements to the way in which we market 
and promote roles within the Trust and we have started plans to introduce an International Recruitment Hub 
to both streamline recruitment activity and ensure we share best practice in respect of attracting overseas 
doctors.  Schemes include our Medical Training Initiative, which enables overseas doctors to learn and work 
in the UK for a limited period. 

We have continued to develop the roles of Physician Associates, Advanced Clinical Practitioners and 
Prescribing Pharmacists to support tasks traditionally done by doctors.  This supports our mission to create 
new 'teams around the patient'. 
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We have continued to engage with our junior doctors as part of our overall ambition to improve working 
lives and retention.  As a result we have introduced rest rooms for doctors who have worked over their hours 
to enable a period of rest; we have introduced a process for escalating payroll queries; new roles supporting 
doctors who are less than full time or returning to a training role have been introduced.  We also continue to 
run a twice yearly Trust Grade doctors conference and have standardised our induction programme.  This 
year we held our first Consultant Conference which was the first time this whole workforce had been given 
the opportunity to engage in a range of Trust wide issues. 

Since our doctors perform both a service and education role, we have launched a Medical Education 
Strategy, which describes how we are using a range of data sources and feedback such as the General 
Medical Council survey to make improvements to education in terms of content, innovation and providing an 
appropriate learning environment across all grades of national trainee and locally employed doctors.  This 
includes actions to support both learners and educators. 

 

Our Nursing and Midwifery workforce 

Senior staff nurse programme 

Over two thirds of our band 5 nursing workforce is at midpoint band 5 or above, and 20 per cent are over the 
age of 50.  Our senior staff nurse programme continues to build on the results of the 2016 Listening into 
Action initiative which involved feedback from over 1,500 registered nurses at mid-point band 5 and above 
and highlighted a sense of frustration over the lack of structured development frameworks together with 
desire to be recognised and valued for their clinical contribution.  

The programme continues to evolve and through formal teaching and experiential learning, it encourages 
networking, exposure to the bigger picture, confidence building in addition to developing new leadership 
competences and self-awareness.  Our nurses also benefit from a structured development and career 
conversations throughout the year of the programme. 

Since April 2018 150 nurses have attended Day 1 of the programme from across the Trust and Clinical 
Management Group days are running throughout the year.  One of our Clinical Management Groups, ITAPs, 
have been the pioneers for this initiative with 26 staff completing the three day programme and being 
awarded their title, certificate and name badge at a ceremony in May 2018.  Thirteen of these staff have 
subsequently been promoted to a Band 6 role.  The Senior Staff Nurse programme was presented at the 
Royal College of Nursing Leadership in Nursing Education conference in March. 

Clinical Nurse Coach role 

It is acknowledged that many nursing staff choose to leave substantive posts as a result of changes in family 
circumstances and retirement.  Many of these individuals do not wish to commit to regular clinical bank 
shifts, but want to continue working with our junior nurses and midwives and give something back to the 
profession.  The Clinical Nurse Coach was developed as part of our ‘Retire and Return’ scheme that 
encourages experienced staff who are no longer in substantive clinical nursing posts to carry on working with 
us in a different role with additional training to support an ‘Encore Career’.  

New Clinical Nurse Coaches attend an informal interview to review their knowledge, skills and aptitude for 
the role together with their availability and time commitments.  The nurse coaches are then matched to 
areas in the Trust where it has been identified that staff need support - either clinically at the bed side or in a 
one to one coaching capacity.  To date ten nurses have registered with the bank for this role.  Three have 
been working regularly on our practice development ward at the LRI. We now have clinical coaches who 
were ward sisters, nurse specialists and experienced staff nurses.  

Recruitment:  We, like other NHS Trusts across the country have challenges recruiting qualified nurses.  Since 
2014, we continue to look overseas to recruit nurses and reduce our vacancy gap. 
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Table shows the number of nurses registered overseas who have joined us since 2016: 

COHORT  EU Non EU 

Nurses with NMC PIN    

Jan 14-Dec 14 210 0 

Jan15- Dec 15 155 0 

Jan 16-Dec 16 109 0 

Jan 17-Dec 17 0 40 (43 recruited; 3 failed OSCE) 

Jan 18- Dec 18 0 112 (1 awaiting decision letter) 

Total with NMC PIN  472 152 

 

Nurses working towards NMC PIN  2 (awaiting IELTS)  75 

Jan 19   0 41 undertaken programme 
awaiting  OSCE exam  

March 19 0 34 started OSCE programme  

Total Recruited:  474 227 

 

Between January 2014 and December 2016 there were 474 EU trained nurses who joined the Trust, 
predominately from Portugal, Italy and Spain.  The numbers joining from EU countries dwindled significantly 
after the introduction of the requirement to pass the IELTS that was introduced in 2015.  

There have been 227 non-EU nurses join the Trust since January 2019.  Of these 152 have passed the NMC 
OSCE exam and are working as Band 5 staff nurses.  Of the remaining 75 - 41 are waiting to take their OSCE 
exam and 34 are currently attending the OSCE preparation programme.  The overall pass rate since January 
2017 is 96.8 per cent with a first time average pass rate of 65.4 per cent.  The first time pass rate is improving 
and has remained above 82 per cent since August 2018.  

Table shows country of origin for non-EU nurses recruited January 2017 - November 2018: 

Nationality Number  
Staff who 
failed and left 

Staff who have left 
since getting PIN 

Indian 100 -1 1 

Filipino 45 -2  

Nigerian 4   

Kenyan *3   

Ghanaian 2   

Malaysian 1   

Ukraine 1  1 

Total 156 3 1 

*1 member of staff has no decision letter 

 

Nursing Associates 

In January 2017, we launched a unique Nursing Associate Programme across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland.  

The Nursing Associate Foundation Degree and role has been developed and delivered by us in partnership 
with clinical nurse educators and practice staff from different NHS, private, voluntary and independent 
organisations across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland including Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust, 
commissioners and GP practices and the Leicestershire Hospice, LOROS. 

The programme is delivered at the Leicestershire School of Nursing Associates based at the Glenfield 
Hospitals as part of a formal academic partnership arrangement between ourselves and DeMontfort 
University and is the only model of its kind in the UK.  

We believe that our school has a unique identity which reflects the academic credibility equal to that of a 
university with our first 22 registered Nursing Associates completing their programme and registering with 
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the Nursing and Midwifery Council in March 2019.  A school badge has been designed by our trainees and 
reflects a programme and a role developed with our partners across our healthcare system.  

We currently have 148 trainees (in three cohorts) from diverse specialities; adult, children’s, mental health 
and learning disability services, GP practices and a hospice.  A fourth cohort will be recruited in 2019 and we 
are currently refurbishing another building to increase the number of classrooms and simulation facilities. 

In 2018, we aligned the programme to the apprenticeship standards and now have 105 apprentice trainee 
Nursing Associates.  

Independent feedback from DeMontfort University, external examiners and trainees validates our success in 
creating a local programme and new role reflecting the core values of our NHS; 

“Modules perform in line with other comparable universities delivering Nursing Associate 
programmes. The majority of students gaining pass grades within the full range of marks”  

“The trainees singled out contributions from specialist nurses as particularly stimulating and noted 
the enthusiasm, versatility and responsiveness of teachers” 

“Local lecturers were noted to be accessible, helpful and supportive. Trainees felt well supported and 
noted the high standard of advice they’d been given” 

“The best thing has been lecturers by practitioners who were knowledgeable, engaging and able to 
use practical examples to make theory relevant to practice” 

“The programme team are commended for the development of a programme that is truly practice 
led, particularly noting the short timeframe given by HEE”. 

 

IT Clinical Facilitation Team 

Throughout 2018 a team of Clinical IT Facilitators were appointed to support the e-hospital work streams.  A 
key focus for this group of facilitators is to develop and support the digital literacy of our nursing workforce 
and help staff have confidence in using both the software and hardware available to help support 
improvement in clinical care. 

As part of the paperless journey over the last 12 months we have achieved the following: 

 24 adult nursing assessments are live within NerveCentre.  These assessments include waterlow, 
MUST, falls, bed rails, manual handling, frailty, sepsis , diabetes, VTE stockings and core nursing 
assessments; 

 BB1 form (request form for bed in a community hospital) is now electronic giving greater 
transparency to discharge teams allowing speedier referral and reducing the need to fax requests; 

 Successful proof of concept to support improving the flow of health information to care homes as 
part of a successful NHS England bid by sending the integrated needs assessment form directly to 
care homes. 

The nurses within the team work regular clinical shifts to train and support staff within clinical areas.  We 
have received some positive feedback as well as some consistent improvement in the use of electronic 
record keeping supporting the nursing handover and discharge planning. 

The NerveCentre software also allows all patient observations to be recorded electronically - temperature, 
blood pressure, pulse, oxygen saturations (the amount of oxygen in the blood), capillary blood glucose 
(sugar) - and there are electronic triggers that, when required, can send immediate alerts to specialist teams 
and medical staff to get the most timely interventions for the very sick patients.  The clinical facilitators 
support training staff to use these systems.  

 

National NHS staff survey 

The NHS Staff Survey was carried out in October and November 2018, on behalf of NHS England and the 
results form a key part of the Care Quality Commission’s assessment of NHS Trusts in respect of its regulatory 
activities such as registration, the monitoring of on-going compliance and reviews. 

This year we carried out a full census survey – which means every member of staff (14,712) that was eligible 
to take part would have received a survey to complete.   
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We had 5,448 responses returned, giving us a response rate of 37 per cent.  This was an increase of 3 per 
cent from the previous year; the national average (median) for Acute Trusts stands at 47 per cent. 

The results of the NHS Staff Survey showed improvements in some areas relating to feedback about changes 
made in response to reported incidents and also in the number of staff that are satisfied with their level of 
pay.  There was also significant improvement in managers supporting staff to receive training, learning or 
development identified in appraisals, however there was an overall decline in staff health and wellbeing 
which mirrors the national picture. 

More of our staff would recommend the Trust as a place to work, compared to last year and the percentage 
of staff that would recommend our hospitals for care remains static at 65 per cent. 

 

 

 

Learning and development 

Ensuring all of our staff have access to the right skills and knowledge is crucial if we are to deliver Caring at its 
Best by Becoming the Best.   We, through our Apprenticeship and Development Team are committed to 
providing learning and development opportunities to all of our staff.  We offer a wide range of 
apprenticeships and courses by working together with local colleges and private training providers 
maintaining a robust process for monitoring performance. 

In December 2018 we gained ‘Fully Endorsed’ status during our annual review and revalidation for the Skills 
for Health Quality Mark.  This quality benchmark demonstrates our passion and enthusiasm for learning 
excellence and ‘making a difference’ across our organisation and the wider health community.  This also 
recognises that we have been innovative in the way we put together our learning programmes and we have 
sought to reflect that our programmes really do focus on what we, and the NHS needs.  As an organisation 
we have also regained MATRIX Standard accreditation for our information, advice and guidance provision. 

Since gaining main provider status with the Education and Skills Funding Agency we continue to develop and 
monitor our quality provision and deliver training to Education and Skills Funding Agency and Ofsted 
requirements. 

Our team of competent facilitators and practitioners deliver skills, knowledge and behaviours required in 
new apprenticeship standards and associated qualifications, as well as support and prepare learners on their 
journey to the end point assessment which is carried out by external independent companies.  The works 
supports us in developing the workforce we need to deliver our services to patients. 

As a training provider, and in addition to our own robust monitoring of training provision, we welcome 
partner organisations to monitor our training delivery, including North Warwickshire, South Leicester 
College, Leicester College, MATRIX Standard, our local Workforce Development Team, City & Guilds, ILM, 
Pearsons and the National Skills Academy for Health. 

  
2016 2017 2018 

Position 
compared to 
2017 result 

Average 
(median) for 
acute trusts 

Q21a 
"Care of patients / service users is 
my organisation's top priority" 

74% 74% 74% 

 

77% 

Q21b 
"My organisation acts on 
concerns raised by 
patients/service users" 

74% 75% 73% 

 

73% 

Q21c 
"I would recommend my 
organisation as a place to work" 

60% 57% 60% 
 

62% 

Q21d 

"If a friend or relative needed 
treatment, I would be happy with 
the standard of care provided by 
this organisation" 

65% 65% 65% 
 

71% 

Q22a 
Patient/service user feedback 
collected within 
directorate/department 

85% 90% 90% 

 

89% 
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A new partnership working arrangement has been set up with Leicester College which further supports our 
workforce development, both through apprenticeships and functional skills.  Functional skills allow our staff 
to access maths and English education programmes from which their new skills impact not only their working 
lives but home lives, their families and local communities too. 

Appropriate learning and development needs continue to be identified through the appraisal process within 
our Clinical Management Group’s and enables our staff to the gain skills and qualifications that will meet 
both the needs of the organisation to improve patient care and the delivery of services. 

During the last year, there were seven core business courses led by the team including appraisals and 
preparing for your retirement etc., which were attended by 842 members of staff. 

The IT Training Team continues to deliver core clinical system training in HISS and Patient Centre 
functionality to staff across our organisation and the Alliance.  Other areas of the training portfolio include 
our internal and external web pages.  The team continue to support future IT initiatives and projects across 
the organisation, including the e-Hospital Programme.  The team have recently added Excel to their 
developing portfolio, having to increase the number of sessions to meet demand.  The team also offer 
courses during the ‘Festival of Learning’ event held later in the year.  From 2018-2019 over 2000 learners 
have booked onto various IT Training courses through the on-line booking system, HELM. 

The department runs weekly corporate induction events across the year supporting just over 2,000 new 
starters when they join our organisation.  This is a good opportunity for new staff to meet the Chief Executive 
and allows us to set a standard at the start of their time with us around our values and behaviours and 
essential training such as fire safety, safeguarding and equality alongside receiving their new ID badge.  At 
the beginning of 2019 we introduced the ‘New Starter’ pin badge to help support new staff.  It is aimed at 
enhancing some of the great practice that is already happening in our hospitals.  

The Core Training Team is responsible for the delivery of Statutory and Mandatory Training.  Staff compliance 
levels have increased from 88 per cent in 2017/2018 to 90 per cent in 2018/2019 against a target of 95 per 
cent.  During the year the Statutory and Mandatory Training reporting has seen three different levels of 
Cyber Security and Data Protection (incl. GDPR) training replace one level of Information Governance. We 
have also allocated three levels of Safeguarding Children Training to relevant staff members to replace the 
previous year’s single level of training.  During the past year we have also started to remove staff that are on 
long-term sick leave, maternity leave and those staff no longer working for us from the training data.  Clinical 
Management Groups are still encouraged to ensure that action plans are in place to sustain/ improve 
performance against all core programmes.  Mandatory Training continues to be supported by the provision 
of e-learning programmes aligned to the national Core Skills Training Framework (Skills for Health) and ten of 
the eleven subjects within the portfolio are included in the above data.  E-Learning programmes continue to 
evolve, be created and rolled out across the Trust; we currently have 76 modules in development or being 
reviewed/ updated, with more than 90 live at the moment for staff to access. 

HELMs dashboard functionality has more than 1,400 managers with access to live training data.  The Pure 
Reporting functionality on HELM gives 50 of the senior administrators of the system access to data 
interrogation functions.  Over 2018/2019 HELM has also started to send out automated reminders prior to 
staffs training expiring, to reduce the number of staffs whose training expires prior to renewal.  User 
feedback suggests they find it very simple and easy to navigate and use.  Managers and trainers are finding 
the Dashboard useful in chasing non-compliance and the CQC were happy with the training data they 
received from HELM. 

 

Apprenticeships 

We continue to broaden the offer of apprenticeships during to support working towards the Public Duty of 
Care target, (2.3 per cent of the workforce by 2019/20 – our figure 1.10 per cent in 2018/19).  We currently 
have 357 learners following apprenticeship education programmes, with 238 of these starting in 2018/19.  
We have delivered 54 per cent of our apprenticeships through our apprenticeship centre and have 43 
learners on our internal centre programmes from other health and social care organisations including 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust and LOROS.  We anticipate the offer of apprenticeships will continue to 
grow aligned to the emerging standards and workforce needs across the system. 
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Through the Apprenticeship Levy, the employer is now more in control of the contracting for educational 
needs.  A significant amount of procurement and contract work continued in 2018/19 to secure training 
contracts with Access Training, Complete Lean Solutions, BC Arch, Nottingham Trent University, 
Loughborough College and hospitality industry training as new standards are developed.  In early 2018 we 
began to develop relationships with Regent College, Leicester College and South Leicester College to offer 
careers advice in apprenticeship opportunities to their health students. Collaborative relationships will 
continue in 2019 with the newly merged Regent College and WQE with the transition of their students who 
aspire to achieve careers in health with us. 

Our Level 2 and Level 3 Health Care Support apprenticeship learners continue to achieve high level pass 
rates.  We were one of the first learning providers in the country to progress through the final assessment 
process and continue to achieve 100 per cent final assessment pass rate in Level 2 Health. 

Through the Apprenticeship Levy, which was introduced nationally in 2017/18, we have supported staff in 
accessing apprenticeship education programmes.  The Levy pot is funded from the government top slicing of 
our pay budget each month by 0.5 per cent.  This money can be spent solely on apprenticeship education 
programme costs and there are strict rules around it.  At the end of March 2019 we will have access to a 
further levy pot of £4,020,918.00 to continue support the learners on an apprenticeship education 
programme and start new learners. 

We continue to be the regional provider for the new Public Health England screening qualifications and the 
national provider for the Level 5 Assistant Practitioner Diploma (bowel screening). 

We are currently working with the University of Leicester to deliver training to a cohort of Trainee Assistant 
Practitioners (TAPS) from our theatre teams.  This is seen as part of their progressing into Operating 
Department Practitioner (OPD) roles. 

The current new born hearing screening learners are due to complete later this year with more cohorts 
expected. 

We have redesigned our webpage making the information more accessible to employees and managers with 
a link from the home page of INsite.  A new Development Directory was produced to support CPD discussions 
at appraisals and an expression of interest form created to support enquiries.   A manager’s guide to 
recruiting an apprentice can also be found on the webpage along with information on health specific 
apprenticeships. 

We successfully underwent an OFSTED monitoring visit in July 2018, as part of a series of national monitoring 
visits to a sample of new apprenticeship training providers that are funded through the apprenticeship levy.  
The focus of these visits was across three themes to ensure organisations were making reasonable progress 
with the levy.  Across all themes our Apprenticeship and Development Centre was awarded the status of 
‘making reasonable progress’.  This is a fantastic achievement and one which the centre is exceptionally 
proud of. 

In December 2018 we were recognised and thanked at the House of Commons by RT Hon Anne Milton MP as 
being one of the top performing apprenticeship employers in the country. 

We will be again celebrating the successes of all of our employee’s apprenticeship achievements at the 
Leicester HUB Graduation celebration event at DeMontfort Hall in June 2019. 

By the end of 2018/19, 423 new apprenticeship standards have now been approved for delivery by the 
Institute of Apprenticeships and are available for employers to procure through the Apprenticeship Levy. 

We offered a variety of different opportunities to staff during Apprenticeship Week (4th -8th March).  These 
included the opportunity for managers and potential learners to find out more about the range of 
apprenticeship opportunities from various training providers, free advice and guidance sessions, and 
members of the team visited the Leicester Employment Hub, Leicester College and DeMonfort University.  
We also held masterclasses on Inclusive Recruitment and Manager Workshops. 

 

Work experience 

We currently offer work experience for varying durations for Year 12 and 13 students, degree graduates on 
clinical programmes and those doing health and social care related courses.  Work experience in our 
organisation provides individuals the opportunity to work in a supervised healthcare environment and gain 
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valuable insights into different careers.  The experience gives people the chance to actively take part and 
observe ‘what it’s like’ working in the NHS and hospital setting. 

The Apprenticeship and Development team continue to support the Princes Trust ‘Get Into’ Hospital 
Programme, offering a 4 week classroom and work placement programme in a hospital work environment, 
programmes 12 and 13 are running this year. 

 

Celebrating achievements 

Our annual training awards ceremony allows us to celebrate staff achievements in learning and 
development. At our annual event in October 2018 we presented 55 learners with certificates for 
successfully completing vocational, skills for life, information technology or management qualifications; a 
number of special achievement awards were also presented by Executive and Non-Executive directors.  

In November 2018, 105 people attended our 25 Year Service Recognition dinner, celebrating their long 
service with the NHS. 

In June our annual Apprentice Graduation Ceremony took place, organised and hosted by the Leicester 
Apprenticeship Hub.  All leaners that have completed an apprenticeship in 2017/18 were eligible to attend 
the event.  We had 26 learners in attendance celebrating the completion of their programmes.  We will be 
again celebrating the successes of all of our employee’s apprenticeship achievements at the Leicester HUB 
Graduation celebration event at DeMontfort Hall in June 2019. 

 

Valuing our staff – Reward and Recognition 

We recognise that our staff are the most valuable resource we have and they are vital to us delivering high 
quality services for the benefit of the population of Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland. 

 
Our Caring at its Best Awards were launched in 2011 and have enabled us to recognise and reward more staff 
than ever before by moving to quarterly awards with an annual ceremony.  The process involves asking not 
only staff, but also our patients and visitors to help us find those exceptional staff that are living our values 
and providing excellent care. 

Our Caring at its Best Awards reflect six categories, one for each of our values (nominated by staff) and one 
public nominated award. 

All winners and highly commended staff from throughout the year were invited to the annual dinner hosted 
by our Chairman and Chief Executive in September.  At the event all of our winners were celebrated 
following a judging panel made up of variety of key stakeholders chose overall “winners” who were 
presented with a certificate and trophy.   

At the annual ceremony we also present an award for our ‘Volunteer of the Year’ in thanks for the support 
and commitment they give to our organisation. 

 

Equality and Human Rights 

It is our aim to provide care and services that are appropriate and sensitive to all. 

We always ensure that our services promote equality of opportunity, equality of access, and are non-
discriminatory. 

We are proud of our place in the local community and are keen to embrace the many cultures and traditions 
that make it so diverse. 
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The diversity of this community is reflected in the ethnic and cultural mix of our staff. By mirroring the 
diversity that surrounds us, our staff are better placed to understand and provide for the cultural and 
spiritual needs of patients. 

 

“Freedom to Speak Up” Guardian 

Taking every opportunity to listen to staff views and concerns is extremely important to us as we know that 
this improves patient safety and staff engagement.  In February 2017 we appointed a Freedom to Speak Up 
Guardian and since then have built on mechanisms whereby staff can speak up and share their concerns.  

For many years we have run a dedicated ‘3636 Staff Concerns Reporting Line’ which enables any member of 
staff to report a safety concern 24 hours a day, seven days a week.  They may do this anonymously if they 
wish, but every concern reported via this route is followed up by the Director on Call for that day.  More than 
30 were raised in 2018/19.  This ensures an immediate, very senior and totally impartial response to serious 
safety concerns.  

Staff may also speak up or raise concerns via the Chief Executive ‘Breakfast with the Boss’ sessions, during 
director ward and department safety walkabouts, through the Junior Doctor Gripe Tool, as well as directly 
with the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian.  

The Freedom to Speak Up Guardian has attended a number of team meetings across our hospitals and holds 
monthly “Here for you” events across all sites in partnership with the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian from 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust and the Head of Chaplaincy.   

The Freedom to Speak Up Guardian has held drop-in sessions in several departments to provide an 
opportunity for our staff to raise concerns.  In addition, the guardian has done a number of shadowing shifts 
with a variety of staff to see first-hand the challenges they may face. 

We continue to work closely with the National Guardian’s Office and with local and regional colleagues to 
promote the national Freedom to Speak up agenda across our organisation. 

To promote a ‘gold standard’ approach when responding to staff concerns, we have designed a short 
animation called the ‘5 steps to responding to staff concerns’, available on YouTube, which encourages all 
staff to have a positive experience when raising concerns.   

Every member of staff who raises a concern (who leaves their name) receives personal feedback and on-
going information and support should they require it as we recognise it can be hard to raise a concern.  

The Freedom to Speak Up Guardian attends the Trust Board and other Trust meetings, such as the Executive 
Quality Board and Quality and Outcomes Committee, where she presents a quarterly report on the themes 
and trends of concerns raised, sometimes staff stories, together with actions taken or proposals for the 
Board.  This will continue into 2019/20. 

In this last year we have completed our Freedom to Speak Up vision, strategy and plan which are available on 
the safety portal for all staff to see. 

Number of Junior Doctor Gripes 
received by financial quarter 2017/18 

Quarter 
1 

Quarter 
2 

Quarter 
3 

Quarter 
4 

Total 

2017/18 Number of Junior Doctor 
Gripes received 

39 24 21 27 111 

2018/19 Number of Junior Doctor 
Gripes received 

14 37 26 22 99 

 

Number of F2SU Staff concerns received by 
financial quarter 2017/18 

Quarter 
1 

Quarter 
2 

Quarter 
3 

Quarter 
4 

Total 

2017/18 Number of concerns received 20 17 17 23 77 

2018/19 Number of concerns received 15 30 26 22 93 
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Number of 3636 Staff concerns received by 
financial quarter 2014/15 to 2017/18 

Quarter 
1 

Quarter 
2 

Quarter 
3 

Quarter 
4 

Total 

2014/15 Number of concerns received 5 5 5 5 20 

2015/16 Number of concerns received 3 4 9 7 23 

2016/17 Number of concerns received 6 15 6 2 29 

2017/18 Number of concerns received 13 23 8 14 58 

2018/19 Number of concerns received 9 8 9 12 38 

 

Patient Safety Improvement Plan – ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign 

In September 2014 we signed up to the national 'Sign Up to Safety' campaign.  The aim of the campaign was 
to strengthen patient safety in the NHS and make it the safest healthcare system in the world. Although this 
national campaign is due, we have pledged to continue this work by including our patient safety 
improvement plan within our Quality Commitment.  As part of this continued improvement, we pledged to:  

 Put patient safety first; 

 Focus on continuous learning; 

 Be honest and transparent; 

 Collaborate with others to share learning and good practice; 

 Be supportive and help people understand why things go wrong. 

Our ‘Sign up to Safety’ safety improvement priorities for 2017/18 were aimed at improving the recognition, 
escalation and on-going management of the deteriorating patient, as a Trust we continue to strive for 
excellence through the sustainability and enhancement of these existing improvements. 

In 2018/19, as part of the continuation of the ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign we have: 

 Embedded the team within the Emergency Department, dedicated to the recognition and 
management of sepsis, this team continues to provide training and support both within the 
emergency department and across all three sites; 

 Used the “The Little Voice Inside” obstetric training package (TED) to share best practice and improve 
patient safety, which forms part of the NHS Improvement Attain (maternity and neonatal) national 
training programme.  This has been introduced and adopted into maternity training programmes 
across NHS organisations nationwide and in New Zealand and Australia; 

 Continued to develop our Patient Safety Portal in response to stakeholder feedback, current policies 
and the learning needs of our stakeholders; 

 Continued to monitor and disseminate the human factors and ergonomics e-learning modules which 
provide a more in-depth understanding of human factors and the part this plays in adverse events; 

 Embedded the roll-out of electronic observations across all specialities, whilst also implementing 
new clinical pathways and observation tools. 

 

Occupational Health Support 

Our Occupational Health Service continues to be an integral part of our organisation and plays an ever 
important role in supporting our staff and their managers with all matters relating to health and work. 

Service activity has grown by around 14 per cent this year, as workplace managers have made more referrals 
for their employees, demonstrating that they are keen to support employees’ health problems in the 
workplace, make return to work plans after absence, and ensure that any potential hazards to health caused 
by work are controlled.  

Once again, the Occupational Health Service has exceeded its own record and vaccinated more staff against 
influenza than any previous year, reaching 78.1 per cent of frontline healthcare staff; over 1,500 more than 
last year.  This fantastic achievement has again been made possible by a dedicated and hard-working team of 
peer vaccinators, as well as high profile senior leadership across the Trust.  
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The Occupational Health Service retained its independent accreditation as a Safe, Effective, Quality 
Occupational Health Service (SEQOHS) following annual review.  

We continue to provide occupational health services for the local and regional healthcare community, 
including healthcare students at Leicester and De Montfort Universities, as well as other NHS and non-NHS 
organisations. 

 

Health and Safety 

Critical work this year involved the safety challenges around the building and commissioning of the proposed 
Endoscopy decontamination unit, and the planning and commissioning of Ward 20 at the Glenfield.  

Successful initiatives were: 

 the revised Health and Safety eLearning training programme that now includes Radiation Protection 
Training; 

 the completion of our RADON Monitoring programme; 

 the relaunch of the Health and safety Environmental Audit.  

Last year we had an unfortunate rise in RIDDOR reportable injuries (the most serious category of reported 
injury) with 58 confirmed incidents compared to 34 the previous year representing a 58 per cent increase.  
For 2018/19 we set a target of no more than 50 incidents, and with just 44 reported, that represents a 25 per 
cent reduction on the previous year.  

The bespoke office environment training and assessment room at the Bracken Centre, Glenfield Hospital has 
now been fully equipped.  Providing a range of the latest designs in assistive office equipment we have had 
tremendous success in supporting safer working for staff in the workplace.  This has promoted comfort and 
productivity and has had a positive effect in reducing sickness absence.  

There have been no enforcement notices issued to us from the Health and Safety Executive this year. 

 

Manual Handling 

The manual handling advisors have risen to the challenge to provide the expert help, advice, support and 
equipment to meet the needs of both patient and staff.  

Through collaborative working with Medical Physics we have identified 18 patient hoists most in need of 
replacing and installed new hoists, continuing the good work that was started last year. 

The manual handling training packages have been updated this year with a particular reference to the risks 
caused by static working.  This highlights some of the risks caused by sedentary working, ways of avoiding 
these and keeping healthy, all supported by the Display Screen Equipment assessment area that has been 
set-up in the Bracken Training centre. 

The rise in bariatric admissions seen over the previous years has steadied this year with numbers about the 
same as 2017/18.   

 

Security Management 

This year was the first year that the classification of physical and verbal assaults has changed, and a new 
heading - patient’s condition (PC) – has been added to use if it was deemed to be a factor in the assault. This 
includes stress, confusion, disorientation, delirium, prescribed medication effects, dementia, etc.  As you can 
see from the table, the vast majority of physical assaults were deemed to be patient condition related.  
Conversely, the vast majority of verbal assaults had no known patient condition factors involved. 
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Reported Assaults on staff 

 Physical Verbal Total 

2014/15 238 276 514 

2015/16 226 284 510 

2016/17 261 239 500 

2017/18 249 243 492 

2018/19 April 1st to March 11th 
Physical PC Physical Verbal PC Verbal  

194 97 38 232 561 

 

It is clear that the overall numbers for assaults for the year will be significantly higher than reported in the 
previous years (a rise of 13 per cent compared to last year.)  This follows the national trend seen throughout 
the NHS where assaults have been on the increase in the last two years.  The Secretary of State for Health 
and Social Care has publicly stated that new measures will be put into place to combat this. 

We have appointed an additional Conflict Management Trainer to support our income generating work.  
Initially appointed on a 12 month contract this is in relation to the courses we have been asked to put on for 
The Bradgate Unit, Evington Centre, and NHS Trusts in Nottingham and Birmingham, as well as private 
contractors ISS.  The courses are bespoke to the acute care environment and have recently been reviewed by 
NHS England as an example of good practice. 

Our CCTV infrastructure has received a £240,000 investment this year which has seen cameras and system 
upgrades on all three of our hospital sites.  This enables better viewing of images and utilisation of the 
technology to analyse, edit and download images in a more timely way. 

We continue to exercise powers of sanction against members of the public due to behaviour issues.  This 
continues our commitment to maintaining a safe and secure environment for staff and patients. 

The partnership between ourselves and Leicestershire Police continues to thrive and has been enhanced with 
contacts for Leicester City Council.  This collaborative approach to crime reduction has led to addressing 
criminal behaviour, preventing crime and an increase in prosecutions against perpetrators. 

 

Emergency Planning 

The patients and communities that we serve expect us to be there for them when they need it, irrespective 
of the circumstances we face.  

As such, we must do all that we can to ensure we are well prepared to respond to any disruptive challenges 
or emergencies that we might come to face, which could be anything from extreme weather events, 
outbreaks of infectious diseases, terrorist attacks or major transport accidents. 

Highlights:  Early in the year, our emergency planning team carried out a comprehensive review of our 
emergency preparedness, resilience and response arrangements, the outcomes of which have gone on to 
inform a new three-year work programme to build on our existing resilience.  

To support the new work programme, we introduced a new Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and 
Response Policy in October 2018, making it clear how we will meet our obligations in this area of work.  

As the year progressed, the emergency planning team introduced a number of new emergency plans, 
including for severe weather, heat wave, cold weather, bomb threat, suspect package and lockdown plans.  

A key achievement this year has been the redevelopment of our system for notifying and communicating 
with staff during an emergency.  The new system – called UHL ALERTS – allows senior managers to quickly 
notify staff of an incident via voice calls, SMS and email in a matter of minutes of an incident being declared.  
The emergency planning team has tested the system in two communications tests during the year, the 
outcomes of which have been positive opportunities for learning.  

Core Standards:  We are required to assess our resilience on an annual basis against “NHS England’s Core 
Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response”, which are the minimum standards NHS 



University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19 

84 

organisations, like us, must meet to comply with the requirements of their planning framework, the NHS 
Contract and the Civil Contingencies Act. 

The outcome of the self-assessment for 2018/19 showed that of the 64 applicable standards, we were: 

 fully compliant with 49 of the standards; 

 partially compliant with 6 of the standards; 

 Non-compliant with 8 of the standards. 

Overall, we were assigned an assurance rating of ‘partially compliant.’  

We are confident that our new emergency preparedness, resilience and response work programme will 
enable it to achieve full compliance against all of the applicable core standards within three years. 

Looking Ahead:  Our emergency planning team will continue to work hard on delivering against its work 
programme and will provide the Trust Board an update in April and October 2019.  Of particular note, this 
will include introducing a new Incident Response Plan which will provide staff a clear and simple framework 
for responding to all types of emergency and disruptions. 

 

Risk management 

Effective risk management awareness and practice at all levels is an integral success factor for us.  At its 
simplest, risk management is good management practice.  It should not be seen as an end in itself, but as 
part of an overall management approach as risk is inherent in everything we do.  The success of our services 
requires us to identify risks and ensure that these are adequately managed so that we can achieve our 
objectives and immediate priorities. 

An established risk management policy is in place to provide a framework for the management and reporting 
of all types of risks to aid with decision-making.  The policy includes accountability for managing risks to 
ensure a clear line of sight for reporting risks across all levels in the organisation from ‘ward to board’.  The 
framework is the foundation of evidence that gives confidence to the Board that risk is being effectively 
managed, or, conversely, highlights gaps in systems that need to be addressed.  The purpose of the Board 
Assurance Framework and the risk register enables the Board and its sub-committees to receive assurance 
that all principal and organisational (corporate and operational) risks are being effectively managed and to 
commission additional review where it identifies a gap.  This process enables the Board to, among other 
things, have confidence in its self-assessment in the Annual Governance statement. 

The Board Assurance Framework has been closely monitored during the year by the executive team and the 
Trust Board at their monthly meetings.  The Board Assurance Framework includes a description of the 
principal risks which may have the potential to adversely affect the achievement of our strategic objectives 
and immediate priorities.  The highest rated risks and areas of concern recorded on the Board Assurance 
Framework relate to workforce gaps, demand and capacity capability, management of finances and estate 
infrastructure.  

The corporate risk team provides support to the Clinical Management Groups and corporate directorates 
with management of their operational and corporate risks, including risk awareness training, facilitation with 
risk assessments and monthly risk register reporting.  Further actions to address suggested 
recommendations from audits and inspections will be carried out during 2019/20. 

Risk Management - Looking ahead to 2019/20: 

 Refresh of the Board Assurance Framework to identify to manage the principal risks aligned with the 
new Quality Strategy ‘to deliver caring at its best to every patient, every time’; 

 Work with Clinical Management Groups and corporate leadership teams and the executive team to 
provide specialised support and guidance to help embed enterprise risk management, including 
acting on the findings from inspection reports; 

 Review our training needs analysis and explore alternative methods to deliver our risk awareness 
training programme to all levels of staff; 

 Develop a risk assessment toolkit for our staff on our intranet to describe the risk assessment 
process and provide advice about risk descriptions, control measures, and treatment plans; 

 Explore the feasibility of using a web-based risk register tool to record and report risks. 
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Medical Device Incident Management  

The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA), NHS England and NHS Improvement 
have formed a strategic partnership to develop safety alert broadcasts and guidance to improve the 
reporting of, and learning from, medical device related incidents and near misses.  

A number of local actions have been taken to support compliance with the national framework, including 
implementing the role of the Medical Device Safety Officer and establishing a Medical Devices Safety Group, 
with clinical, risk management and medical physics representation.  

Work programmes continue within the Trust to improve data quality in relation to medical device incident 
reports, subsequently enabling more effective data analysis to provide early indications of prevalent incident 
trends and opportunity to develop treatment plans to improve patient safety. 

Medical Device Incident Management - Looking ahead to 2019/20:  We will strengthen medical equipment 
governance processes through regular liaison with medical physics colleagues and the Medical Equipment 
Executive Group to seek assurance that there are appropriate control arrangements are in place to mitigate 
risks to patient safety.   

 

Central Alerting System 

National patient safety alerts, Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency medical device alerts, 
important public health messages and other critical safety information and guidance are issued to NHS Trusts 
via the national Central Alerting System.  This is a web-based system that provides a mechanism for 
healthcare organisations to confirm that actions to comply with national alerts have been taken within 
specified timescales.   

We consistently achieve a high level of compliance with deadlines and from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019 
we received a total of 89 national alerts. 

The Estates and Facilities Team breached an alert in 2018, reference number EFA-2018-004 – Integrated 
Plumbing System Panels – Risk of Accidental Detachment.  This alert was due to close on the 21st November 
2018.  The closure was delayed due to the extensive number of panels across all sites and limited estates 
resources against other higher risk service priorities, which delayed the alert meeting the deadline.  Our 
Executive Team agreed a revised completion date and the alert was formally closed in March 2019. 

Central Alerting System – Looking ahead to 2019/20: 

 Focus on quality improvement by monitoring effectiveness of the actions that we have signed off in 
the alert; 

 Carry out a further review of Central Alerting System governance system to explore the opportunity 
to introduce a web-based reporting system.  
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Education and Research 
To deliver high quality, relevant education and research in 2018/19… 

 We will improve the experience of our medical students and address specialty-
specific shortcomings in postgraduate medical education, improving our local 
retention rate and our medical student satisfaction score 

 We will explore the model  for an Academic Health Sciences Partnership as part of our 5-year 
Research Strategy and align priorities with our local universities 

 

We will improve the experience of our medical students and address specialty-specific 
shortcomings in postgraduate medical education, improving our local retention rate and our 
medical student satisfaction score 

The implementation of the new undergraduate curriculum has been a huge but successful challenge, thanks 
to the hard work of colleagues across the Trust.  Students have fed back positively on the Very Early Clinical 
Experience ‘VECE’ program, where they are exposed to clinical medicine early in the course. The 
Compassionate Holistic Diagnostic Detective Course (previously known as the Clinical Skills course) course is 
running really well with positive feedback, but we are still looking for more staff to be tutors.   

The first cohort of new graduates completed junior medicine and surgery in year three.  The feeling was that 
they were better prepared for the end of year examinations than ever before.  The curriculum transition 
bulge has just passed through year four; with staff doing everything they could to accommodate the 
additional numbers and feedback from the apprenticeship period in year five was excellent.  The 
apprenticeship will continue to evolve to train and prepare our students for their first day as Foundation 
doctors.  

Leicester Medical School has risen in the national rankings since the curriculum change.  Our Education 
Fellows have worked productively throughout the year submitting work for international meetings.  Their 
work has seen real changes introduced in clinical teaching across many blocks demonstrating to students 
that we are listening to their suggestions for change.  The University of Leicester has appointed a number of 
our consultants as Clinical Academic Tutors.  These tutors will be responsible for groups of students in the 
clinical part of the course.  

A number of our consultants have been awarded Honorary University titles in recognition of their work in 
education and training.  The University’s Head of Medical Education regularly visits us, meeting the 
undergraduate block leads to brief them on the curriculum and receive feedback.  

Our Physician Associate Students are an emerging workforce and will support doctors in the delivery of safe 
high quality patient care and the education and training of trainees and medical students.  We have 
appointed a Physician Associate Tutor to support students from De Montfort University whilst they are on 
placement with us.  

We will address specialty-specific shortcomings in postgraduate medical education and trainee experience 
in order to make our services a more attractive proposition for postgraduates Postgraduate Medical 
Education: 

Our Medical Education Strategy has been updated for 2019-2021 and we continue to use an ‘Education 
Quality Improvement Plan’ which informs Trust and Executive Boards on our performance.  

Our bi-annual survey has a high response rate (>50 per cent) from junior doctors and the most recent survey 
revealed that 88.6 per cent of this staff group would recommend their current post to a colleague.  The 
survey provides us with data at Clinical Management Group and specialty level which is used to identify good 
practice and drive forward improvement.  

Over the past 12 months our Chief Registrars have led on a number of projects in both hospitals to improve 
the working lives of junior doctors.  One of these projects was to explore levels of morale at work for junior 
doctors and in March 2018, over 400 junior doctors responded to a local survey.  Survey findings were 
presented to the Chief Executive and Medical Director and we continue to use a Listening into Action process 
to improve junior doctor morale.  
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A new cross-specialty Grand Round Meeting for all medical staff was launched on 4th May 2018 and 
meetings are now held on a monthly basis.   

For the first time we recognised the excellent standard of teaching within our organization with the launch of 
our ‘Educator Awards’.  These new awards were presented to senior and junior medical staff that teach both 
undergraduate and postgraduate medicine.  There were also a number of awards to acknowledge the crucial 
role played by those who support the delivery of medical education.  The award ceremony was held in 
September 2018 and we are already planned the 2019 ceremony for this autumn.  

In order to improved recruitment and retention of our junior doctors, we appointed a Communications 
Officer for Medical Education in November 2018.  Good news stories and important, topical information have 
been communicated via social media and on both the external website for Clinical Education and the 
intranet.  

We set up a steering group in 2018 to facilitate and communicate the curricular changes in the Trust and in 
August 2019 we will be implementing the new Internal Medicine Curriculum.   

We have recently appointed Leads for Return to Training and Less Than Full Time Training.  Both leads will 
develop support networks, induction processes and training opportunities for the respective groups of 
trainees over the next 12 months. 

 

We will explore the model for an Academic Health Sciences Partnership as part of our 5-year 
Research Strategy and align priorities with our local universities 

In 2017/18 we said: We will explore the model for an Academic Health Sciences Partnership as part of our 
5-year Research Strategy and align priorities with our local universities. 

We did: All potential members of the Leicestershire Academic Health Sciences Partnership have now held 
board-level discussions, and a memorandum of understanding has been agreed. It is anticipated that this will 
be signed and officially launched in April 2019. 

Overview 

In 2018/19, research income exceeded £19.1M of which £2.1M was generated through commercial activity.  

When combined with the £16.6m for the hosting of East Midlands Clinical Research Network income gives a 

total income of £35.8m for the year. 

We have had 1,025 active trials running in the current financial year, recruiting 14,475 participants (a 25 per 
cent increase on 2017/18).  

The newly recruited lead nurse for research is spearheading workforce development and academic career 
pathways for nurses and allied health professionals. In response to an internal survey, we have substantially 
redeveloped the Leicester’s Research website to support our research staff to set-up, delivery and report 
their studies.  We have recruited to a strategic public involvement group – the Public Research Engagement 
Panel – to strengthen engagement. 

Professor Elaine Boyle (consultant neonatologist) was named the Leicester City Football Club’s Professor of 
Child Health – the first time a professorship has been funded by a football club.  Gerry McCann was awarded 
a prestigious five-year professorship from the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) to study the use 
of MRI scanning to detect early signs of heart failure in patients with type 2 diabetes.  

In oncology, we co-published a study to show that the time of day that breast cancer patients received 
radiotherapy could be an important factor in the extent to which they experienced side-effects 
(Symonds/Talbot).  Our respiratory researchers announced that a five-year study into an intervention by 
specialist nurses halved the death rate from community-acquired pneumonia (Woltmann et. al).  There were 
also awards for our post-mortem imaging team (Society of Radiographers), Dr Reem Al-Jayyousi (NIHR 
Clinical Research Network (CRN) national award), and our midwifery team (outstanding research delivery, 
NIHR CRN East Midlands award). 

NIHR Infrastructure 

The NIHR Leicester Biomedical Research Centre has continued apace with its vision of a clear translational 
research pathway from bench to bedside.  We have been instrumental in developing a Midlands Health 
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Alliance to tackle the ‘grand challenges’ of sarcopenia and multi-morbidity.  We have also led the 
development of a Diet, Activity and Nutrition Translational Research Collaboration (DART), approved by 
DHSC, which connects nine BRCs with shared research ambitions.  Highlights for this year include: finding 
that the asthma drug, Fevipiprant, reduces smooth muscle formation in the airway, with accompanying 
clinical trials that could lead to the pill being available in clinics by the end of the year (Brightling et al); 
results from a standing desk and education programme (SMArT Work: Edwardson et al) published in the BMJ 
showing that breaking sedentary behaviour at work improves employee well-being and productivity; and 
announcing that a £40 genetic tool in childhood can predict the risk of heart attacks in later life (Samani et 
al).  

We had 86 active studies supported in the second year of the NIHR Leicester Clinical Research Facility. 
Notable achievements include completion of a trial using a new skin preparation to reduce scarring (Pullar et 
al), and commencement of the Breathspec study (Sahota et al), which is testing the efficacy of a device to 
detect which lower respiratory tract infections are caused by bacteria.  

Priorities for 2019/20: 

 Maximise the opportunities for our patients to benefit from research by embedding an academic 
ethos through all clinical areas; 

 Launch our new Leicestershire Academic Health Science Partnership; 

 Increase the percentage of clinical trials that are commercially funded, through a robust stakeholder 
engagement plan, in partnership with the University of Leicester. 
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Partnerships and Integration 
To develop more integrated care in partnership with others in 2018/19… 

 We will integrate the new model of care for frail people with partners in other 
parts of health and social care in order to deliver an end to end pathway by the 
end of 2018/19 

 We will increase the support, education and specialist advice we offer to our patients and our 
partners to help them receive/deliver care in the community in order to reduce demand on our 
hospitals 

 We will lead the development of a 5 year regional Specialist Services Strategy which will place us at 
the heart of a regional network and supporting local District General Hospital services. 

 

We will integrate the new model of care for frail people with partners in other parts of health and 
social care in order to deliver an end to end pathway by the end of 2018/19 

Since June 2018, we have worked with our health and care system partners to design and deliver a new 
system of care for our functionally frail patients through the ‘Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Frailty 
Task Force’. 

This task force was chaired by our Chief Executive with delivery led by our strategy team in partnership with 
wider system partner.  The task force has successfully put processes into place which will result in our frail 
patients receiving holistic care out of hospital, better care in hospital and will experience fewer delays when 
leaving hospital.  For example, our new ‘Frailty Emergency Squad’ is in place within the Emergency Floor, 
proactively identifying patients who are frail and offering a multi-disciplinary assessment and treatment plan, 
designed to ensure the patient is only admitted if clinically necessary.   

The Frailty Task Force has also enabled the sharing of summary care plans (where patient consent has been 
granted) meaning that hospital clinicians are able to read primary care designed care plans and work with 
patients and their families to enact their wishes. 

The Frailty Task Force also introduced the use of the ‘Clinical Frailty Score’ as a means of identifying frail 
patients in primary care, within our ambulance services, within secondary care and across social care services 
to enable a common language to be used across agencies. 

 

We will increase the support, education and specialist advice we offer to our patients and our 
partners to help them receive/deliver care in the community in order to reduce demand on our 
hospitals 

We continue to strengthen our working relationships and communication with colleagues both in general 
practice and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). Primarily focusing on the transfer of patient care 
between the hospitals and GPs and responding to feedback with regards to any concerns received whilst 
ensuring the safety of patients.  

The GP Services Team continues to act as a conduit to facilitate dialogue and provide representation on 
interface matters, by streamlining our processes through increased electronic accessibility, as well as 
modifying our communication methods to GPs over the last year.  This has been accomplished through 
working closely with all of our partners to ensure that news items, educational bulletins, events, process 
changes and service developments are circulated to all parties in a timely and more accessible manner. This 
especially includes the link of our GP News website page to the GP referral platform (PRISM) which further 
enables GP Practices easy access to all of the updates we produce.  

Our GP Services Team continues to promote the specialist education events that are run by our individual 
departments ensuring that all of our partners have access to accredited educational events.  

Clinical conversations between GPs and consultants continue to be supported through the significant 
expansion of the NHS e-Referral Service Advice and Guidance facility which enables electronic, written advice 
from the consultant teams.  
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Advancements from us to look out for in 2019/2020 as we continue improve the relationship and support for 
our partners:  

 A reciprocal process which will provide our clinicians a mechanism through which they are able to 
feedback to GP Practices.  This will continue to improve the transfer of care across all partners across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 Our GP Services Team will again roll out the annual survey for primary care staff to gain a better 
understanding from primary care colleagues on how we can further improve our services. 

 

We will lead the development of a 5 year regional Specialist Services Strategy which will place us 
at the heart of a regional network and supporting local District General Hospital services  

We provide comprehensive secondary health services – District General Hospital services - for over one 
million people in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, specialised clinical services for the population of the 
East Midlands and some highly complex services nationally. 

Locally, we provide services as part of a networked health and social care system across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland forming the basis of our Sustainability and Transformation Partnership – also 
known as Better Care Together.  Regionally, we provide services working in partnership with other specialist 
Trusts and District General Hospital’s to support the continuation and development of local care and secure 
referrals of specialised patients coming into our hospitals.  

In July 2018 our Five Year Specialised Services Strategy was approved by our Executive Strategy Board.  This 
strategy describes why specialised services are important to us as one of the largest and busiest acute 
teaching hospitals in England.  They make up around a third of our acute services income and, more 
importantly, support a strong research and education portfolio which attracts some of the best clinicians 
internationally to Leicester.  Our specialised services range from the large such as cardiovascular, respiratory, 
children’s services and cancer to small, but key, services including haemoglobinopathy, cystic fibrosis and 
intestinal failure.  

Our strategy explains that our specialised services, which we deliver through networks and partnerships, will 
need to adapt and transform if they are to remain at the level of excellence our patients and clinicians 
expect, whilst remaining clinically and financially sustainable.  Services must to be ready to respond to new 
service specifications, policies and guidelines which are ever more challenging for all providers - our 
organisation should stand out from the crowd, but at the same time recognising we cannot work in isolation 
and must not compromise patients receiving care at our partner hospitals.  Get this wrong and we may lose 
key services or need to take on the care of new groups of patients from outside Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland who are no longer able to access care at their local hospitals.  

Our strategy describes how we will approach getting a better understanding our specialised services, 
prioritise those services where we will concentrate our attention and how we will work with our partners to 
achieve our goals. 

 
Involving patients and the public  

As part of a programme of community engagement we run quarterly “Community Conversations”.  The aim 
of these events is to enable Trust Board members to be more visible in the local community, to listen to a 
diverse range of views on our services and promote and publicise the work of our hospitals.  The events are 
held in a variety of different community venues across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  Over the last 
year our events have included engagement with people with disabilities, people from the African Caribbean 
community and South Asian women living in Leicester. 

One of the key ways in which we actively involve patients in our day to day activities is through its Patient 
Partner group.  Patient Partners are members of the public with experience of our services, either as a 
patient or a carer.  In 2018, we carried out an evaluation of the Patient Partner role, seeking feedback from 
both staff and Patient Partners themselves.  Following this evaluation, and a number of discussions with the 
Trust Board and Patient Partners, the group will now be focusing their activity on the priorities identified in 
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our new Quality Strategy, supporting our aspiration to keep patients at the heart of our quality improvement 
journey.  

We have a large public membership of around 16,500 people across the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
area.  This membership receives regular communications from us (via email), including our quarterly 
magazine Together. We also run a monthly ‘Leicester’s Marvellous Medicine’ health talk which they are 
invited to attend.  We are pleased that attendance at these events is growing and during the year we 
covered topics such as organ donation, prostate cancer, the emergency treatment of injury and bleeding and 
cervical cancer. 

 

Alliance 

The Alliance is a partnership of the main health organisations in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, that 
have come together to deliver better elective care services in community and primary care settings.  The 
Alliance operates within a culture of collaboration and is made up of the following organisations: 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust; 

 University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust; 

 Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Provider Company Limited. 

The Alliance Agreement is a seven year contract and has now reached the end of its fifth year; having started 
on 1st April 2014.  

A review carried out during the latter part of 2018/19 concluded, with agreement by all parties, to extend 
the Agreement for the final two years of the seven year term. 

Our Trust Board remains accountable for the services provided through the UHL pillar contract and this 
report serves to provide an overview of performance for the year. 

Highlights for 2018/19: 

 Cancelled operations 0.6 per cent with a target of 0.8 per cent; 

 DNA (did not attend) rate of 7.4 per cent an improvement on last year’s position of 8.0 per cent; 

 6 weeks diagnostic standard 0.5 per cent against a target of <1 per cent;  

 Appointment Slot Issues rate of 12.3 per cent; a significant improvement on last year’s position of 22 
per cent;  

 Sickness absence rate 2.5 per cent against a target of 3 per cent; 

 97 per cent of staff have had an annual appraisal (against a target of 95 per cent); 

 Referral to Treatment performance started the year in a positive position, but deteriorated during 
the second and third quarters, ending the year at 88.4 per cent; 

 Waiting list size reduction, Leicester’s Hospitals and the Alliance jointly achieved the end of year 
waiting list size position ensuring that it was less than the previous end of March position; 

 For six months of the year we maintained the 7-day clinical correspondence standard for outpatient 
correspondence, with only one month not meeting the standard of 10 days.  This continues to be a 
challenge and is anticipated will remain so until we move to fully digital dictation during the next 
financial year. 

 

Activity Performance 

Overall the UHL Pillar has under delivered against the activity plan.  In the third quarter a Financial Recovery 
Plan was agreed with the Alliance Leadership Board, the actions arising from this have offset some of the 
under delivery, but accounts for our end of year financial position. 

Over the year there continues to be around 2,000 endoscopies in gastroenterology and urology being 
transferred from Leicester’s Hospitals to the Alliance.  In addition to this there are around 200 other day case 
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transfers from a variety of Leicester’s Hospitals specialties which means that for many patients we are able 
to have care closer to home.  Additional service level agreements in 2018/19 in general surgery and 
ophthalmology in particular have led to more day case activity in our community hospitals.  

 

Workforce 

The Alliance has trained two nurse endoscopists who are both practising autonomously across the Alliance 
sites.  There is a future plan for them to be upskilled in both upper and lower endoscopy and to train to be 
able to interpret capsule endoscopy.  

The Alliance Glaucoma Nurse Specialist has started clinic activity supporting the care of our Glaucoma 
Patients. We have also expanded this service by training an assistant practitioner to deliver care on relevant 
ophthalmic patient pathways. We continue to expand our nursing workforce with Advanced Clinical 
Practitioners, Trainee Assistant Practitioners and Nursing Associates. We are working with PCL to expand our 
pool of GPs with a special interest and have several consultants from Leicester’s Hospitals appointed who are 
providing outpatient and endoscopy services across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 

Transformation and Change Activities 

The Alliance has increased the focus and energy around the transformation agenda and has created a 
methodology for delivering change.  Engaging staff and patients at the beginning of the process has helped 
to improve communication and identify ideas for change that increase efficiency and productivity across 
services.   

A review of our administrative and clerical processes has resulted in us consolidating roles and centralising 
functions to create a more flexible and multi-skilled workforce.  

By redesigning our Endoscopy services we have managed to reduce the number of patients who do not 
attend their appointments (a reduction in DNA rates) and an improvement to the pre-assessment process by 
allowing patients to book their directly with the clinic plus introducing pre-assessment telephone and face to 
face appointments across all specialties, has meant we have also managed to reduce the number of day case 
procedures cancelled on the day.  

The Alliance continues to transform services and will be focusing on day case theatre utilisation and 
outpatient services to increase productivity and efficiency across all hospital sites.  

 

Financial performance in 2018/19 

The Alliance reported a year-end deficit to plan of £190,000 for 2018/19.  The main contributing factor was 
underperformance in patient care income due to underperformance against the activity plan.  The Alliance 
delivered the full 3 per cent cost improvement target (£700,000) for the year.  

During the year the Primary Care Pillar of the Alliance continued to make good progress across a number of 
contracts and is delivering the following services:  

 Community non-obstetric ultrasound 

 Echocardiogram 

 Minor hand surgery 

 Vasectomy and circumcision 

 Minor general surgery 

 ENT 

 Dermatology 

This has meant that activity has been delivered in local community settings providing quality care and 
representing value for money. 
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Key Strategic Enablers 
To progress our key strategic enablers in 2018/19… 

 We will progress our hospital reconfiguration plans by developing our plans for PACH 
and the maternity hospital and finalising plans to relocate Level 3 ICU and dependant 
services at the Royal and Glenfield 

 We will make progress towards a paperless hospital with user-friendly systems by replacing all 
computers over 5 years old, computerising services to outpatient clinics, using technology to support 
Quality Commitment objectives and implementing an in-house digital imaging solution in 2018/19 

 We will deliver the Year 3 implementation plan for the ‘UHL Way’ to support and develop staff, 
(medical and non-medical) and offer tailored education programmes focussing on key areas  

 We will implement Year 2 of our Commercial Strategy in order to exploit commercial opportunities 
available to the Trust 

 We will improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our key services and our operating theatres and 
implement our Carter-based LLR corporate consolidation programme 

 We will continue on our journey towards financial stability as a consequence of the priorities 
described here, aiming to deliver our financial target in 2018/19. 

 

We will progress our hospital reconfiguration plans by developing our plans for PACH and the 
maternity hospital and finalising plans to relocate Level 3 ICU and dependant services at the Royal 
and Glenfield 

In 2018/19 the Reconfiguration Plan has progressed well, the main areas to report are: 

Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC):  Last July the East Midlands Clinical Senate reviewed our plans to 
move clinical services to the Royal Infirmary and Glenfield Hospitals and confirmed that the move will 
improve clinical sustainability, workforce and clinical outcomes.  They also reviewed the five year bed bridge 
which identifies the future capacity to be provided in the acute trusts and what clinical models will be put in 
place in the community to support this bed bridge, and were assured by our approach. 

The PCBC was supported by the NHS England Regional Assurance panel.  This is the first formal stage in the 
assurance process whereby the business case is scrutinised by a panel of NHS England and NHS Improvement 
experts to seek assurance that our proposal meets the Governments Four tests for service change as set out 
in NHS England’s published guidance planning, assuring and delivering service change for patients. 

Intensive Care Unit Level 3 and associated services:  The Full Business Case was approved and signed off by 
the Department of Health and Social Care in December 2018, so the project has now moved in to the delivery 
phase with construction starting at the Glenfield Hospital in early 2019 which should be complete in 2020. 

East Midlands Congenital Heart Centre:  As part of our commitment to move the Children’s congenital heart 
service to the Royal Infirmary to meet the NHS co-location standard, the plans are being progressed and the 
full business case is due to be presented to the Trust Board in July 2019.  The construction will start next year 
and conclude in 2020/21.  This move will form the first phase of the new dedicated Children’s Hospital. 

 

We will make progress towards a paperless hospital with user-friendly systems by replacing all 
computers over 5 years old, computerising services to outpatient clinics, using technology to 
support Quality Commitment objectives and implementing an in-house digital imaging solution in 
2018/19 

During 2018/19 we have seen significant progress against our ‘eHospital’ programme objectives aimed at 
reducing our reliance on paper records and enabling our staff to 
work more effectively and efficiently in delivering excellent care. 

We started the ‘eQuip’ equipment replacement project in August 
2018 and so far have replaced more than 2,000 old PCs and laptops 
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with new, secure Windows 10 devices.  In frontline clinical areas we have also introduced single sign on 
capabilities allowing staff to more quickly and easily access the IT systems they need.  Mobile devices more 
than three years old, such as those used by our nursing teams to collect eObservations on our wards, have 
also been replaced and we are on track to have updated more than 5,000 pieces of equipment by the end of 
August 2019.  

This year we have developed and implemented mobile electronic patient assessments using the NerveCentre 
system to replace paper forms.  These include clinical frailty, diabetes, falls risk, pressure ulcer risk, 
malnutrition screening, sepsis screening and infection risk assessments.  Our eAssessments ensure 
information only needs to be collected once and the details entered by the nursing teams can be used to 
trigger automated alerts to colleagues.  We have also introduced the NEWS2 early warning score to help 
ensure timely intervention by our staff for deteriorating patients on our wards. 

Following a significant upgrade to our NerveCentre system in March we were the first hospital in the UK to 
implement automated alerting for patients with Acute Kidney Injury (AKI), ensuring our outreach teams can 
prioritise their work effectively and patients who need critical support receive it in a timely manner.  We 
have also introduced electronic consultant to consultant referrals which allow our Emergency Department 
clinicians to quickly and easily contact colleagues in other specialty areas for support.  

We have rolled out our ePrescribing tool (“eMeds”) to surgical wards and operating theatres at the Royal 
Infirmary, and across the Glenfield hospital, including theatre areas.  This delivers significant patient safety 
benefits in terms of prescribing and medicines administration, and we plan to complete this work with our 
Women’s and Children’s wards and at the General Hospital in 2019/20.  

As planned we implemented a locally hosted Picture Archiving system (PACS) in November 2018 which has 
significantly improved performance and reliability of the system for our clinicians and patients.  We have also 
installed an alerting system (Conserus) which notifies clinicians electronically of critical imaging results.  

In the summer of 2018 we upgraded our Sunquest ICE electronic requesting system for diagnostic tests to 
improve performance and support extension of the system to outpatient areas in 2019.  We have begun 
monitoring performance of the electronic acknowledgement of diagnostic results with the aim of improving 
patient safety and efficiency for our clinicians. 

We have selected our preferred supplier for a standardised transcribing and dictation tool for our clinical 
teams, work is underway to roll this system out across the Trust during 2019.  Our document management 
system (Cito) is now web based and will support better and faster access to key clinical documents in 
outpatient clinics and on our wards. 

In the coming year we will progress our eHospital agenda with a particular focus on Out-patient areas, 
further reducing reliance on paper on our wards and improving our integration with primary and social care 
partners. 

 

We will deliver the Year 3 implementation plan for the ‘UHL Way’ to support and develop staff, 
(medical and non-medical) and offer tailored education programmes focussing on key areas  

We launched the UHL Way in January 2016.  It is the way we manage change in a consistent and sustainable 
way, but also in a way that engages and empowers the staff involved in, and affected by that change.  

The UHL Way is about embedding a culture of continuous improvement across the Trust which in turn 
improves the quality of care we provide to patients, reduces harm, increases efficiency and effectiveness and 
supports cost reduction.  

Over 2018/19, key benefits/ measures of improvement were set out within individual programmes and 
overall improvement to staff experience is monitored at quarterly intervals through the Pulse Check and on 
an annual basis through the National Staff Survey.  

The three components to the UHL Way are: 

1. Better Engagement: Continuing Listening into Action and completing Year 5 of  Implementation  

2. Better Teams: Targeted improvement and development 

3. Better Change: Adopting the best in change and improvement methodology  

These components are supported by the UHL Academy  
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Better Engagement/ Listening into Action:  Classic LiA continues to support Pioneering Teams across the 
Trust to make changes that benefit our patients and staff.  Alongside this, Thematic LiA Teams have seen 
some fantastic achievements, including East Midlands Congenital Heart Centre.  Through their Listening 
Event improved weekly surgical average from 5.6 surgical cases a week to a weekly average of 8.6.   

In total we have seen 286 teams making changes for patients.  

Better Teams:  Better team working is important to us as the relationship staff have with their team can 
make a real difference to their experience at work, and the care patients’ experience.  

Support has been given to a total of 33 teams during 2018/19. 

Better Change:  Better Change is our improvement methodology and consists of an online toolkit, with 
supporting guidance and case studies to ensure that both small and large scale change is led and supported 
in an optimal way. 

The Better Change toolkit is based on the national NHS change methodology and has been developed in 
consultation with both internal and external stakeholders.  The toolkit is in use and work is continuing during 
2019/20 to align change methodologies across the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland system.  In 
supporting change we have introduced our LEAN Apprenticeship to enable us to further embed efficiency 
and change methodologies throughout the organisation.  

UHL Academy:  The UHL Way Academy delivered a suite of modules to the leadership community during 
2018/19.  The Academy is designed to evolve with the needs of our organisation and the wider 
Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland system with programmes and modules introduced and flexed to meet 
the requirements of all learners as they progress through their leadership journey. 

The Academy and its interventions have now been integrated into our Quality Strategy, ‘Becoming the Best’, 
and are designed to support our leaders and staff to develop technical, behavioural and cultural skills to 
enable effective cultural growth. 

As part of the newly developed Quality Strategy, we will deliver effective leadership and cultural change 
through implementation and delivery of the national NHS Improvement developed methodology which 
consists of three key stages: 

 Discovery 

 Design 

 Deliver 

We will deliver this methodology under the ‘Becoming the Best’, and the initial Discovery phase started in 
late 2018.  This phase will complete in June 2019 and the Design phase will start in July and be complete by 
end of September.  The final phase will then begin and continue to roll out throughout the rest of 2019/20. 

Central to the success of ’Becoming the Best’ is the involvement of staff at all levels as part of our 
Improvement Network and the Organisational Development Team will support the personal and team 
development of all involved. 

Another key focus for the Organisational Development Team in 2019/20 will be supporting the delivery of 
the ‘Middle Management Development Programme’ as part of the ‘Becoming the Best’ and work to develop 
the programme was completed in 2018/19.  The focus of the programme will be to develop the management 
group as a team with shared goals and outputs.  This programme will be initially delivered to 250 key 
management positions during 2019/20. 

Talent Management/Succession Planning:  The Organisational Development Team will be taking a lead role 
in implementing our Talent Management Strategy.  The strategy includes the development of an online 
talent portal which includes appraisal aligned to a People Capability Framework.  During 2019/20 systems 
and processes will be implemented and all line managers developed to enable effective Talent Management 
and robust appraisals to take place. 

As part of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability Transformation Partnership we are a pilot 
site for the NHS Improvement High Potential Scheme, which is being created to support the talent 
management and development of Bands 8a-8d.  The development, pilot and roll out of this scheme will 
happen during 2019/20, with the first system assessment centres taking place in September 2019. 
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We will implement Year 2 of our Commercial Strategy in order to exploit commercial 
opportunities available to the Trust 

The primary aim within the Commercial Strategy in 2018/19 was to expand our subsidiary activities.  This 
unfortunately proved to be impossible with the cessation of our planned facilities management subsidiary 

 

We will improve the efficiency and effectiveness of our key services and our operating theatres 
and implement our Carter-based LLR corporate consolidation programme 

In 2019/20 we delivered £51.59m of efficiencies across our Trust (£0.1m above plan).  This was highest level 
of cost improvement we have delivered in more than five years. 

Our Productivity Improvement Programme for the year was based around the Carter Report and the 
opportunity areas highlighted specifically for us from the national Model Hospital portal. 

Our key work-streams were focused around delivering improvements to Theatres and Out-patients, as well 
as reducing non pay spend through better procurement across the Trust.  At the same time we also delivered 
significant improvements through our clinical support teams (such as pharmacy and therapies) and delivered 
efficiencies across Estates and our wider Corporate Services. 

During the year we also gave a particular focus to understanding the longer term drivers of improved 
productivity across the Trust.  This has included improving our data quality and increasing engagement with 
our patient level costing system as well as supporting 55 colleagues to complete ‘lean’ apprenticeships. 

 

We will continue on our journey towards financial stability as a consequence of the priorities 
described here, aiming to deliver our financial target in 2018/19. 

This year we delivered a deficit of £54.9m, excluding Provider Sustainability Funding.  This deficit was adverse 
to the planned deficit of £21.2m due to the decision to stop pursuing our planned facilities management 
subsidiary and managing an increasing patient demand for our emergency care services 

 

 

Procurement and supplies 

During the year, the Procurement and Supplies team have been working closely with both colleagues and 
suppliers to deliver on our Procurement Strategy 2015-2018 
(http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/departments-services/procurement-and-supplies/doing-
business-with-us/).  

In line with this we have made significant progress towards delivering our annual improvement plan.  

Some particular highlights include:  

 Enabling us to reduce its deficit through our work with both colleagues and suppliers.  We have 
continued to enable £8m of cost improvement plan savings during the financial year;  

 Continuing to play a key role in the national NHS procurement agenda and in particular supporting 
delivery of the Lord Carter report;  

 Successful delivery of the national Carter metrics;  

 Building on our Level 2 of the NHS Commercial and Procurement Standards we have been supporting 
other East Midlands trusts in attaining Level 1 and Level 2; 

 Continued collaboration with NHS Supply Chain to engage in the new National Operating Model. 

Our plans for 2019/20 include…  

 Developing the Procurement Strategy for the next three years to continue to improve the 
procurement and supplies processes to support our staff and Clinical Management Groups; 

 Refreshing our Procurement Transformation Plan;  

 Delivering a further £8m or more of cash savings to the Trust;  

 Continuing to support the design of the Procurement Target Operating Model in the NHS;  

http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/departments-services/procurement-and-supplies/doing-business-with-us/
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/departments-services/procurement-and-supplies/doing-business-with-us/
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 Supporting the delivery of our re-configuration programme.  

 

 

Signed:  

 

Chief Executive (on behalf of the Trust Board) 

Date: 6 June 2019 
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The Financial Statements 
Overview of 2018/19 Financial Position 

We originally planned to deliver an income and expenditure deficit of £21.2m in 2018/19.  This was in line 
with the NHS Improvement Control Total excluding Provider Sustainability Funding and was predicated on 
the delivery of a Cost Improvement Programme of £51.5m that included the creation of a Facilities 
Management Partnership.  If delivered, this Control Total would have given the Trust access to Provider 
Sustainability Funding of £21.9m driving a reported surplus of £0.7m.  

Within the year, we were informed that the planned Facilities Management Partnership could no longer 
proceed.  As a result we could not deliver the Control Total and excluding Provider Sustainability Funding and 
any impairment relating to Property, Plant and Equipment, we delivered a deficit of £54.9m for the year with 
Cost Improvement Programme of £51.6m.   

Including Provider Sustainability Funding of £9.9m, we delivered a deficit of £44.9m with the Provider 
Sustainability Funding receipt being lower than the original planned value of £21.9m due to not achieving the 
NHS Improvement Control Total. 

We spent £26.7m of capital in line with the Capital Resource Limits.  The capital spend was supported by 
internally generated funds and centrally funded public dividend capital.  The key elements of our capital 
programme were: 

• Addressing backlog maintenance and investment within critical infrastructure; 

• Additional modular ward at Glenfield; 

• Redevelopments and investments within the intensive care environment to support the longer term 
estate reconfiguration plans; and 

• Investment in IT and new equipment.  

We delivered our other statutory duties.   

Our Control Total for 2019/20 was issued by NHS Improvement on 15 January 2019 and requires us to deliver 
a £48.7m deficit.   

Signing up to the Control Total gives us access to MRET central funding of £6.9m, Provider Sustainability 
Funding deficit of £16.4m and Financial Recovery Funding of £14.8m which drives a reported deficit of 
£10.7m. 

 

Financial Review for the Year Ended 31st March 2019 

We did not meet all of our financial and performance duties for 2018/19: 

 Balancing the books We delivered an income and expenditure deficit of £44.9m 

 Managing cash We delivered both the External Financing Limit and Capital 
Resource Limits  

 Investment in buildings  We invested £26.7m in capital developments, equipment and 
technology 

 

Performance against our Financial Plan 

We delivered a £44.9m deficit for the year including Provider Sustainability Funding (£51.8m excluding 
Provider Sustainability Funding) against the original planned deficit of £29.9m including Provider 
Sustainability Funding.  Our planned deficit changed in the year as a result of the cessation of the Facilities 
Management Partnership.  

Our final year end position included the following (excluding the impact of donated assets): 

 Total income £998.5m actual; a net movement from Plan of £5.4m. This includes 

adverse variances relating to Facilities Management Partnership 
and non-receipt of Provider Sustainability Funding offset by the 
receipt of Agenda for Change funding and other gains and losses 
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 Total expenditure £1,043.7m actual; which was £52.4m over plan and includes the 
impact of Agenda for Change pay increases, Facilities Management 
Partnership and other gains and losses  

 Impairment £1.5m impairment was incurred which was not planned at the 
beginning of the year.  This is adjusted out of the deficit for the year 
of £41.7m 

 Capital expenditure £26.7m against a capital resource limit of £26.7m 

 Cash balance £1.5m closing cash balance (UHL only) against a plan of £1.0m 

 Cost Improvement 
Programme 

Delivered £51.6m against a £51.5m target 

 

Balance Sheet 

Cash:  We ended the year with a cash balance of £4m which included the Trust Med Pharmacy cash balance 
of £2.5m and secured external financing of £49.5m.  The total balance of our external financing at the year-
end was £245.3m. 

We also received £9.2m of Public Dividend Capital to fund our intensive care unit project and other smaller 
schemes. 

Non-current assets:  The value of our non-current assets (including property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets) increased by £40.9m mainly as a result of:  

 £26.4m total net additions; plus 

 £35.6m upward revaluation; less  

 £19.6m depreciation and £1.5m impairment. 

Receivables: Our receivables (current and non-current) have increased by £12.8m driven by an increase in 
non-NHS prepayments and accrued income. 

Payables: Our payables (current and non-current) have increased by £63.2m due to the receipt of loans to 
fund our deficit and an increase in trade and other payables. 

Taxpayers equity: This represents the methods of funding our assets and liabilities. The main component of 
our taxpayers equity is Public Dividend Capital which increased by £9.2m from the prior year. 

Our retained earnings reduced by £50.2m due to our financial deficit, impairment following an asset 
revaluation and impact of IFRS9 on the opening balance.  Our revaluation reserve balance increased by 
£35.6m due to the net asset revaluation. 

 

Key Financial Indicators 
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Income: We received £998.5m of income which is a £37.6m increase from the £960.9m we received in 
2017/18.   

Pay expenditure by staff group: We spent £644.4m on staff costs, which is a £31.5m increase over the 
2017/18 total of £612.5m.  £30.0m of this increase is due to substantive staff costs including £10.6m relating 
to an uplift in agenda for change pay.  There was a £2.8m increase in the costs relating to bank staff and a 
reduction of £2.2m in agency spend. 

Non-pay expenditure: We incurred £400.5m of non-pay expenditure, which was an £14.3m increase over 
the 2017/18 total of £386.2m.  This included an impairment of our property, plant and equipment of £1.5m 
(2017/18 - £2.7m) following a revaluation of our estate. 

Capital expenditure: Our capital expenditure (excluding adjustments for donated assets) was £26.7m, a 
£6.6m reduction on the 2017/18 total of £33.3m.  A breakdown of that spend is shown in the graph below. 

 
Capital expenditure for 2018/19 consisted of: 

 £14.8m on reconfiguration schemes including £2.9m on the Modular Ward at Glenfield; 

 £3.7m on estates and facilities schemes; 

 £3m on IM&T schemes; 

 £5.2m on medical equipment, both purchased and leased; 

Our efficiency programme:  We delivered £51.6m against our £51.5m cost improvement programme in 
2018/19.  The programme focused on productivity whilst maintaining high quality patient services.  £3m of 
improvements in the way of workforce; £8.7m of savings came from income activity; and £9.9m from 
procurement schemes.  A breakdown of the Cost Improvement Programme achieved is shown in the chart 
below. 
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Managing Risk 

We operate within the regulatory framework determined by the Department of Health.  Comprehensive risk 
management is monitored through the Trust Board’s assurance framework, which regularly reviews all key 
risks and action plans.  These plans cover clinical as well as corporate and business risks. 

As in 2018/19, we will continue to manage key risks linked to management and control of infection, the 
patient experience, delivery of national waiting time targets, and delivery of financial balance. 

 

Future Challenges 

Financial planning 

We have submitted our 2019/20 financial plan to NHS Improvement, which is a £10.7m deficit - including the 
delivery of a £26.6m efficiency programme. 

Our financial plan and resulting deficit position is driven by our activity and income assumptions, workforce 
implications and Cost Improvement Programme.  We have a clear process for delivering against these areas, 
and to ensure a realistic monthly profile of income and expenditure. 

 

Cash management 

Further cash support of £10.7m to fund our deficit is projected as part of the 2019/20 financial plans and has 
been submitted to NHS Improvement as part of the annual planning process.  The level of loans we will hold 
is expected to rise from £245.3m to £253.8m in 2019/20 representing over 20 per cent of our projected 
turnover.  

£34.1m of loans are due to mature over the next 12 months and although the mechanism for repaying these 
through the availability of renewed working capital or longer term loan facilities is yet to be defined, we are 
planning that these facilities will be made available.  These loans first matured in 2018/19, and their terms 
were extended to 2019/20 so we can reasonably expect the same thing to happen when the loans mature 
for a second time. The net increase in loans will be £8.5m. 

 

Capital planning  

Achievement of our capital plan is dependent upon NHS Improvement confirming external funding as part of 
the “Emergency Capital” requirements process.  

We have various options available for the final capital plan and are currently working through a prioritisation 
process for each of the funding scenarios.  At present the capital funding includes £24.3m depreciation; 
£21.6m approved PDC relating to the intensive care unit project and £1m grant funding.  Two items that are 
not subject to the prioritisation process are loan repayments of £2.2m and £4.5m relating to the capital 
element of finance leases.  The plan will also include up to £25.9m of loan funding which has yet to be 
approved. 

Taking this into account, together with internal capital requirements that has followed a period of 
constrained investment, this drives a capital plan for 2018/19 of up to £66.1m.  The key elements of the 
2019/20 plan are:  

 Addressing backlog maintenance and investment within critical infrastructure; 

 Investment in medical equipment; 

 Redevelopments and investments to support the longer term estate reconfiguration plans. 

 

Efficiency savings for 2019/20 

We have a comprehensive three year Efficiency Strategy with the aim of achieving upper quartile 
productivity (compared to peers) across all areas of the Trust to enable caring at its best for staff and 
patients.   

The strategy was based around a wide of sources including NHSI Model Hospital, recommendations from the 
Carter Programme, the Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) Programme, NHS Improvement Theatre Efficiency 
Programme (using Four Eyes consultancy) and our own 5-year Strategy. 
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Our overall efficiency target of £26.6m has been allocated to Clinical Management Groups and Corporate 
Directorates for delivery during 2019/20.   

The efficiency programme includes four underpinning work streams focused around data, quality 
improvement and robust controls.  Some of our key work streams are: 

 Benchmarking and Data - focused on maximizing the use of the benchmarking tools available to the 
Trust with a view to identifying and delivering on the opportunities identified 

 Theatres and Outpatients – building on work done in 2018/19 

 Clinical Support – including improvements to our length of stay and patient flow, e.g. through enhancing 
support from therapists and pharmacists 

 Corporate Services – the NHS Improvement benchmarking exercise highlighted opportunities within a 
number of our back office areas   

 

Directors Report 

The Directors are aware of no relevant information of which the auditors are unaware.  Each Director has 
taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 

 

Statement of Accounting Officer’s responsibilities 

The Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and can confirm that 
the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that he or she takes 
personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that 
it is fair, balanced and understandable.  

The Accounting Officer can confirm, as far as he is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
entity’s auditors are unaware, and the Accounting Officer has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have 
taken to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are 
aware of that information.  

 

Signed:  

 

Chief Executive (on behalf of the Trust Board) 

Date: 6 June 2019 
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Independent auditor's report to the Directors of University Hospitals of 

Leicester NHS Trust 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (the ‘Trust’) 

and its subsidiary (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2019, which comprise the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity 

(Group), the Statement of Changes in Equity (Trust), the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 

Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19. 

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group and of the Trust as at 31 March 2019 

and of the group’s expenditure and income and the Trust’s expenditure and income for the year then 

ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health 

and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19; and  

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the 

group and the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty relating to going concern 

We draw attention to note 1.1.2 to the financial statements, which indicates that that the Trust’s financial 

performance in 2018/19 was a deficit of £44.879 million. In 2018/19 the Trust secured £49.495 million of 

external financing to fund this deficit position. 

As stated in note 1.1.2, the Trust’s financial plan for 2019/20 forecasts the delivery of a £10.656 million 

deficit, necessitating further revenue cash borrowing from the Department of Health and Social Care’s 

Uncommitted Single Currency Interim Revenue Support Facility. In order for the Trust to access this 

facility, the Department of Health and Social Care will have to approve the Trust’s daily cash flow 

forecast for 13 weeks from the date of each drawdown. The Trust and group anticipate that it may take 

some time before it can achieve financial balance on a sustainable basis.  

These events or conditions, along with the other matters as set forth in note 1.1.2, indicate that a 

material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt about the group’s and the Trust’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other information 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 

opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 

otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we 

identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 

whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the 

other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller 

and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Annual 

Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by NHS Improvement or is 

misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not 

required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that 

risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion:  

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 

Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 and the requirements of 

the National Health Service Act 2006; and 

• based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our 

knowledge of the Trust gained through our work in relation to the Trust’s arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published 

together with the financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

• we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the Trust,  or an officer of the Trust, is about to 

make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful 

expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its 

conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we make a written recommendation to the Trust under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except on 24 May 2019 we referred a matter 

to the Secretary of State under section 30b of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in relation to 

the Trust’s breach of its break-even duty for the three year period ending 31 March 2019. In the referral 

we also refer to the referral we made on 25 May 2018 where we reported the Trust’s ongoing planned 

deficit in 2018/19, and that the Trust had breached its break-even over the three-year period to 31 

March 2018. In our 24 May 2019 letter, we also made a referral under section 30a of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act as the Trust has set a deficit budget for the year ended 31 March 2020. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the financial 

statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Director's Responsibilities set out on page 159, the Directors 

are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the 

Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 

as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the 

Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant 

national body of the intention to dissolve the Trust and the group without the transfer of the Trust’s 

services to another public sector entity. 

The Trust Board is Those Charged with Governance. Those charged with governance are responsible 

for overseeing the Trust’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 

part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the 

Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources 

Adverse conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General 

in November 2017, because of the significant of the matters described in the basis for adverse 

conclusion section of our report, we are not satisfied that, in all significant respects, University Hospitals 

of Leicester NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

Basis for adverse conclusion 

Our review of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources identified the following matters: 

• The Trust delivered a deficit of £44.879 million (£54.787 million excluding Provider 

Sustainability Funding) in 2018/19 against a budgeted surplus of £0.753 million (deficit of 

£21.194 million excluding Provider Sustainability Funding); 

• The Trust’s cumulative financial deficit has increased from £170.808 million at 31 March 2018  

to £215.687 million at 31 March 2019; 

• The Trust has agreed a deficit budget of £10.656 million for 2019/20 which is includes a  Cost 

Improvement Savings (CIP) savings target of £26.646 million; and 

• The Trust is seeking revenue support from the Department of Health and Social Care to fund 

its planned £10.656 million deficit in 2019/20. 

These matters identify weaknesses in the Trust’s arrangements for setting a sustainable budget with 

sufficient capacity to absorb emerging cost pressures from the current configuration of services. 
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They are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for sustainable resource deployment in 

planning finances effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain 

statutory functions. 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

As explained in the Statement of the Chief Executive’s Responsibilities, as the Accountable Officer of 

the Trust, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been 

able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, 

whether all aspects of the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources are operating effectively. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 

guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017, as 

to whether in all significant respects, the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly 

informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers 

and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us 

to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the 

year ended 31 March 2019, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 

undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of University Hospitals of 

Leicester NHS Trust in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Directors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Trust's Directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the Trust and the Trust's Directors, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

 

M C Stocks 

 

Mark Stocks, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

 

Birmingham 

6 June 2019 



Statement of Comprehensive Income

2018/19 2017/18

Note £000 £000

Operating income from patient care activities 3 865,268 820,331 

Other operating income 4 126,978 140,459 

Operating expenses 6, 8 (1,031,913) (985,601)

Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations (39,667) (24,811)

Finance income 11 190 74 

Finance expenses 12 (6,881) (5,410)

PDC dividends payable (5,931) (6,452)

Net finance costs (12,622) (11,788)

Other gains / (losses) 13 5,858 (16)

Corporation tax expense (20) - 

Surplus / (deficit) for the year from continuing operations (46,451) (36,615)

Surplus / (deficit) on discontinued operations and the gain / (loss) on 

disposal of discontinued operations
- - 

Surplus / (deficit) for the year (46,451) (36,615)

Other comprehensive income

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

Impairments 7 (820) (1,703)

Revaluations 15 44,822 22,920 

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period (2,449) (15,398)

Surplus/ (deficit) for the period attributable to:

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (46,451) (36,615)

TOTAL (46,451) (36,615)

Total comprehensive income/ (expense) for the period attributable to:

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (2,449) (15,398)

TOTAL (2,449) (15,398)

Financial performance for the year

Retained deficit for the year (46,451) (36,615)

Impairments (excluding IFRIC 12 impairments) 1,509 2,735 

Adjustments in respect of donated and government granted asset 

reserve elimination 
63 (575)

CQUIN Risk Reserve - 2016/17 CT non achievement adjustment 0 (2,309)

Adjusted retained deficit (44,879) (36,764)

We delivered a deficit of £46,451k excluding impairments of £1,509k and including provider

sustainability funding of £9,908k.

Group

Other operating income has been reduced by £12,501k in relation to VAT income which the Trust

deemed was due to it under the Capital Goods Scheme. This income was included in the Trust's

2017/18 accounts and reflected amounts that would have been reclaimable from the HMRC following

the planned establishment of our facilities management subsidiary in 2018/19. Approval for the

establishment of this subsidiary was not granted and therefore a reduction in income for 2018/19 has

been made to reflect this.
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Statement of Financial Position
31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 14 8,889 11,480 8,889 11,480 

Property, plant and equipment 15 479,471 427,610 479,446 427,586 

Investment in subsidiary - - 4,000 4,000 

Trade and other receivables 17 6,573 2,904 6,573 2,904 

Total non-current assets 494,933 441,994 498,908 445,970 

Current assets

Inventories 16 25,052 23,829 23,757 22,356 

Trade and other receivables 17 67,696 70,519 67,368 70,186 

Cash and cash equivalents 18 15,099 8,919 12,669 7,259 

Total current assets 107,847 103,267 103,794 99,801 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 (110,311) (109,237) (110,132) (109,807)

Borrowings 21 (53,133) (46,797) (53,133) (46,797)

Provisions 23 (368) (448) (346) (448)

Other liabilities 20 (7,566) (3,469) (7,554) (3,469)

Total current liabilities (171,378) (159,951) (171,165) (160,521)

Total assets less current liabilities 431,402 385,310 431,537 385,250 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 21 (211,424) (168,469) (211,424) (168,469)

Provisions 23 (1,584) (1,465) (1,584) (1,465)

Total non-current liabilities (213,008) (169,934) (213,008) (169,934)

Total assets employed 218,394 215,376 218,529 215,316 

Financed by 

Public dividend capital 341,176 331,956 341,176 331,956 

Revaluation reserve 142,351 98,349 142,351 98,349 

Income and expenditure reserve (265,133) (214,929) (264,998) (214,989)

Total taxpayers' equity 218,394 215,376 218,529 215,316 

The notes on pages 132 to 158 form part of these accounts.

Name John Adler

Position Chief Executive

Date 6th June 2019

Group Trust

Signed………………………………………………………………………………………
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019

Group Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 331,956 98,349 (214,929) 215,376 

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 - - (3,753) (3,753)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (46,451) (46,451)

Net impairments - (820) - (820)

Revaluations - 44,822 - 44,822 

Public dividend capital received 9,220 - - 9,220 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2019 341,176 142,351 (265,133) 218,394 

Trust Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 331,956 98,349 (214,989) 215,316 

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 - - (3,753) (3,753)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (46,256) (46,256)

Net impairments - (820) - (820)

Revaluations - 44,822 - 44,822 

Public dividend capital received 9,220 - - 9,220 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2019 341,176 142,351 (264,998) 218,529 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2018

Group Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 331,956 77,428 (178,610) 230,774 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (36,615) (36,615)

Net impairments - (1,703) - (1,703)

Revaluations - 22,920 - 22,920 

Other reserve movements - (296) 296 - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2018 331,956 98,349 (214,929) 215,376 

Trust Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 331,956 77,428 (178,610) 230,774 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (36,675) (36,675)

Net impairments - (1,703) - (1,703)

Revaluations - 22,920 - 22,920 

Other reserve movements - (296) 296 - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2018 331,956 98,349 (214,989) 215,316 
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Information on reserves

Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the

time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the

Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the

Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the

extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in

operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the

extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic

benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Income and expenditure reserve

The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Trust.
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Statement of Cash Flows

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

Note £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus / (deficit) (39,667) (24,811) (39,742) (24,884)

Non-cash income and expense:

Depreciation and amortisation 6.1 19,579 22,400 19,574 22,397 

Net impairments 7 1,509 2,735 1,509 2,735 

Income recognised in respect of capital donations 4 (430) (977) (430) (977)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables and other assets (4,599) (15,565) (4,604) (14,320)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,223) (3,854) (1,401) (2,381)

Increase/(decrease) in payables and other liabilities 6,212 2,017 5,352 1,685 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 37 (125) 15 (125)

Tax (paid) (10) - - - 

Other movements in operating cash flows (1,608) - (1,249) - 

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities (20,200) (18,180) (20,976) (15,870)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 190 74 190 74 

Purchase of intangible assets - (1,566) - (1,566)

Purchase of PPE and investment property (24,079) (27,932) (24,074) (27,921)

Sales of PPE and investment property 6,050 - 6,050 - 

Cash for establishment of subsidiaries - - - (4,000)

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities (17,839) (29,424) (17,834) (33,413)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received 9,220 - 9,220 - 

Movement on loans from DHSC 47,335 64,262 47,335 64,262 

Capital element of finance lease rental payments (5,415) (4,518) (5,415) (4,518)

Interest paid on finance lease liabilities (763) (1,025) (763) (1,025)

Interest on loans (5,748) - (5,748) - 

Other interest paid (93) (3,772) (93) (3,762)

PDC dividend (paid) / refunded (5,402) (5,681) (5,402) (5,681)

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities 39,134 49,266 39,134 49,276 

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,095 1,662 325 (7)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - b/f 2,900 1,238 1,240 1,247 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 18 3,995 2,900 1,565 1,240 

Group Trust

Closing cash shown on the above cashflow statement is £3,995k. This compares to the figure of £15,099k on the Statement Of

Financial Position (SOFP). The difference of £11,104k is classified as an overdraft due to the timing of cash payments at the year end,

and is included within borrowings on the SOFP and can be seen in note 21.   
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Notes to the Accounts

Note 1 Accounting policies and other information

Note 1.1 Basis of preparation

The Department of Health and Social Care has directed that the financial statements of the Trust shall meet the accounting

requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM

Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the GAM 2018/19 issued by the

Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting

Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the

Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be

most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The

particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in

relation to the accounts.

Note 1.1.1 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant

and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

Note 1.1.2 Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis as assessed by the Trust Board. Non-trading entities in the public

sector are assumed to be going concerns where there is a continued provision of a service in the future. The FReM (financial

reporting manual) guidance is that the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis unless there are plans for, or no

realistic alternative other than the dissolution of the Trust without the transfer of its services to another entity within the public sector. 

The Audit Committee, with delegated authority from the Trust Board considered the Trust's going concern position at its meeting on

24th May 2019 and the key areas considered were:

• The Trust's reported deficit in 2018/19 of £44,879k.  In 2018/19 the Trust secured external financing of £49,495k to fund its 

deficit position. 

• The Trust's financial plan for 2019/20 forecasts the delivery of a £10,656k deficit, necessitating further revenue cash 

borrowing of this amount using the Department of Health and Social Care's Uncommitted Single Currency Interim Revenue 

Support Facility. The planned cash support in 2019/20 has been approved by the Trust Board as part of the overall financial 

plan for the year. In order for the Trust to access this facility, the Department of Health and Social Care must approve the 

Trust's daily cash flow forecast for 13 weeks from the date of each drawdown. The Trust received £9,220k of PDC support  in 

2018/19 and plans to receive £18,781k in 2019/20 for capital support in relation to the ICU project.

• The Trust is not currently seeking any additional cash support from NHS Improvement (NHSI) in 2019/20 over and above that 

required to fund its deficit. However, should cash be required for working capital support the Trust will follow the NHSI process 

to apply for revenue support.

• The Trust and group anticipates that it may take some time before it can achieve financial balance on a sustainable basis.  

The Board of Directors has carefully considered the principle of "going concern" and the Directors have concluded that there 

are material uncertainties related to the financial sustainability (profitability and liquidity) of the Trust and group which may cast 

significant doubt about the ability of the Trust and group to continue as a going concern.
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• The Trust has agreed contracts with local commissioners for 2019/20 and services are being commissioned in the same 

manner in the future as in prior years and there are no discontinued operations.  Similarly no decision has been made to 

transfer services or significantly amend the structure of the organisation at this time. The Board of Directors also has a 

reasonable expectation that the Trust and group will have access to adequate resources in the form of support from the 

Department of Health and Social Care (NHS Act 2006 s42a) to continue to deliver the full range of mandatory services for the 

foreseeable future.

Nevertheless, the Directors have concluded that assessing the Trust and group as a going concern remains appropriate. Although

these factors represent a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Trust’s and group's ability to continue as a

going concern, the Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, still have reasonable expectations that the Trust and group will have

adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. As directed by the DHSC Group Accounting

Manual 2018/19 the Directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis as they consider that the services

currently provided by the Trust will continue to be provided in the foreseeable future. On this basis, the Trust has adopted the going

concern basis for preparing the financial statements and has not included the adjustments that would result if it was unable to

continue as a going concern.

Furthermore, the Trust has a planned deficit and has breached the requirement under Section 30 of the Local Audit and

Accountability Act 2014 to a break even taking one year against another over a three year rolling period. As such the Trust’s external

auditors have made a referral to the Secretary of State on 24th May 2019. The External Auditor also needs to consider the Trust's

status as a going concern.  The expectation is that the Trust will be in financial balance in 2023/24.

The Trust has a planned deficit and has breached the requirement under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to

a break even taking one year against another over a three year rolling period. As such the Trust’s external auditors have made a

referral to the Secretary of State. Such a referral (24th May 2019) has been made under Section 30 of the Local Audit and

Accountability Act of 2014. The External Auditor also needs to consider the Trust's status as a going concern. The expectation is that

the Trust will be in financial balance in 2023/24.

Note 1.2 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of

applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial

statements: 

 

We consider going concern to be a critical judgement and this is discussed in section 1.1.2.

MEA Valuation 

The Trust engaged its valuers, Gerald Eve LLP, to revalue its estate as at the 31st March 2019. This revaluation applied a Modern

Equivalent Asset (MEA) valuation methodology, which took into account the Trust's long term reconfiguration strategy. The Trust

provided the valuers with a report from external advisors to inform the MEA valuation. This report estimated that a site reduction of

18% could be achieved on the Trust's land and buildings.

Note 1.2.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty

Valuation of assets

The value of our land and buildings is based on a Modern Equivalent Asset valuation which uses an estimate of the future likely

configuration of our estate. This is assumed to be a smaller area than the Trust's current three sites. There is therefore some inherent

uncertainty in this estimate. 
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Note 1.3 Consolidation

Subsidiary entities are those over which the Trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and

reserves of subsidiaries are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable to

minority interests are included as a separate item in the Statement of Financial Position. 

The amounts consolidated will be drawn from the draft financial statements of the subsidiary for the year.

Where subsidiaries’ accounting policies are not aligned with those of the Trust then amounts are adjusted during consolidation where

the differences are material. Inter-entity balances, transactions and gains/losses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Trust currently consolidates one subsidiary - Trust Group Holdings Limited (the Company). The Company is registered in the

UK, company number 10388315, with a share capital comprising one share of £1 owned by the Trust. The company commenced

trading on the 1 April 2017 as an Outpatient Dispensary services for the Trust. The service is provided across the three UHL sites,

operating in normal business hours. A significant proportion of the company's revenue is inter group trading with the Trust which is

eliminated upon the consolidation of these group financial statements.

The Trust does not consolidate the Leicester Hospitals Charity (LHC) as it is not material to the Trust as a whole. The Trust Board is

the corporate Trustee to LHC and transactions between the Trust and LHC are described in note 28.

In accordance with Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Trust is exempt from the requirement to present its own income

statement and statement of comprehensive income. The Trust’s deficit for the period was £46,451k (2017/18: £36,615k). The Trust's

total comprehensive expense for the period was £2,449k (2017/18: £15,398k). The Trust and subsidiary accounts are prepared

under IFRS.

Note 1.4 Revenue from contracts with customers

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the definition of a

contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another financial asset that is not classified

as a tax by the Office of National Statistics (ONS). As directed by the GAM, the transition to IFRS 15 in 2018/19 has been completed

in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard: applying the Standard retrospectively but recognising the cumulative effects at

the date of initial application (1 April 2018). 

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring

promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to those performance

obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s

entitlement to consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement

to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where

consideration received or receivable relates to a performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is

deferred and recognised as a contract liability. 

The Trust receives income from its subsidiary, Trust Group Holdings, in relation to the provision of administrative services provided by

the Trust to the subsidiary. This income is adjusted out of the group position upon consolidation of the group accounts position.
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Note 1.4.1 Revenue from NHS contracts

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. A performance obligation relating to

delivery of a spell of health care is generally satisfied over time as healthcare is received and consumed simultaneously by the

customer as the Trust performs it. The customer in such a contract is the commissioner, but the customer benefits as services are

provided to their patient. Even where a contract could be broken down into separate performance obligations, healthcare generally

aligns with paragraph 22(b) of the Standard entailing a delivery of a series of goods or services that are substantially the same and

have a similar pattern of transfer. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to activity delivered in that year, where a patient

care spell is incomplete.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that collection of consideration is probable. Where contract challenges from commissioners are

expected to be upheld, the Trust reflects this in the transaction price and derecognises the relevant portion of income

Note 1.4.2 Revenue from research contracts

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are satisfied. For some 

contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance obligation over the course of the multi-year contract. In 

these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim performance does not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the 

Trust has an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date. It is therefore considered that the performance 

obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract.

Note 1.4.3 NHS injury cost recovery scheme

The Trust receives income under the NHS injury cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to 

whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it 

receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and 

confirmed there are no discrepancies with the treatment. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to 

the injured individual, less an allowance for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9 requirements of 

measuring expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset.

Note 1.4.4 Revenue grants and other contributions to expenditure

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or Trusts for the provision of services.

Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. 

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship service is recognised as income at the

point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, the corresponding

notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for the benefit.
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Note 1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits

Note 1.5.1 Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy are recognised in the

period in which the service is received from employees. We do not calculate an accrual for untaken annual leave.

Note 1.5.2 Pension costs 

NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit

scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, in England

and Wales. The scheme is not designed in a way that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets

and liabilities. The schemes are accounted for as though they are defined contribution schemes.

Employer's pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is due to ill-

health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time the trust commits itself

to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

Note 1.5.3 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is measured at the fair

value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-

current asset such as property, plant and equipment. 

The Trust has a policy of not accruing for expenditure below £15k (2017/18 below £10k). The value of the expenditure that has not

been accrued at 31 March 2019 is £5.3m, of which £4.6m relates to items below £10k. The amount below £10k at 31 March 2018

was £2.5m.
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Note 1.6 Property, plant and equipment

Note 1.6.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:    

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes

• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year 

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably

• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or

• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250, where the assets

are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have similar disposal dates and are

under single managerial control.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, eg, plant

and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

Note 1.6.2 Measurement

Valuation

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable to acquiring or

constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner

intended by management.

All assets are measured subsequently at valuation. An item of property, plant and equipment which is surplus with no plan to

bring it back into use is valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 or IFRS 5.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying amount

of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to

replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a

component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The

carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic

benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the

period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with

the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not

depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon the reclassification.

Assets in the course of construction are valued at historic cost and are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use. 
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Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a revaluation

decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned,

and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of

‘other comprehensive income’.

Impairments

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of service potential in the

asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and

expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in

the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when, and to the

extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the

extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any

remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made

from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve

when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains.

Note 1.6.3 De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are met: 

• the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary for such

sales;

• the sale must be highly probable ie:

   - management are committed to a plan to sell the asset

   - an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale

   - the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price

   - the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘held for sale’ and

   - the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes  

     made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to

sell’.  Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for sale’ and

instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping

or demolition occurs.
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Note 1.6.4 Revaluations of property, plant and equipment

The Trust has revalued its assets with an effective date of revaluation of 31st March 2019.

The Trust's freehold and leasehold property values were updated by an external valuer, Gerald Eve LLP, a regulated firm of

chartered surveyors. The valuation was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the RICS Professional Standards, the

International Valuation Standards and IFRS. 

The valuation has been prepared in accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) to comply with IFRS,

specifically with regard to IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 40 ‘Investment Properties’. 

The valuer's opinion of Fair Value was primarily derived using the Depreciated Replacement Cost approach to value the service

potential, on a Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis. The MEA valuation was based on the Trust's estates strategy, which

outlines a five year major reconfiguration for the Trust's estate, and which effectively defines the Modern Equivalent Asset for the

valuation.

The Trust's estates strategy is consistent with its clinical strategy and both strategies are intrinsically linked as we must

reconfigure our estate in order to deliver our clinical strategy. We provided our estates strategy to our valuers, Gerald Eve LLP, to

enable them to provide a more accurate MEA valuation based on our actual plans and future Trust configuration. 

As a result of this valuation the Trust has incurred an impairment charge of £1,509k, which is included within Other Operating

Costs in the SOCI. This figure is removed from the Adjusted Financial Performance figure in accordance with Department of

Health (DH) Accounting guidance. 

The Trust's revaluation reserve has also been reduced in value by £820k as a result of the revaluation. The revaluation reserve

has also been increased by £33,729k as a result of an upwards revaluation.

Note 1.6.5  Donated and grant funded assets 

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at current value for existing use as they are held

for service potential. The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that

the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the

donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not

yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and

equipment. 
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Min life Max life

Years Years

Land - - 

Buildings, excluding dwellings 25 89 

Dwellings 25 43 

Plant & machinery 15 15 

Transport equipment 15 15 

Information technology 3 8 

Furniture & fittings 15 15 

Note 1.7 Intangible assets

Note 1.7.1 Recognition

Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful 

economic lives are shown in the table below:

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic life or the lease term,

unless the trust expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are depreciated in

the same manner as owned assets above.

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from

the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is

probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust and where the cost of

the asset can be measured reliably. 

Note 1.6.6  Useful Economic lives of property, plant and equipment
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Note 1.7.2 Measurement

Note 1.7.3 Useful economic life of intangible assets

Min life Max life

Years Years

Software licences 1 7 

Note 1.7.4 Donations of property, plant and equipment

The majority of donated assets have been purchased on behalf of the Trust by the Leicester Hospitals Charity.

Software

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, eg an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant 

item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, eg application 

software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and

prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists,

intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is

income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property,

plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value

under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or “fair value less costs to sell”.

Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption 

of economic or service delivery benefits.

Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.  The range of useful 

economic lives are shown in the table below:

Internally generated intangible assets

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not capitalised

as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised.

Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:

• the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use

• the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it

• the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits, eg, the presence of a

market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset;

• adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the trust to complete the development and sell or

use the asset and

• the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.
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Note 1.8 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. 

Note 1.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.

Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to

known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and

that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current values.

Note 1.10 Carbon Reduction Commitment scheme (CRC)

The CRC scheme is a mandatory cap and trade scheme for non-transport CO2 emissions. The Trust is registered with the CRC

scheme, and is therefore required to surrender to the Government an allowance for every tonne of CO2 it emits during the

financial year. A liability and related expense is recognised in respect of this obligation as CO2 emissions are made.

There were no outstanding liabilities at the end of 2018/19 (£0 2017/18).

Note 1.11 Financial instruments and financial liabilities

Recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument, and

as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial instrument. The GAM expands the

definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which give rise to arrangements that in all other respects would be a

financial instrument and do not give rise to transactions classified as a tax by ONS.

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with

the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, 

ie, when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs

except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and expenditure. Fair value is taken as the

transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows 

and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash equivalents, contract and other 

receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease arrangements and loans receivable and payable. 

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a 

financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset 

or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and a financing income or 

expense.  In the case of loans held from the Department of Health and Social Care, the effective interest rate is the nominal rate 

of interest charged on the loan. 

125



Impairment of financial assets

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and contract assets or

assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Trust recognises an allowance for expected credit

losses. 

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and lease 

receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other financial assets, the loss 

allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 1) and subsequently at an amount 

equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk assessed for the financial asset significantly increases (stage 2).

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting

date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash

flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and reduce the net

carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

Under the GAM we have applied the simplified approach and regonise lifeltime expected credit losses at initial recognition,

thereby not considering stage 1 impairments. We have no contract assets or receivables which contain a significant financing

component. To calculate the lifetime expected credit losses we have used a provision matrix model assessing the risk of

irrecoverability based upon the age and risk level of the debt. 

Note 1.11.1 Derecognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust 

has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Note 1.12.1 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the

lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Note 1.12.2 The Trust as lessee

Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the trust, the asset is recorded

as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is

the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the

interest rate implicit in the lease. 

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an item

of property plant and equipment. 

The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate of

finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of

Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives

are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Leases of land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the

classification for each is assessed separately. 

Note 1.12.3 The Trust as lessor

Finance leases

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the trust's net

investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic rate of

return on the trust's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs

incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and

recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Note 1.13 Provisions

The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount;

for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be

made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the

resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-

adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published and mandated by HM Treasury.  

Clinical negligence costs 

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution,

which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all

clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions

carried by NHS Resolution on behalf of the trust is disclosed but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts. 

Non-clinical risk pooling 

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk

pooling schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in return receives

assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any “excesses” payable in

respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises. 
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Note 1.14 Contingencies

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more

future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed where an inflow of

economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is

remote. 

Contingent liabilities are defined as:

• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more

uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will

arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Note 1.15 Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital is a type of public sector equity finance, which represents the Department of Health and Social

Care’s investment in the Trust. HM Treasury has determined that, being issued under statutory authority rather than

under contract, PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

At any time, the Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is

recorded at the value received. 

An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health and Social

Care as PDC dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by the Secretary of State with the consent of HM

Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust. Relevant net assets are calculated as the

value of all assets less all liabilities, except for: 

• donated assets (including lottery funded assets) 

• average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Service (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF)

deposits (excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short term working capital facility) 

• any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. 

The average relevant net assets is calculated as a simple average of opening and closing relevant net assets. 

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care, the dividend for the year

is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The

dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual

accounts. The PDC dividend calculation is based upon the Trust’s group accounts (i.e. including subsidiaries), but

excluding consolidated charitable funds. 
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Note 1.16.1 Value added tax 

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax

on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the

capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are

stated net of VAT.

Note 1.16.2 Corporation tax

The Trust has no corporation tax liability itself however the Trust's subsidiary is liable to pay corporation tax and this is

recognised in the group accounts.

Note 1.17 Third party assets 

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since

the trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in

accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM . 

Note 1.18 Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the

health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore

subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different

categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the

relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good

through insurance cover had the trust not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included

as normal revenue expenditure).

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which

reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

Note 1.19 Gifts

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts

include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for

its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value. 
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Note 1.20 Transfers of functions from other NHS bodies

As public sector bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the DH group

are outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public sector bodies,

the GAM requires the application of ‘absorption accounting’. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for

their transactions in the period in which they took place. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting

is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and is disclosed separately from operating costs. 

Note 1.21.1 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2018/19.

Note 1.21.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted

The DHSC GAM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018/19. These

standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption.

● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet

adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted. IFRS 16 will be applicable for public sector bodies from

2020/21. The Trust expects that it will reclassify approximately £5,000k of annual operating lease expenditure as

finance leases.

● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but

not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted. This is not likely to have a material impact on

the Trust's accounts.

● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2019.  This is not likely to have a material impact on the Trust's accounts.
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Note 2 Operating Segments

The Trust operates in one segment, which is the provision of healthcare.

Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities (Group)

Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature) 2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Acute services 

Elective income 142,074 131,477 

Non elective income 248,494 229,179 

First outpatient income 47,996 48,273 

Follow up outpatient income 45,624 43,628 

A & E income 33,532 29,718 

High cost drugs income from commissioners (excluding pass-through costs) 99,095 84,231 

Other NHS clinical income 232,566 246,388 

All services

Private patient income 2,821 2,872 

Agenda for Change pay award central funding 10,625 - 

Other clinical income 2,441 4,565 

Total income from activities 865,268 820,331 

Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source)

2018/19 2018/19

Income from patient care activities received from: £000 £000 

NHS England 305,886 288,791 

Clinical commissioning groups 542,245 522,902 

Department of Health and Social Care 10,625 - 

Other NHS providers 798 739 

NHS other 320 273 

Non-NHS: private patients 2,821 2,872 

Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient) 977 2,655 

NHS injury scheme 1,551 1,910 

Non NHS: other 45 189 

Total income from activities 865,268 820,331 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 865,268 820,331 

Related to discontinued operations - - 
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Note 3.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Income recognised this year 977 2,655 

Cash payments received in-year 378 685 

Amounts written off in-year 2,833 1,131 

Note 4 Other operating income (Group) 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Research and development 35,804 34,439 

Education and training 42,419 42,157 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 430 977 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 5,377 19,426 

Provider sustainability / sustainability and transformation fund income (PSF / STF) 9,908 - 

Rental revenue from operating leases 491 449 

Income in respect of staff costs where accounted on gross basis 10,175 13,282 

Other income

  Car parking 5,025 4,420 

  Catering 3,411 2,989 

  Staff accommodation 1,370 1,334 

  Dispensing income 1,075 1,054 

  Income generation 1,618 13,222 

  All other income 9,875 6,710 

Total other operating income 126,978 140,459 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 126,978 140,459 

4.1 Additional information on contract revenue (IFRS 15) recognised in the period

2018/19

£000 

340 

Note 5 Income generation activities

Note 5.1  UHL Catering and Car Parking income (Group) 2018/19 2017/18

£000s £000s

Income 8,436 6,098 

Note 5.2 Fees and Charges (Group)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Income 15,194 14,276 

Full cost (15,194) (14,276)

Surplus / (deficit) - - 

The 2018/19 amounts for income generation have been increased by £12,501k in relation to the VAT mentioned above in order to reflect a comparative 

figure to the prior year.

The Trust undertakes income generation activities with an aim of achieving profit, which is then used in patient care.  The following provides details of 

income generation activities whose full cost exceeded £1m or was otherwise material. 

We provide retail catering services to patients and the public, and collect car parking income from our car parks. We record the associated full costs of 

these activities as they are absorbed into the overheads of the Trust.

Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in within contract liabilities at the previous period end

In 2017/18 non patient care services to other bodies included a one-off £12.5m of VAT income which was expected by the Trust under the Capital 

Goods Scheme. This related to amounts that the Trust deemed to be reclaimable from the HMRC due to the the planned establishment of a facilities 

management subsidiary in 2018/19. This subsidiary was not established and a reduction has been made to the income generation category in 2018/19. 
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Note 6.1 Operating expenses (Group)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 1,845 1,128 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 8,665 4,560 

Staff and executive directors costs* 628,825 597,793 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 88 83 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 112,631 109,211 

Supplies and services - general 13,774 13,585 

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 102,124 105,789 

Consultancy costs 671 844 

Establishment 5,514 6,426 

Premises 38,133 33,753 

Transport (including patient travel) 5,281 3,756 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 16,957 20,207 

Amortisation on intangible assets 2,622 2,193 

Net impairments 1,509 2,735 

Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets 2,826 - 

Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and investments (928) (802)

Increase/(decrease) in other provisions - (3)

Audit fees payable to the external auditor

  - audit services- statutory audit 99 99 

  - other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) 7 7 

Internal audit costs 183 125 

Clinical negligence 31,927 27,398 

Legal fees 249 265 

Insurance 125 135 

Research and development - non pay 20,332 19,782 

Research and development - staff costs* 15,431 14,594 

Education and training 1,039 945 

Rentals under operating leases 4,963 6,426 

Redundancy* 104 151 

Car parking & security 1,358 1,857 

Hospitality 13 3 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments 3,433 1,245 

Other services, eg external payroll 1,152 2,978 

Other

  Interpreting 347 330 

  Hire of facilities 207 220 

  All other expenditure 10,407 7,783 

Total 1,031,913 985,601 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 1,031,913 985,601 

*Staff and executive directors costs, Research and Development - staff costs, and Redundancy total £644,360k (2017/18: 

£612,538k) which agrees to Note 8 Employee benefits.
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Note 6.2 Other auditor remuneration (Group)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor:

Audit-related assurance services 7 7 

Total 7 7 

Note 6.3 Limitation on auditor's liability (Group)

Note 7 Impairment of assets (Group)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit resulting from:

Changes in market price 1,509 2,735 

Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit 1,509 2,735 

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve 820 1,703 

Total net impairments 2,329 4,438 

There is a £1,000k limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work carried out in 2018/19 (2017/18 £1,000k).
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Note 8 Employee benefits (Group)

2018/19 2017/18

Total Total

£000 £000 

Salaries and wages 517,156 492,251 

Social security costs 48,307 45,870 

Apprenticeship levy 2,500 461 

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 58,117 54,568 

Pension cost - other 69 36 

Termination benefits 104 151 

Temporary staff (including agency) 18,870 21,076 

Total gross staff costs 645,123 614,413 

Total staff costs 645,123 614,413 

Of which

Costs capitalised as part of assets 763 1,875 

Total employee benefits excl. capitalised costs 644,360 612,538 

Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health (Group)

During 2018/19 there were 9 early retirements from the Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (7 in the year ended 31

March 2018).  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £632k  (£626k in 2017/18).  

The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
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Note 9 Pension costs

The Trust offers an additional defined contribution workplace pension scheme - the National Employment Savings

Scheme (NEST). This is not material.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking

into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and

employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The

results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and

Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to

20.6% of pensionable pay from this date. 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits

payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both

are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the

direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that

would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each

scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each

scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those

that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period

between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these

follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s

Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting

period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as

providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March

2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary global member and

accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM

interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part

of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are

published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

c) Other pension schemes

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set

following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government

announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 
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Note 10 Operating leases (Trust only)

Note 10.1 University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust as a lessor

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Operating lease revenue

Minimum lease receipts 491 449 

Total 491 449 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease receipts due: 

- not later than one year; 436 80 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 40 87 

- later than five years. 56 70 

Total 532 237 

Note 10.2 University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust as a lessee

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Operating lease expense

Minimum lease payments 4,963 6,426 

Total 4,963 6,426 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease payments due: 

- not later than one year; 3,904 2,955 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 4,163 6,124 

Total 8,067 9,079 

This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust is the 

lessor.

This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where University Hospitals of Leicester 

NHS Trust is the lessee.

Of the total minimum lease payments for 2018/19, £3,639k (2017/18 - £4,958k) relates to external contracts for the provision

of haemodialysis services as defined under IAS 17 Leases. The Trust is provided with haemodialysis services from private

sector suppliers from sites in Northamptonshire and Lincolnshire.  
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Note 11 Finance income (Group)

Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Interest on bank accounts 190 74 

Total 190 74 

Note 12.1 Finance expenditure (Group)

Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money.

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Interest expense:

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 6,023 4,295 

Finance leases 763 1,025 

Interest on late payment of commercial debt 93 89 

Total interest expense 6,879 5,409 

Unwinding of discount on provisions 2 1 

Total finance costs 6,881 5,410 

Note 12.2 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 / Public 

Contract Regulations 2015

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Amounts included within interest payable arising from claims made under this 

legislation
93 89 

Note 13 Other gains / (losses) (Group)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Gains on disposal of assets 5,858 - 

Losses on disposal of assets - (16)

Total gains / (losses) on disposal of assets 5,858 (16)

Total other gains / (losses) 5,858 (16)
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Note 14 Intangible assets - 2018/19

Software  

licences
Total 

£000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 29,574 29,574 

Reclassifications 29 29 

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2019 29,603 29,603 

Amortisation at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 18,094 18,094 

Provided during the year 2,622 2,622 

Reclassifications (2) (2)

Amortisation at 31 March 2019 20,714 20,714 

Net book value at 31 March 2019 8,889 8,889 

Net book value at 1 April 2018 11,480 11,480 

Note 14.1 Intangible assets - 2017/18

Software  

licences
Total 

£000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 27,368 27,368 

Additions 1,566 1,566 

Reclassifications 640 640 

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2018 29,574 29,574 

-                  

Amortisation at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 15,901 15,901 

Provided during the year 2,193 2,193 

Amortisation at 31 March 2018 18,094 18,094 

-                  

Net book value at 31 March 2018 11,480 11,480 

Net book value at 1 April 2017 11,467 11,467 

Group
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Note 15 Property, plant and equipment - 2018/19

Group Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Dwellings
Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings
Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2018 - brought 

forward
48,878 296,244 8,383 11,807 166,638 212 61,545 2,460 596,167 

Additions - 7,773 - 7,569 6,699 23 4,584 8 26,656 

Impairments (2,326) (3) (2,329)

Revaluations (10) 33,074 665 - - - - - 33,729 

Reclassifications - 60 - (159) 70 - - - (29)

Disposals / derecognition (269) - - - (3,600) (15) (129) (26) (4,039)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2019 48,599 334,825 9,045 19,217 169,807 220 66,000 2,442 650,155 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2018 - brought 

forward
- - - - 117,113 123 49,593 1,728 168,557 

Provided during the year - 10,686 407 - 3,345 7 2,463 49 16,957 

Revaluations (10,686) (407) (11,093)

Reclassifications - - - - (6) - 8 2 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (3,570) (15) (128) (26) (3,739)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2019 - - - - 116,882 115 51,936 1,751 170,684 

Net book value at 31 March 2019 48,599 334,825 9,045 19,217 52,925 105 14,064 691 479,471 

Net book value at 1 April 2018 48,878 296,244 8,383 11,807 49,525 89 11,952 732 427,610 
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Note 15.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2017/18

Group Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Dwellings
Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings
Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2017 - brought 

forward
46,478 273,626 7,978 11,592 159,428 199 57,886 2,268 559,455 

Additions - 15,657 50 2,651 9,958 13 3,186 215 31,730 

Impairments (1,800) (2,629) (9) - - - - - (4,438)

Revaluations 4,200 8,623 364 - - - - - 13,187 

Reclassifications - 967 - (2,436) 291 - 490 - (688)

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (3,039) - (17) (23) (3,079)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2018 48,878 296,244 8,383 11,807 166,638 212 61,545 2,460 596,167 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2017 - brought 

forward
- 16 - - 111,750 109 47,658 1,661 161,194 

Provided during the year - 9,363 370 - 8,418 14 1,952 90 20,207 

Revaluations - (9,363) (370) - - - - - (9,733)

Reclassifications - (16) - - (32) - - - (48)

Disposals/ derecognition - - - - (3,023) - (17) (23) (3,063)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2018 - - - - 117,113 123 49,593 1,728 168,557 

Net book value at 31 March 2018 48,878 296,244 8,383 11,807 49,525 89 11,952 732 427,610 

Net book value at 1 April 2017 46,478 273,610 7,978 11,592 47,678 90 10,228 607 398,261 
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Note 15.2 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2018/19

Group

Land Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2019

Owned - purchased 48,599 327,950 9,045 19,217 31,851 91 13,981 604 451,338 

Finance leased - - - - 19,637 - - - 19,637 

Owned - government granted - 668 - - - - - - 668 

Owned - donated - 6,207 - - 1,437 14 83 87 7,828 

NBV total at 31 March 2019 48,599 334,825 9,045 19,217 52,925 105 14,064 691 479,471 

Note 15.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2017/18

Group

Land Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2018

Owned - purchased 48,878 289,269 8,383 11,807 28,154 74 11,914 645 399,124 

Finance leased - - - - 20,073 - - - 20,073 

Owned - government granted - 689 - - - - - - 689 

Owned - donated - 6,286 - - 1,298 15 38 87 7,724 

NBV total at 31 March 2018 48,878 296,244 8,383 11,807 49,525 89 11,952 732 427,610 
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# Note 16 Inventories

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Drugs 6,686 6,090 5,391 4,617 

Consumables 18,155 17,657 18,155 17,657 

Energy 211 82 211 82 

Total inventories 25,052 23,829 23,757 22,356 

# Note 17.1 Trade receivables and other receivables

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Current

Contract receivables* 60,980          - 60,980          - 

Trade receivables* - 26,421 - 26,407 

Accrued income* - 33,291 - 33,429 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets* (2,170) - (2,170) - 

Prepayments (non-PFI) 6,309 7,271 6,309 7,246 

VAT receivable 1,781 2,011 1,453 1,579 

Other receivables 796 1,525 796 1,525 

Total current trade and other receivables 67,696 70,519 67,368 70,186 

Non-current

Contract receivables* 2,458            -               2,458            -               

Trade receivables - 3,460 -               3,460 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets* (917) - (917) - 

Allowance for other impaired receivables - (928) -               (928)

Prepayments (non-PFI) 5,032 372 5,032            372 

Total non-current trade and other receivables 6,573 2,904 6,573 2,904 

Of which receivables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 46,954 38,168 46,954 38,168 

Non-current 2,186 - 2,186 - 

*Following the application of IFRS 15 from 1 April 2018, the Trust's entitlements to consideration for work performed under

contracts with customers are shown separately as contract receivables. This replaces the previous analysis into trade

receivables and accrued income. IFRS 15 is applied without restatement therefore the comparative analysis of receivables

has not been restated under IFRS 15.

Group Trust

Group Trust

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £143,976k (2017/18: £137,002k).  Write-down of inventories 

recognised as expenses for the year were £0k (2017/18: £2k).
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# Note 17.2 Allowances for credit losses 2018/19

Group Trust

Contract 

receivables 

and contract 

assets

Contract 

receivables 

and contract 

assets

£000 £000 

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2018 - brought forward 928 928 

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 (and IFRS 15) on 1 

April 2018
3,753 3,753 

New allowances arising 1,544 1,544 

Changes in existing allowances 354 354 

Utilisation of allowances (write offs) (3,492) (3,492)

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2019 3,087 3,087 

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Provision for doubtful debts as at 1 April 2017 - 

brought forward
1,944 1,651 1,944 1,651 

At 1 April - restated 1,944 1,651 1,944 1,651 

Increase in provision 8 105 8 105 

Amounts utilised (214) (91) (214) (91)

Unused amounts reversed (810) 279 (810) 279 

Provision for doubtful debts as at 31 March 2018 928 1,944 928 1,944 

IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are adopted without restatement therefore this analysis is prepared in line with the

requirements of IFRS 7 prior to IFRS 9 adoption. As a result it differs in format to the current period disclosure

shown below.

Group Trust
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Note 18 Cash and cash equivalents movements

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 8,919 1,238 7,259 1,238 

Net change in year 6,180 7,681 5,409 6,021 

At 31 March 15,099 8,919 12,668 7,259 

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 2,474 1,705 44 45 

Cash with the Government Banking Service 12,625 7,214 12,624 7,214 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 15,099 8,919 12,668 7,259 

Bank overdrafts (GBS and commercial banks) (11,104) (6,019) (11,104) (6,019)

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 3,995 2,900 1,564 1,240 

Note 18.1 Third party assets held by the Trust

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Monies on deposit - 1 

Total third party assets - 1 

Group Trust

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by the Trust

on behalf of patients or other parties. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in

the accounts.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily

convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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# Note 19.1 Trade and other payables

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Current 

Trade payables 56,217 55,863 56,038 59,311 

Capital payables 3,423 4,307 3,423 4,307 

Accruals 28,627 23,558 28,609 23,563 

Social security costs 7,298 6,969 7,298 6,957 

Other taxes payable 6,121 5,892 6,121 5,882 

PDC dividend payable 536 7 536 7 

Accrued interest on loans* - 587 - 587 

Other payables 8,089 12,054 8,089 9,194 

Total current trade and other payables 110,311 109,237 110,114 109,808 

Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 11,361 18,188 11,361 18,188 

# Note 19.2 Early retirements in NHS payables above

The payables note above includes amounts in relation to early retirements as set out below:

Group and Trust

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2018

£000 Number £000 Number 

- to buy out the liability for early retirements over 5 years 186 - 211 - 

- number of cases involved - 65 - 66 

Group Trust

*Following adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, loans are measured at amortised cost. Any accrued interest is now included in

the carrying value of the loan within note 35. IFRS 9 is applied without restatement therefore comparatives have not been

restated.

147



# Note 20 Other liabilities

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Current 

Deferred income 7,566 3,469 7,554 3,469 

Total other current liabilities 7,566 3,469 7,554 3,469 

# Note 21 Borrowings

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Current 

Bank overdrafts 11,104 6,019 11,104 6,019 

Loans from DHSC 37,122 36,260 37,122 36,260 

Obligations under finance leases 4,907 4,518 4,907 4,518 

Total current borrowings 53,133 46,797 53,133 46,797 

Non-current

Loans from DHSC 209,410 162,075 209,410 162,075 

Obligations under finance leases 2,014 6,394 2,014 6,394 

Total non-current borrowings 211,424 168,469 211,424 168,469 

Note 21.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Loans from 

DHSC Leases Total

£000 £000 £000 

Carrying value at 1 April 2018 198,335 10,912 209,247 

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts 

of principal
47,335 (5,415) 41,920 

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (5,748) (763) (6,511)

Non-cash movements: - 

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 587 - 587 

Additions - 3,031 3,031 

Application of effective interest rate 6,023 763 6,786 

Other changes - reduction in finance lease 

liability
- (1,607) (1,607)

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 246,532 6,921 253,453 

During 2018/19 the Trust successfully applied for additional loans to support its revenue position of £49,495k.

A loan of £34,100k is repayable in 2019/20 and the Trust anticipates that it will secure a new loan to enable

this repayment to be made, or the terms of the existing loan will be extended.

Loans are usually repayable in full, three years after the Trust receives them. There are two capital loans

which are repaid in instalments, with a total of £2,160k being repayable annually over 25 years. The Trust

funds these repayments through its internal financing.

Group Trust

Group Trust

The Trust's opening financing consisted of £198,335k of loans and the Trust had a closing balance of

£246,531k capital and revenue loans, including £65,559k of Interim Revolving Working Capital Facility

(IRWC).
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22 Note 22 Finance leases

Commencement date:   2007-2008

End date: 2025-2026

Assets contributed by the Trust to the operator for use in the scheme (MES only).

22 Note 22.2 University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust as a lessee

Obligations under finance leases where the Trust is the lessee.

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000 

Gross lease liabilities 7,308 12,142 

of which liabilities are due:

- not later than one year; 4,907 4,518 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 976 3,099 

- later than five years. 1,425 4,525 

Finance charges allocated to future periods (387) (1,230)

Net lease liabilities 6,921 10,912 

of which payable:

- not later than one year; 4,907 4,518 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 895 2,842 

- later than five years. 1,119 3,552 

Group

Managed Equipment Service (MES) finance lease

The Trust has a finance lease in relation to its managed equipment service as defined by IAS 17 Leases.

Payment for the fair value of the services received

The annual unitary payment is applied to meet the annual finance cost and to repay the lease liability over the

contract term. 

Interest costs charged to revenue

A liability is recognised at the same time as the assets are recognised. It is measured initially at the same amount

as the fair value of the assets and is subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance with IAS 17

Leases. 

Asset replacement

Any assets, or asset components replaced by the operator during the contract are capitalised where they meet the

Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are

measured initially at their fair value.

Assets contributed for use in the scheme are recognised as items of property, plant and equipment in the Trust’s

Statement of Financial Position. 

An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease liability

for the period, and is charged to ‘Finance Costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Property plant and equipment assets recognised on  the balance sheet  

The finance lease assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment. The asset values, life and depreciation

for the MES scheme are provided to the Trust by the Lessor. 

Depreciation on the property, plant and equipment is charged to revenue.

Liability
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# Note 23.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis (Group)

Pensions: 

early 

departure 

costs

Pensions: 

injury 

benefits* Redundancy Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2018 981 510 77 345 1,913 

Arising during the year 65 12 27 618 722 

Utilised during the year (214) (57) (77) (69) (417)

Reversed unused (17) (136) - (115) (268)

Unwinding of discount 2 - - - 2 

At 31 March 2019 817 329 27 779 1,952 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

- not later than one year; 214 57 27 70 368 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 603 228 - 280 1,111 

- later than five years. - 44 - 429 473 

Total 817 329 27 779 1,952 

# Note 23.2 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis (Trust)

Pensions: 

early 

departure 

costs

Pensions: 

injury 

benefits* Redundancy Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2018 981 510 77 345 1,913 

Arising during the year 65 12 27 596 700 

Utilised during the year (214) (57) (77) (69) (417)

Reversed unused (17) (136) - (115) (268)

Unwinding of discount 2 - - - 2 

At 31 March 2019 817 329 27 757 1,930 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

- not later than one year; 214 57 27 48 346 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 603 228 - 280 1,111 

- later than five years. - 44 - 429 473 

Total 817 329 27 757 1,930 

* In 2018/19 the analysis of provisions has been revised to separately identify provisions for injury benefit liabilities. In previous periods, 

these provisions were included within other provisions.
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# Note 23.3 Clinical negligence liabilities

# Note 24 Contingent assets and liabilities

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Value of contingent liabilities 

Other (9,726) (144) (9,726) (144)

Gross value of contingent liabilities (9,726) (144) (9,726) (144)

Amounts recoverable against liabilities - - - - 

Net value of contingent liabilities (9,726) (144) (9,726) (144)

# Note 25 Contractual capital commitments

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Property, plant and equipment 19,203 4,002 19,203 4,002 

Total 19,203 4,002 19,203 4,002 

The Trust's contingent liabilities relate to property, employer and public liability cases which are administered by the

NHS Litigation Authority and are expected to be resolved.

At 31 March 2019, £394,856k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of our clinical negligence

liabilities (31 March 2018: £334,763k).

Group Trust

Group Trust

Contractual capital commitments of £19,203k includes £15,997k in relation to our major ICU reconfiguration project 

which is funded through Public Dividend Capital.

Contingent Liability

Land disposal

During the year, the Trust disposed of surplus land to Davidsons Homes for the development of local housing units.

The contract for the sale of the land was completed within the year with the associated transfer of legal title. At the

same time, a separate contract has been entered into that includes a put option to the effect that the sale and

proceeds received is contingent upon Davidsons Homes obtaining appropriate access and planning permission within

a reasonable timeframe. On the event of these conditions not being met, the buyer has the right to exercise the put

option for the Trust to repurchase the land at the original selling price plus indexation. The Directors of the Trust have

reviewed the put option and based upon information available has concluded that whilst exercising the option is

possible it is not probable that access and planning permission will not be granted and therefore payment to

repurchase the land will not be required. 

VAT

The Trust has a significant outsourced Information Management and Technology (IM&T) contract providing a wide 

range of related services to the Trust. 

In May 2018 the Trust was requested by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) not to recover VAT on the 

invoices received from the supplier from May 2018. The Trust has complied with this request and awaits the 

conclusion of HMRC’s review of the relevant Contracted Out Service (COS) guidance that the Trust has used to 

recover VAT on the historical payments it has made to the supplier. 

HMRC has embargoed any review of contracts that fall within this COS until the review of this guidance is completed. 

Whilst there remains uncertainty as to the outcome of the COS review the Trust is aware that following this review 

HMRC may make a fresh assessment of the VAT recovered on this contract. In line with HMRC’s assessment 

process, HMRC could make an initial assessment against the Trust that requires 4 years of VAT previously recovered 

to be repaid. 

The Trust believes this is unlikely and the chance of this occurring is remote. The value of the previously recovered 

VAT over this 4 year period is £9.6m. 
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Note 26 Financial instruments

Note 26.1 Financial risk management

Currency risk

Interest rate risk

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Balance

31/03/2019 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Later

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Capital loans (repayable in instalments) 45,628 2,160 2,160 2,160 39,150

Revenue support / working capital loans 135,019 34,270 51,007 49,740 0

Revolving working capital facility 65,885 0 65,885 0 0

Total 246,532 36,430 119,052 51,900 39,150

Land sale

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during

the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the

continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with commissioners and the way those

commissioners are financed, the NHS trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business

entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be

typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has limited

powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day

operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters

defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of

directors. Trust treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors.

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities

being in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low

exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by the

strategic health authority. The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets,

and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust may also

borrow from government for revenue financing subject to approval by NHS Improvement. Interest rates are

confirmed by the Department of Health (the lender) at the point borrowing is undertaken. The Trust therefore

has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust

has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the 31st March 2019 are in receivables from

customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

As described within Note 24 Contingent Liabilities, the Trust has disposed of some surplus land within the 

year. As part of this transaction, a separate contract has been entered into that includes a put option to the 

effect that the sale and proceeds received is contingent upon the buyer obtaining appropriate access and 

planning permission within a reasonable timeframe. On the event of these conditions not being met, the 

buyer has the right to exercise the put option for the Trust to repurchase the land at the original selling price 

plus indexation.  The Directors of the Trust have reviewed the put option and based upon information 

available has concluded that whilst exercising the option is possible, it is not probable that access and 

planning permission will not be granted and therefore payment to repurchase the land will not be required. 

The Trust has not recognised any liability in respect of this put option as it believes the financial liability 

associated with this is £nil. 

Repayable in:

All loans are repayable to the Department of Health and Social Care. A further £10.7m of loans are planned to be 

received to fund the Trust's deficit in 2019/20. The main clause in all of these loans is that our cash balance is not 

permitted to fall below £1,000k at any time. We appply monthly for our deficit support loans and are required to submit a 

detailed 13 week cashflow in support of each loan.

Interest rates for the above loans range from 1.5% to 3.5%. The Trusts cash, loans and working capital positions are 

monitored by its Finance and Investment Committee. 

The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with Clinical Commissioning Groups, which are

financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds

obtained within its prudential borrowing limit. The Trust relies on loans from the Department of Health and

Social Care to fund its deficit and also for an element of capital expenditure. The Trust's closing loan

balances for 2018/19 were as follows:
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Note 26.2 Carrying values of financial assets

Held at amortised 

cost

Held at amortised 

cost

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Assets as per SoFP as at 31 March 2019

Receivables (excluding non financial assets) - with DHSC group bodies 49,140 49,140 49,280 49,280 

Receivables (excluding non financial assets) - with other bodies 12,007 12,007 11,679 11,679 

Other investments / financial assets - - 4,000 4,000 

Cash and cash equivalents 15,099 15,099 12,669 12,669 

Total at 31 March 2019 76,246 76,246 77,628 77,628 

Loans and 

receivables

Loans and 

receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Assets as per SoFP as at 31 March 2018

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 61,848 61,848 61,991 61,991 

Other investments / financial assets - - 4,000 4,000 

Cash and cash equivalents 8,919 8,919 7,215 7,215 

Total at 31 March 2018 70,767 70,767 73,206 73,206 

Note 26.3 Carrying values of financial liabilities

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Liabilities as per SoFP as at 31 March 2019

DHSC Loans 246,532 246,532 246,532 246,532 

Obligations under finance leases 6,921 6,921 6,921 6,921 

Other borrowings excluding finance lease and PFI liabilities 11,104 11,104 11,104 11,104 

Trade and other payables (excluding non financial liabilities) - with DHSC group 

bodies
10,825 10,825 10,825 10,825 

Trade and other payables (excluding non financial liabilities) - with other bodies 85,531 85,531 85,352 85,352 

Total at 31 March 2019 360,913 360,913 360,734 360,734 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Liabilities as per SoFP as at 31 March 2018

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 198,335 198,335 204,354 204,354 

Obligations under finance leases 10,912 10,912 10,912 10,912 

Other borrowings 6,019 6,019 - - 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 73,029 73,029 73,172 73,172 

Total at 31 March 2018 288,295 288,295 288,438 288,438 

Note 26.4 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Note 26.5 Maturity of financial liabilities

31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

In one year or less 149,488 119,749 149,309 70,290 

In more than one year but not more than two years 119,280 2,792 119,280 36,923 

In more than two years but not more than five years 56,420 125,051 56,420 66,457 

In more than five years 35,725 40,703 35,725 36,023 

Total 360,913 288,295 360,734 209,694 

Group Trust

Group Trust

Total book value

Total book value

Held at amortised 

cost
Total book value

Trust

Total book value

Total book value
Held at amortised 

cost
Total book value

Group

Book value (carrying value) is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Held at amortised 

cost

Total book value

Total book value

Held at amortised 

cost
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# Note 27 Losses and special payments

Group and trust

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Number £000 Number £000 

Losses

Cash losses - - 3 5 

Bad debts and claims abandoned 1,962 3,262 485 1,131 

Total losses 1,962 3,262 488 1,136 

Special payments

Compensation under court order or legally binding 

arbitration award
4 4 1 3 

Ex-gratia payments 133 167 130 106 

Total special payments 137 171 131 109 

Total losses and special payments 2,099 3,433 619 1,245 

2018/19 2017/18
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Note 28.1 Related parties (Group)

NHS Leicester City CCG

NHS West Leicestershire CCG

NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust

Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust

North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust

NHS England - Central Midlands Local Office 

Health Education England 

NHS Pension Scheme

NHS Resolution 

HM Revenue and Customs - VAT

HM Revenue and Customs - Other Taxes and Duties

Leicester City Council

Leicestershire County Council

Note 28.2 Related parties (Trust)

Trust Group Holdings Limited

The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) is regarded as a related party. During the year the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust

has had a significant number of material transactions with the DHSC and with other entities for which the DHSC is regarded as the parent

Department.  These entities are listed below:

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies.

Most of these transactions have been with the following organisations:

University of Leicester:

The financial statements of the parent (Trust) are presented together with the consolidated financial statements. Any transactions or balances

between the group entities have been eliminated on consolidation. Trust Group Holdings Limited does not have any transactions with the NHS or

other Government entities except those with the parent Trust and HMRC (payroll and social security taxes). The Trust's receivables includes £117k

owed by the subsidiary and the Trust's payables include £2,093k owed to the subsidiary.

During the reporting year, the Trust made payments to the University of Leicester amounting to £6,297k (2017/18 - £8,737k). The majority of these

payments relate to the provision of services to the Trust by medical staff employed by the University of Leicester, and research payments. As at

31st March 2019 a sum of £897k (2017/18 - £2,643k) is included in payables in respect of the University of Leicester. The University paid us

£5,290k (2017/18 - £4,847k) in the year, relating primarily to research work, and £1,370k (2017/18 - £1,622k) was included within receivables at

31st March 2018.

Leicester Hospitals Charity

The Trust is the Corporate Trustee for Leicester Hospitals Charity which is an independent charity registered with the Charity Commission. In

2018/19 the Trust received total asset donations of £430k (£900k in 2017/18). Full details will be included in the Charity's accounts as submitted to

the Charity Commission. 

NHS England - East Midlands Specialised Commissioning Hub

Louise Tibbert, Director of Workforce and OD, Member of the NHS Pension Board as an employer representative. The NHS Pension Scheme is 

shown below as a DHSC entity.

The Trust has outstanding loans totalling £246,531k at the 31 March 2019, issued by the Department of Health.

MATERIAL DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE ENTITIES

During the year none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, Trust Board members or members of the key management staff, or

parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust. The Leicester

Hospitals Charity is a related party of all members of the Trust Board, as the Trust Board is the Charity's corporate trustee. 

Mr K Singh, Trust Chairman, has a family member who is a Partner with Lakeside Healthcare. During the reporting year, the Trust made payments

to Lakeside Healthcare amounting to £100k.

Mr Ballu Patel, Non-Executive Director, is Chair of Leicester Hospitals Charity. Transactions with the Leicester Hospitals Charity are shown below.

Mr J Adler, Chief Executive, is an unpaid Trustee of NHS Providers. During the reporting year, the Trust made payments amounting to £23k to NHS

Providers.    

The spouse of Mr P Traynor, Chief Financial Officer, is currently an Interim Business Development Manager at LLR Alliance. During the reporting

year, the Trust  made payments amounting to £68k to LLR Alliance.

Professor Philip Baker, Non Executive Director, is the Dean of Medicine, Pro-Vice-Chancellor and Head of the College of Life Sciences, University 

of Leicester. Transactions with the University of Leicester are shown below.

Vicky Bailey, Non-Executive Director, is a council member of the University of Nottingham. During the reporting year the Trust made payments of 

£116k to the University and received payments of £34k from the University. £4k was owed to the Trust from the University at the year end. 

Eleanor Meldrum, Acting Chief Nurse is an Honorary Professor at DeMontfort University. During the reporting year the Trust payments of £54k to 

the University.
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Note 29.1 Initial application of IFRS 9

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments as interpreted and adapted by the GAM has been applied by the Trust from 1 April 2018.

The standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised as an adjustment to

reserves on 1 April 2018.

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 and introduces a revised approach to classification and measurement of financial assets and

financial liabilities, a new forward-looking 'expected loss' impairment model and a revised approach to hedge

accounting.

Under IFRS 9, borrowings from the Department of Health and Social Care, which were previously held at historic cost,

are measured on an amortised cost basis. Consequently, on 1 April 2018 borrowings increased by £587k, and trade

payables correspondingly reduced.

Reassessment of allowances for credit losses under the expected loss model resulted in a £3,753k decrease in the

carrying value of receivables.

The GAM expands the definition of a contract in the context of financial instruments to include legislation and

regulations, except where this gives rise to a tax. Implementation of this adaptation on 1 April 2018 has led to the

classifiction of receivables relating to Injury Cost Recovery as a financial asset measured at amortised cost. The

carrying value of these receivables at 1 April 2018 was £3,390k.

Note 29.2 Initial application of IFRS 15

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers as interpreted and adapted by the GAM has been applied by the

Trust from 1 April 2018. The standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial application

recognised as an adjustment to the income and expenditure reserve on 1 April 2018.

IFRS 15 introduces a new model for the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers replacing the previous

standards IAS 11, IAS 18 and related Interpretations. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue

when it satisfies performance obligations through the transfer of promised goods or services to customers at an amount

that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

As directed by the GAM, the Trust has applied the practical expedient offered in C7A of the standard removing the need

to retrospectively restate any contract modifications that occurred before the date of implementation (1 April 2018).

These changes have had no material financial impact in 2018/19.
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Note 30  Better Payment Practice Code

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18 2017/18

Number £000 Number £000 

Non-NHS Payables

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 169,613 597,569 166,500 566,455 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 65,974 395,630 48,025 356,760 

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 38.90% 66.21% 28.84% 62.98%

NHS Payables

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 5,639 129,951 5,213 124,245 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 964 76,159 807 65,156 

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 17.10% 58.61% 15.48% 52.44%

Note 31.1 External financing

The Trust is given an external financing limit against which it is permitted to underspend.

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Cash flow financing 50,045 58,082 

External financing requirement 50,045 58,082 

External financing limit (EFL) 50,944 58,082 

Under / (over) spend against EFL 899 - 

Note 31.2 Capital Resource Limit

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Gross capital expenditure 26,656 33,296 

Less: Disposals (300) (16)

Less: Donated and granted capital additions (430) (977)

Charge against Capital Resource Limit 25,926 32,303 

Capital Resource Limit 25,926 32,514 

Under / (over) spend against CRL - 211 

Note 31.3 Breakeven duty financial performance 

2018/19

£000 

Adjusted financial performance surplus / (deficit) (control total basis) (44,879)

Breakeven duty financial performance surplus / (deficit) (44,879)

The Better Payment Practice code requires the NHS body to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of 

valid invoice, whichever is later. 
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Note 32  Breakeven Duty Rolling Assessment

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Breakeven duty in-year financial 

performance
51 1,013 88 91 (39,655) (40,648) (34,051) (27,152) (34,455) (44,879)

Breakeven duty cumulative position 3,910 3,961 4,974 5,062 5,153 (34,502) (75,150) (109,201) (136,353) (170,808) (215,687)

Operating income 697,692 696,257 719,154 758,665 770,393 834,376 866,036 924,269 960,790 992,386 

Cumulative breakeven position as a 

percentage of operating income
0.6% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% -4.5% -9.0% -12.6% -14.8% -17.8% -21.7%

2018/19 2017/18

Financial performance for the year £000 £000 

Retained deficit for the year (46,451) (36,615)

Impairments (excluding IFRIC 12 impairments) 1,509 2,735 

Adjustments in respect of donated and government granted asset reserve elimination 63 (575)

Adjusted retained deficit (44,879) (34,455)

The breakeven duty in-year financial performance is not disclosed on the same basis as the figures reported in the SOCI for Retained Deficit (£43,312k). In

accordance with DHSC guidance we have disclosed the above financial performance as:

The Trust has a comprehensive medium term reconfiguration plan and is expected to achieve financial balance in 2023/24.

There are no events after the reporting date to be reported.

Note 33  Events after the reporting date
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Our priorities for 2019/20 
For 2019/20 we have created new Quality Strategy, called ‘Becoming the Best’.  Becoming the Best describes 
how we will become an ‘Outstanding’ organisation, delivering Caring at its Best to every patient, every time.  
This new Strategy is based on what has worked well in other parts of the NHS, looking at organisations who 
have been rated as ‘Outstanding’ but the Care Quality Commission. 

These organisations have five key things in common.  These are: 

 Their leadership team have an unwavering commitment to improving quality  

 They have a culture of improvement, encouraged by leaders at all levels  

 They systematically give people the skills to do improvement  

 They put patients at the centre of improvement  

 They work actively with the wider system 

Much of the strategy is about culture change so that everyone is focussed on quality improvement, using a 
consistent approach across the organisation with the right support from leaders 

This is a long-term approach, not a quick fix. But some things will be changing right away and we will all have 
many opportunities to influence what we do 

 

Our Quality Priorities and Supporting Priorities are what we will be focusing on for the coming year; the 

Quality Improvement Approach will be how we deliver those priorities, supported of course by our values. 

Our Productivity Improvement Programme for 2019/20 

We have a comprehensive three year Productivity Strategy with the aim of achieving upper quartile 
productivity (compared to peers) across all areas of the Trust to enable caring at its best for staff and 
patients.   

The strategy was based around a wide of sources including the following: 
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 NHSI Model Hospital 

 Recommendations from the Carter Programme 

 The Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) Programme 

 NHSI Theatre Efficiency Programme (using Four Eyes consultancy) 

 Our 5 year Strategy 

 Our Quality Strategy 

We have incorporated learning from previous years; this has led to the development of our formal 
productivity programme.  The outline of this programme is detailed in the diagram below: 

 
Our efficiency target 

In 2019/20 our overall efficiency target is £26.7m.  To ensure focus on the key opportunity areas, allocation 
of targets has been done using national benchmarking data (Reference Costs / Model Hospital) and a 
detailed overview of the known opportunities.  An Accountability Framework has been developed and each 
of the Heads of Department will be held accountable for delivery of their efficiency targets. 

All opportunities developed will be subject to a full Quality Impact Assessment process including the 
development of Project Initiation Documents (PID) for all schemes over £50,000.  During the year we will re-
assess any gaps in our plans and ensure that additional plans are developed to mitigate financial risk. 

In 2019/20 we will also be working more closely with colleagues across Better Care Together to deliver 
further system-wide cash releasing savings and collectively reduce the financial risk in our system.  To 
achieve this we have formed a system wide working group which will be focusing on new opportunities and 
sharing best practice.  This will involve exploring our current pathways and processes to identify new ways of 
working to improve both quality and system finances. 

 

Work streams 

We have a series of work streams and areas that we focus on each year and in 2019/20 particular focus will 
be in outpatients and theatres, as well as improving our clinical pathways in key specialties.  Each key work 
stream will have a lead and Executive sponsor who will be held to account for delivery.   
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The wider programme includes four underpinning work streams focused around data, quality improvement 
and robust financial controls.  Some of our key work streams are: 

 Benchmarking and Data: is focused on maximizing the use of the benchmarking tools available to us 
with a view to identifying and delivering on the opportunities we identify (this includes making full use 
of the Model Hospital Portal, Carter, GIRFT and PLICS data).  For example, we have so far had 18 GIRFT 
visits which is more than any other Trust in the country. 

 Theatres and Outpatients – we have been working closely with Four Eyes during 2018/19 across both 
our Theatres and Outpatients programmes.  Our targets for 19/20 incorporate £6.6m of efficiencies 
which have either already been delivered through this work or will be delivered during the year. 

 Clinical Support: during 2018/19 our colleagues in Clinical Support enabled £1.4m of schemes across 
the Trust through improvements to our length of stay and patient flow, e.g. through enhancing 
support from therapists and pharmacists.  We plan to expand on this work further in 2019/20 to 
achieve over £1.8m of efficiencies across our clinical specialties.  
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Glossary of terms 
Acute Care is specific care for diseases or illnesses that progress quickly, feature severe symptoms and have 
a brief duration. 

Acuity The measurement of the intensity of care required for a patient delivered by a registered nurse.  
There are six categories ranging from minimal care to intensive care. 

Admission the point at which a person begins an episode of care, e.g. arriving at an inpatient ward. 

Ambulatory care is medical care provided on an outpatient basis, including diagnosis, observation, 
consultation, treatment, intervention, and rehabilitation services. This care can include advanced medical 
technology and procedures even when provided outside of hospitals. 

A&E (Accident & Emergency) see Emergency Department. 

Board Assurance Framework (BAF) is a key mechanism which Trust Boards should be using to reinforce 
strategic focus and better management of risk. 

Cannulation intravenous cannulation involves putting a “tube” into a patient’s vein so that infusions can be 
inserted directly into the patient’s bloodstream. 

Care Plan a plan is a written plan that describes the care and support staff will give a service user. Service 
users should be fully involved in developing and agreeing the care plan, sign it and keep a copy. 

Care Quality Commission the organisation that make sure hospitals, care homes, dental and GP surgeries, 
and all other care services in England provide people with safe, effective, compassionate and high-quality 
care, and we encourage them to make improvements. 

Carbapenem resistant organisms are a group of germs which can live harmlessly inside the bowel and, 
except for their resistance to antibiotics, are identical to our normal gut bacteria.  Carrying them in the bowel 
is not a direct risk to patients.  They are only a danger if they cause infections.   

CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) are NHS organisations set up by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to 
organise the delivery of NHS services in England. 

CIP (Cost Improvement Programme) a Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) is the identification of schemes 
to increase efficiency/ or reduce expenditure. CIPs can include both recurrent (year on year) and non-
recurrent (one-off) savings. A CIP is not simply a scheme that saves money. The most successful CIPs are 
often those based on long-term plans to transform clinical and non-clinical services that not only result in a 
permanent cost savings, but also improve patient care, satisfaction and safety. 

Clinical Governance is a framework that ensures that NHS organisations monitor and improve the quality of 
services provided and that they are accountable for the care they provide. 

Clinical Management Groups (CMG) we have seven Clinical Management Groups: CHUGGS (Cancer, 

Haematology, Urology, Gastroenterology and General Surgery); CSI (Clinical Support and Imaging); ESM 

(Emergency and Specialist Medicine); ITAPS (Critical Care, Theatres, Anaesthesia, Pain and Sleep); MSS 

(Musculoskeletal and Specialist Surgery); RRCV (Renal, Respiratory and Cardiovascular); W&C (Women’s and 

Children’s). 

Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trust (CNST) is a scheme for assessing a Trust's arrangements to minimise 
clinical risk for service users and staff. Trusts need to pay 'insurance' which can offset the costs of legal claims 
against the Trust. Achieving CNST Levels (1, 2 or 3) shows the Trust's success in minimising clinical risk and 
reduces the premium that the Trust must pay. 

Clinician is a person who provides direct care to a patient such as a doctor, nurse, therapist, pharmacist, 
psychologist etc.) 
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Commissioner is responsible for getting the best possible health outcomes for the local population.  This 
involves assessing local needs, deciding priorities and strategies, and then buying services on behalf of the 
population from providers such as hospitals, clinics, community health bodies, etc. 

Commissioning is the process of identifying a community's social and/or health care needs and finding 
services to meet them. 

Community Care aims to provide health and social care services in the community to enable people live as 
independently as possible in their own homes or in other accommodation in the community. 

Co-morbidity is the presence of two or more disorders at the same time. For example, a person with 
depression may also have diabetes. 

CQUIN stands for commissioning for quality and innovation. The system was introduced in 2009 to make a 
proportion of healthcare providers’ income conditional on demonstrating improvements in quality and 
innovation in specified areas of patient care. This means that a proportion of our income depends on 
achieving quality improvement and innovation goals, agreed between the Trust and its commissioners. The 
key aim of the CQUIN framework is to secure improvements in the quality of services and better outcomes 
for patients, a principle fully supported at all levels of the hospital. 

Diagnosis is identifying an illness or problem by its symptoms and signs. 

Discharge is the point at which a person formally leaves services. On discharge from hospital the 
multidisciplinary team and the service user will develop a care plan (see Care plan). 

Emergency Admission when a patient admitted to hospital at short notice because of clinical need or 
because alternative care is not available. 

Emergency Department is a hospital department that assesses and treats people with serious and life-
threatening injuries and those in need of emergency treatment.  Also sometimes called A&E (Accident & 
Emergency). 

Friends and Family Test (FFT) launched in April 2013, the FFT question asks people if they would recommend 
the services they have used and offers a range of responses.  When combined with supplementary follow-up 
questions, the FFT provides a mechanism to highlight both good and poor patient experience. 

General Medical Council: The General Medical Council (GMC) works to protect patient safety and support 
medical education and practice across the UK.  They do this by working with doctors, employers, educators, 
patients and other key stakeholders in the UK's healthcare systems. 

General Practitioner (GP) is a family doctor, usually patient's first point of contact with the health service. 

GIRFT (Getting it Right First Time): Getting It Right First Time is a national programme designed to improve 
the quality of care within the NHS by reducing unwarranted variations. By tackling variations in the way 
services are delivered across the NHS, and by sharing best practice between trusts, GIRFT identifies changes 
that will help improve care and patient outcomes, as well as delivering efficiencies such as the reduction of 
unnecessary procedures and cost savings.  Importantly, GIRFT is led by frontline clinicians who are expert in 
the areas they are reviewing. 

Health Care Assistants (can also be referred to as Health Care Support Workers) are non-qualified nursing 
staff who carry out assigned tasks involving direct care in support of a registered/qualified nurse. There are 
two grades of Health Care Assistants, A and B grade. A grades would expect to be more closely supervised, 
while B grades may regularly work without supervision for all or most of their shift, or lead on A grade. 

Human Resources is a department found in most organisations that works to recruit staff, assist in their 
development (e.g. providing training) and ensure that staff work in good conditions. 

Information Management and Technology (IM&T) refers to the use of information held by the Trust, in 
particular computerised information and the department that manages those services. 
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Intermediate Care Services are services that promote independence, prevent hospital admission and/or 
enable early discharge. Intermediate care typically provides community-based alternatives to traditional 
hospital care. 

Model Hospital: The Model Hospital is a free digital tool from NHS Improvement available to all NHS provider 
trusts. It supports the NHS to provide the best patient care in the most efficient way.  It allows trusts to 
compare their productivity and identify opportunities to improve. 

Mortality means death rate.  In the NHS it is used when referring to the expected death rate for conditions 
or procedures. 

Multidisciplinary denotes an approach to care that involves more than one discipline. Typically this will mean 
that doctors, nurses, psychologists and occupational therapists are involved. 

NICE is the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, an independent organisation responsible for 
providing national guidance on the promotion of good health and the prevention and treatment of ill health. 

Non-Executive Director is a member of the Trust Board. They act a two way representative. They bring the 
experiences, views and wishes of the community and patients to the Trust Board. They also represent the 
interests of the NHS organisation to the Community. 

NHS England leads the NHS in England.  They set the priorities and direction of the NHS and encourage and 
inform the national debate to improve health and care. 

NHS Improvement is responsible for overseeing foundation trusts and NHS provider trusts, as well as 
independent providers that provide NHS-funded care.  They offer the support these providers need to give 
patients consistently safe, high quality, compassionate care within local health systems that are financially 
sustainable. By holding providers to account and, where necessary, intervening, they help the NHS to meet 
its short-term challenges and secure its future. 

Nursing and Midwifery Council:  The Nursing and Midwifery Council, NMC, make sure nurses, midwives and 
nursing associate have the skills they need to care for people safely, with integrity, expertise, respect and 
compassion, from the moment they step into their first job. 

Out of Hours (OOH) is the provision of GP services when your local surgery is closed, usually during the night, 
at weekends and Bank Holidays. 

Palliative care is an area of healthcare that focuses on relieving and preventing the suffering of patients. 

Peri-natal mortality is the number of stillbirths and deaths in the first week of life per 1,000 live births, after 
24 weeks gestation. 

Primary Care is the care will receive when you first come into contact with health services about a problem.  
These include family health services provided by GPs, dentists, pharmacists, opticians, and others such as 
community nurses, physiotherapists and some social workers. 

QIPP (Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention) In July 2010, the White Paper ‘Equity and excellence: 
Liberating the NHS’ set out the government’s vision for the future of the NHS.  The White Paper outlined the 
government’s commitment to ensuring that QIPP supports the NHS to make efficiency savings, which can be 
reinvested back into the service to continually improve quality of care.  

Risk assessment identifies aspects of a service which could lead to injury to a patient or staff member and/or 
to financial loss for an individual or Trust. 

Royal College of Nursing: The Royal College of Nursing is the world’s largest nursing union and professional 
body. 

Secondary care is specialist care, usually provided in hospital, after a referral from a GP or health 
professional. Mental Health Services are included in secondary care (see also tertiary care). 

Serious Untoward Incidents (SUI) is to describe a serious incident or event which led, or may have led, to the 
harm of patients or staff. Members of staff who were not involved in the incident investigate these and the 
lessons learned from each incident are used to improve care in the future. 
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SHMI (Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator) The Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) 
is an indicator which reports on mortality at trust level across the NHS in England using a standard and 
transparent methodology. It is produced and published quarterly as an official statistic by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) with the first publication in October 2011.  The SHMI is the ratio 
between the actual number of patients who die following hospitalisation at the trust and the number that 
would be expected to die on the basis of average England figures, given the characteristics of the patients 
treated there. 

Stakeholders are a range of people and organisations that are affected by or have an interest in, the services 
offered by an organisation.  

Tertiary Care is when a hospital consultant decides that more specialist care is needed. Mental Health 
Services are included in this (see also Secondary care). 

TTO (To-take-out) are medicines supplied by the hospital pharmacy for patients to take with them when 
they are discharged (see discharge) from hospital. 

Triage a system which sorts medical cases in order of urgency to determine how quickly patients receive 
treatment. 

Urgent Care Centre is a category of walk-in clinic focused on the delivery of ambulatory care in a dedicated 
medical facility outside of a traditional emergency department.  Urgent care centres primarily treat injuries 
or illnesses requiring immediate care, but not serious enough to require an emergency department visit.  
Urgent care centres are distinguished from similar ambulatory healthcare centres such as emergency 
departments and walk in centres by their scope of conditions treated and available facilities on-site. 

Walk-in-Centre (WiC) is a medical centre offering free and fast access to health-care advice and treatment. 
Centres provide advice and treatment for minor injuries and illnesses and guidance on how to use NHS 
services. 

Whistle-blowing is the act of informing a relevant person in an organisation of instances or services in which 
patients are at risk. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Convenient_care_clinic
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Please help us to improve the way we share information  
We would like your views on the presentation of our annual report and accounts. 

We would be very grateful if you could answer the questions below and send your response to us by 31 
December 2019.  

The answers you give will help us to ensure we present, not only the annual report, but other information in 
a way people find useful. 

1 The information we give: 

a. Have we missed anything out? Please tell us any area you would like to see covered. 

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

b. Is there any category you think we should leave out? 

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

2 Were there any areas of the annual report which you found most useful, please feel free to list and 
explain why 

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

3 What do you expect to achieve from reading this annual report? Please tick 

Gain a broad understanding  

 

 

 

 

Gain a detailed understanding  
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4 Do you have another comments or suggestions about our annual report or any of our other 
publications? 

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

 

If you would like to be notified when the 2019/20 annual report is available?  If so, please send us your email 
address 

.........................................................................................................................................................................  

 

Completed questionnaires can be sent to:  

Communications Team, University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, Medical Illustration, Level 2 Windsor 
Building, Leicester, LE1 5WW or communications@uhl-tr.nhs.uk  

 

 

mailto:communications@uhl-tr.nhs.uk


If you would like this information in another language or 
format such as EasyRead or Braille, please telephone the 
number below or email equality@uhl-tr.nhs.uk

0116 250 2959

 
 
 

 
 

 
જો તમને અન્ય ભાષામાાં આ માહિતી જોઈતી િોય, તો નીચે આપેલ નાંબર પર કૃપા કરી ટેલલફોન કરો. 
 

 

 
 
 

 على رقم الهاتف الذي يظهر في الأسفل لالمعلومات بلغةٍ أخُرى، الرجاء الاتصاهذه  في الحصول على كنت ترغب  إذا 
 

 
 
 
ਜੇ ਤੁਸੀਂ ਇਹ ਜਾਣਕਾਰੀ ਕਕਸ ੇਹਰੋ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਕਿਚ ਚਾਹੁੁੰ ਦ ੇਹ,ੋ ਤਾਂ ਕਕਰਪਾ ਕਰਕੇ ਹੇਠਾਂ ਕਦਿੱ ਤੇ ਗਏ ਨੁੰ ਬਰ ‘ਤੇ ਟੈਲੀਫਨੋ ਕਰੋ। 

 

 
 

 
 

 ہیں، تو براہِ کرم مندرجہ ذیل نمبر پر ٹیلی فون کریں۔درکار یہ معلومات کسی اور زبان میں کو اگر آپ 

 
 
Aby uzyskać informacje w innym języku, proszę zadzwonić pod podany niżej numer telefonu 
 

leicestershospitals

@Leic_hospital

leicester’shospitals

LeicesterHospitalsNHS

University Hospitals of Leicester
NHS Trust
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